ON THE EIGENVALUES OF THE ROBIN LAPLACIAN WITH A COMPLEX PARAMETER

SABINE BÖGLI, JAMES B. KENNEDY, AND ROBIN LANG

Abstract. We study the spectrum of the Robin Laplacian with a complex Robin parameter α on a bounded Lipschitz domain Ω . We start by establishing a number of properties of the corresponding operator, such as generation properties, analytic dependence of the eigenvalues and eigenspaces on $\alpha \in \mathbb{C}$, and basis properties of the eigenfunctions. Our focus, however, is on bounds and asymptotics for the eigenvalues as functions of α : we start by providing estimates on the numerical range of the associated operator, which lead to new eigenvalue bounds even in the case $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$. For the asymptotics of the eigenvalues as $\alpha \to \infty$ in \mathbb{C} , in place of the min-max characterisation of the eigenvalues and Dirichlet-Neumann bracketing techniques commonly used in the real case, we exploit the duality between the eigenvalues of the Robin Laplacian and the eigenvalues of the Dirichlet-to-Neumann map. We use this to show that along every analytic curve of eigenvalues, the Robin eigenvalues either diverge absolutely in $\mathbb C$ or converge to the Dirichlet spectrum, as well as to classify all possible points of accumulation of Robin eigenvalues for large α . We also give a comprehensive treatment of the special cases where Ω is an interval, a hyperrectangle or a ball. This leads to the conjecture that on a general smooth domain in dimension $d \ge 2$ all eigenvalues converge to the Dirichlet spectrum if $\operatorname{Re} \alpha$ remains bounded from below as $\alpha \to \infty$, while if $\operatorname{Re} \alpha \to -\infty$, then there is an infinite family of divergent eigenvalue curves, each of which behaves asymptotically like $-\alpha^2$.

Contents

1. Introduction	2
2. A motivating example: the interval	5
2.1. Convergence to the Dirichlet spectrum	6
2.2. Divergent eigenvalues away from the positive real axis	6
2.3. Divergent eigenvalues near the positive real axis	8
3. The Robin Laplacian with complex parameter	8
4. Dependence of the Robin eigenvalues and eigenfunctions on the parameter	10
4.1. A holomorphic family of operators	10
4.2. The derivative with respect to α	13
5. Basis properties of the eigenfunctions	15
6. On the numerical range	18
7. The Dirichlet-to-Neumann operator	24
8. The points of accumulation of the Robin eigenvalues	26
9. Higher-dimensional examples: the hyperrectangle and the ball	28
9.1. The interval revisited	28
9.2. Hyperrectangles	31
9.3. <i>d</i> -dimensional balls	32
References	36

Date: August 25, 2021.

Mathematics Subject Classification (2010) 35J05 (35J25 35P10 35P15 35S05 47A10 81Q12).

 $Key \ words \ and \ phrases.$ Laplacian, Robin boundary conditions, spectral theory of non-self-adjoint operators, estimates on eigenvalues.

The authors would like to thank Timo Weidl for suggesting the problem, André Froehly, Matthias Hofmann and Jens Wirth for helpful advice and suggestions, in particular regarding the use of the Dirichlet-to-Neumann operator, and a number of colleagues, in particular Marco Marletta, Hugo Tavares and Alexander Thumm, for providing valuable assistance with references to the literature on various topics. The work of the authors was supported by the Fundação para a Ciência e a Tecnologia, Portugal, via the program "Investigador FCT", reference IF/01461/2015 (J.B.K.), and project PTDC/MAT-CAL/4334/2014 (all authors). The work of Robin Lang was supported by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG) through the Research Training Group 1838: Spectral Theory and Dynamics of Quantum Systems.

Data availability statement: not applicable as there are no associated data.

1. INTRODUCTION

In recent years a large body of literature has developed around the asymptotic behaviour of the eigenvalues of the Robin Laplacian

$$-\Delta u = \lambda u \qquad \text{in } \Omega,$$

$$\frac{\partial u}{\partial u} + \alpha u = 0 \qquad \text{on } \partial\Omega,$$

(1.1)

defined on a fixed domain Ω , that is, a sufficiently smooth, bounded open set in \mathbb{R}^d , $d \geq 1$, as the parameter $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ appearing in the boundary condition tends to $\pm \infty$ (here and throughout ν denotes the *outer* unit normal to $\partial\Omega$; if d = 1, then we understand Ω to be a bounded interval). Denote these eigenvalues, which depend smoothly on α , by $\lambda_1(\alpha) \leq \lambda_2(\alpha) \leq \ldots \rightarrow \infty$, and the eigenvalues of the Dirichlet Laplacian, i.e., the solutions of

$$-\Delta u = \lambda u \qquad \text{in } \Omega, u = 0 \qquad \text{on } \partial\Omega,$$
(1.2)

by $\lambda_1 \leq \lambda_2 \leq \ldots \rightarrow \infty$. Then it is known that $\lambda_k(\alpha) \rightarrow \lambda_k$ from below as $\alpha \rightarrow +\infty$ for each $k \in \mathbb{N}$ [29, 30]. If $\alpha \rightarrow -\infty$, then the situation is more complicated: if Ω is C^1 , then $\lambda_k(\alpha) \sim -\alpha^2$ as $\alpha \rightarrow -\infty$ for each fixed $k \in \mathbb{N}$, but there are further curves of eigenvalues which converge to eigenvalues of the Dirichlet Laplacian from above [2, 19, 24, 34, 35, 47, 52]; moreover, in the last few years very precise asymptotics have been developed for the divergent eigenvalues in the case $\alpha \rightarrow -\infty$ [27, 31, 36, 44, 61]. The case of less regularity, namely when Ω has a finite number of "model corners" and the asymptotic behaviour is different, has also been extensively considered [17, 41, 42, 43, 50]. We refer to [18] for a recent summary of the problem, its history and more references.

Our principal goal is to investigate what happens when $\alpha \in \mathbb{C}$ is a large *complex* parameter; the corresponding boundary condition is often called an impedance boundary condition, where it appears frequently in the context of electromagnetic and acoustic scattering (see, e.g., [20, 21, 49]). In this case, it is easy to see that the problem (1.1) still admits a discrete spectrum, and studying this problem should give a more complete picture of the eigenvalue behaviour even in the real case. However, for $\alpha \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R}$, the Robin Laplacian obviously ceases to be self-adjoint, and thus neither the known results themselves, nor their methods of proof, which to a large extent rely on variational methods in some form, are applicable. Thus new methods and insights are required.

What is more, although there seems to be a burgeoning interest in non-self-adjoint Robin Laplacians in various contexts such as half-spaces [21, 22, 60] and scattering problems (for example [4, 20, 48, 49] among many others); waveguides (e.g., [14, 57, 58, 59]); thin layers [15, 46]; triangles [54, 64]; and metric graphs [37], to say nothing of the extensive physics literature on impedance boundary conditions (see for example the references in [21, 48, 49, 58], etc.), to date many basic spectral properties of this operator on general (bounded) domains seem not yet to have been established. Thus we also wish to give a thorough and systematic treatment of these spectral properties; our first result is as follows.

Theorem 1.1. Suppose $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$, $d \ge 1$, is a bounded Lipschitz domain. Then:

- (1) each eigenvalue has finite algebraic multiplicity and depends locally analytically on $\alpha \in \mathbb{C}$: more precisely, if $(\lambda_k(\alpha_0))_{k \in \mathbb{N}}$ is an enumeration of the eigenvalues (each repeated according to its finite algebraic multiplicity) for some $\alpha_0 \in \mathbb{R}$, then each $\lambda_k(\alpha_0)$ may be extended to a meromorphic function $\lambda_k(\alpha)$ such that for any $\alpha \in \mathbb{C}$, these eigenvalues form the spectrum of the corresponding Robin Laplacian;
- (2) away from crossing points of eigenvalues, each eigenvalue $\lambda_k(\alpha)$ and the corresponding eigenprojection are holomorphic functions of α , whereas at the crossing points the weighted eigenvalue mean and the total projection are holomorphic;
- (3) if $\lambda_k(\alpha)$ is simple with eigenfunction $\psi = \psi(\alpha)$, then $\lambda'_k(\alpha)$ is given by

$$\lambda'_k(\alpha) = \frac{\int_{\partial\Omega} \psi^2 \,\mathrm{d}\sigma(x)}{\int_{\Omega} \psi^2 \,\mathrm{d}x}$$

(where the right-hand side is to be interpreted as a holomorphic continuation in the event that the denominator is zero, as any singularities are removable);

(4) for any α ∈ C, the set of eigenfunctions and generalised eigenfunctions corresponding to the eigenvalues {λ_k(α) : k ∈ N} can be chosen to form an Abel basis of L²(Ω), of order (d − 1)/2 + δ for any δ > 0, and even a Riesz basis if d = 1;

(5) however, for any $\alpha \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R}$, the eigenfunctions can not be chosen to form an orthonormal basis of $L^2(\Omega)$.

This theorem combines statements from several theorems which we will give below, namely Theorems 3.3, 4.1, 4.8, 5.1 and 5.7, and for its proof we refer to the respective proofs of these results. As a consequence of Theorem 1.1, the question of the asymptotic behaviour of the eigenvalues is meaningful since we can speak of analytic curves of eigenvalues in the complex plane (up to crossing points).

However, our main focus is on the location of these eigenvalues in the complex plane, in particular as regards their behaviour for large α . Let us start by examining what we *expect* to happen in the general case. Based on explicit calculations on the interval (which we will perform in Section 2) and other concrete examples, we can expect that the behaviour should mirror the real case.

Conjecture 1.2. Let $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$, $d \geq 2$, be a bounded Lipschitz domain, and suppose $\alpha \in \mathbb{C}$, $|\alpha| \to \infty$.

- (1) If $\operatorname{Re} \alpha \to -\infty$, then there exists a sequence of absolutely divergent eigenvalues. Any limit point of non-divergent analytic eigenvalue curves of eigenvalues is an eigenvalue of the Dirichlet Laplacian (that is, a solution of (1.2)).
 - (i) If Ω has C^1 boundary, then each divergent eigenvalue behaves asymptotically like $-\alpha^2 + o(\alpha^2)$.
 - (ii) If Ω has Lipschitz boundary, then for any divergent analytic curve of eigenvalues $\lambda = \lambda_k(\alpha)$, there is a constant $C_{\Omega,k} \in [1, \infty)$ depending only on k from Theorem 1.1, such that $\lambda_k(\alpha) = -C_{\Omega,k}\alpha^2 + o(\alpha^2)$.
- (2) If $\operatorname{Re} \alpha$ remains bounded from below, then each eigenvalue converges to an eigenvalue of the Dirichlet Laplacian.

We repeat that most statements in Conjecture 1.2 are known for real α , although some questions are still open; in particular the asymptotics on general Lipschitz domains has not yet been settled, see [18, Open Problems 4.17 and 4.20]. Regarding the divergent eigenvalues, we emphasise that it is now possible for them to have large *positive* real part: $\operatorname{Re}(-\alpha^2) \to +\infty$ when $\alpha \to \infty$ in \mathbb{C} , if $|\operatorname{Im} \alpha|$ grows faster than $|\operatorname{Re} \alpha|$.

As mentioned above, existing techniques used in the real case are completely inapplicable to Conjecture 1.2, as they rely in an essential way either on the variational characterisation of the eigenvalues and test function arguments, as in [24, 34, 35, 47], or, what for our purposes amounts to the same thing, on Dirichlet-Neumann bracketing techniques (or equivalent) to decompose the operator, as in [27, 50, 61] etc.

Here, while we are not able to give a complete answer to Conjecture 1.2, and also leave open the question of the higher terms in the corresponding asymptotic expansions, we will make progress on two fronts. Firstly, we give sharp trace-type estimates on the boundary integral of the Robin eigenfunctions – the only term in the expression for the eigenvalues with possibly non-zero imaginary part – to control the location of the spectrum of the Robin Laplacian for fixed $\alpha \in \mathbb{C}$ inside an explicitly specified parabolic-type region of the complex plane.

Theorem 1.3. Suppose $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$, $d \geq 2$, is a bounded Lipschitz domain. Then there exist constants $C_1 \geq 2$ and $C_2 > 0$ depending only on Ω , such that for any $\alpha \in \mathbb{C}$, any corresponding eigenvalue $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ of (1.1) is contained in the set

$$\Lambda_{\Omega,\alpha} := \left\{ t + \alpha \cdot s \in \mathbb{C} : t \ge 0, \, s \in [0, C_1 \sqrt{t} + C_2] \right\}$$

in particular, we have the estimate

$$\operatorname{Re} \lambda \ge -\frac{C_1^2}{4} |\operatorname{Re} \alpha|^2 - C_2 |\operatorname{Re} \alpha|^2$$

If Ω has C^2 boundary, then we may choose $C_1 = 2$.

Actually, we will prove a slightly stronger version of this theorem, namely for the numerical range of the associated form: see Section 6 for details, including a description of the parabolic-type region $\Lambda_{\Omega,\alpha}$, and in particular Theorem 6.1 for the stronger version and its proof.

In the case of real negative α , Theorem 1.3 is already new; for general reference, we will formulate it here explicitly:

Corollary 1.4. Suppose $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$, $d \geq 2$, is a bounded Lipschitz domain. Then there exist constants $c_1 \geq 1$ and $c_2 > 0$ depending only on Ω such that for any $\alpha < 0$ and any corresponding eigenvalue $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$ we have

$$\lambda \ge -c_1 \alpha^2 - c_2 \alpha.$$

If Ω has C^2 boundary, then we may choose $c_1 = 1$.

Among other things, this essentially answers [18, Open Problem 4.17] in the affirmative (see Remark 6.2 for more details): as $\alpha \to -\infty$, for any bounded Lipschitz domain Ω , there exists a constant $c_1 = c_1(\Omega) > 0$ such that $\lambda_1(\alpha) \gtrsim -c_1\alpha^2$. To the best of our knowledge, this is also the first time a bound of the form $\lambda \geq -\alpha^2 + c_2\alpha$ has been found which is valid for all $\alpha < 0$ and general smooth domains; in this case, the constant $c_2 = c_2(\Omega)$ can be estimated explicitly in terms of the geometry of Ω and is related to the maximal mean curvature of $\partial\Omega$ (see Remark 6.8).

The other part of our approach is based on the duality between the Robin Laplacian on $L^2(\Omega)$ and Dirichlet-to-Neumann-type operators defined on $L^2(\partial\Omega)$. Suppose that some $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ is an eigenvalue of the Robin Laplacian for some given $\alpha \in \mathbb{C}$ and not in the spectrum of the Dirichlet Laplacian. Then α is an eigenvalue of the operator which maps given Dirichlet data $g \in L^2(\partial\Omega)$ to the (negative of the) outer normal derivative $-\frac{\partial u}{\partial \nu}$, if one exists, of the solution u of the Dirichlet problem

$$\begin{aligned} -\Delta u &= \lambda u & \text{in } \Omega, \\ u &= g & \text{on } \partial \Omega \end{aligned}$$
(1.3)

for this value of λ , and vice versa. The Dirichlet-to-Neumann operator is defined in such a way that $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ is an eigenvalue of the Robin Laplacian (1.1) for a given $\alpha \in \mathbb{C}$ if and only if α is an eigenvalue of the Dirichlet-to-Neumann eigenvalue for the corresponding spectral parameter λ . As such, the study of the Robin eigenvalues is equivalent to the problem of studying the dependence of the Dirichlet-to-Neumann eigenvalues α as functions of λ ; and indeed the duality between the two has been explored and exploited frequently in various other contexts such as [9, 6, 23, 32, 53], among numerous others. It turns out that it is often easier to study the behaviour of α as a function of λ than the other way round, and this is the approach we will take. It firstly allows us to give a short proof of a dichotomy result which forms part of Conjecture 1.2.

Theorem 1.5. Let $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$, $d \geq 1$, be a bounded Lipschitz domain and $\alpha \in \mathbb{C}$. As $\alpha \to \infty$ in \mathbb{C} , each analytic eigenvalue curve $\lambda = \lambda(\alpha)$ of (1.1) either converges to a point in the Dirichlet spectrum or diverges to ∞ in \mathbb{C} .

This will be proved in Section 7 (see also Theorem 2.1 for the case d = 1). In the real case, although this was expected, it does not previously seem to have been formally proved, see [18, Open Problem 4.11]; thus, Theorem 1.5 also fills this small gap in the literature in the case of real α .

Instead of looking at individual eigencurves, we can consider the asymptotic distribution of eigenvalues across all eigencurves in their entirety; more precisely, we can consider all possible points of accumulation of the Robin eigenvalues as $\alpha \to \infty$ in \mathbb{C} . Away from the negative real semi-axis, we have a stronger statement than the one of Theorem 1.5, namely that regardless of how we choose the eigenvalues, as $\alpha \to \infty$ the only points of accumulation are Dirichlet eigenvalues. If α is allowed near the negative real semi-axis, however, the situation is more complicated; it is for these values of α that the eigenvalue "crossings" accumulate.

Theorem 1.6. Let $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$, $d \geq 2$, be a bounded Lipschitz domain and $\alpha \in \mathbb{C}$.

- (1) If $\alpha \to \infty$ in \mathbb{C} in such a way that either $\operatorname{Re} \alpha$ remains bounded from below or $\left|\frac{\operatorname{Re} \alpha}{\operatorname{Im} \alpha}\right|$ remains bounded, then the only points of accumulation of the Robin Laplacian eigenvalues as $\alpha \to \infty$ are eigenvalues of the Dirichlet Laplacian.
- (2) However, any $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ is a point of accumulation of the eigenvalues of the Robin Laplacian if $\alpha \in \mathbb{C}$ is allowed to be arbitrary. More precisely, given any $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ there exist $\alpha_k \in \mathbb{C}$, $k \in \mathbb{N}$, $|\alpha_k| \to \infty$, such that λ is an eigenvalue of the Robin Laplacian with parameter α_k , for all $k \in \mathbb{N}$.

For the proof and a more detailed discussion of the statement (in particular the contrast between parts (1) and (2)), see Section 8; we refer in particular to the more precise version of (1) that is the statement of Theorem 8.2, as well as Remark 8.3.

We will also use Dirichlet-to-Neumann operators to give a detailed analysis of the asymptotic behaviour of the Robin eigenvalues in a number of concrete examples, namely the interval, rectangles and hyperrectangles, and balls in $d \ge 2$ dimensions, which support Conjecture 1.2. We expect that many of the ideas here could be carried over to more general settings. For example, the case of quantum graphs with some δ vertex conditions, that is, the Laplacian defined on a metric graph with complex Robin-type potentials at some of the vertices, can be analysed using the same ideas and will be treated in a later work. This paper is organised as follows. To motivate our results, we start out in Section 2 by sketching the case of the eigenvalues of (1.1) in the special case when Ω is a bounded interval and everything can be calculated explicitly. Divergence of the eigenvalues λ outside an arbitrarily small sector around the positive real semi-axis is shown to be possible only if $\operatorname{Re} \alpha \to -\infty$; in this case, one obtains exactly two divergent eigenvalues, which behave like $-\alpha^2$, while the rest converge to the Dirichlet spectrum. If $\operatorname{Re} \alpha$ remains bounded from below, then, at least outside such a sector, all eigenvalues are convergent (see Theorems 2.1 and 2.4, as well as Proposition 2.6).

In Section 3, we then introduce the Robin Laplacian as an operator on $L^2(\Omega)$ and establish basic spectral and generation properties such as m-sectoriality. Section 4 is devoted to the holomorphic dependence of the eigenvalues and eigenfunctions on α (Theorem 4.1 and Remark 4.2) based on Kato's theory, the question of the possible existence of eigennilpotents at eigenvalue crossing points (Remarks 4.5 and 4.6) as well as the proof of the formula for the derivative of a simple eigenvalue (Theorem 4.8). In Section 5 we treat the failure of the eigenfunctions to form an orthonormal basis in L^2 (Theorem 5.1), as well as the positive result that they at least form an Abel basis (Theorem 5.7). Theorem 1.1 follows immediately from the results in Sections 4 and 5 (plus elementary properties of the operator given in Section 3). The bounds on the region in \mathbb{C} in which eigenvalues can be found are in Section 6; in particular, we give the statement and proof of our main Theorem 6.1, which in particular implies Theorem 1.3 and hence also Corollary 1.4.

In Section 7, we introduce and prove a few basic properties of the Dirichlet-to-Neumann operator, including the "duality" between the Robin and Dirichlet-to-Neumann eigenvalue problems, which is well known in the real case; we also give the proof of Theorem 1.5. We then use the Dirichlet-to-Neumann operator among other tools to prove Theorem 1.6 on the points of accumulation of the Robin eigenvalues in Section 8. Finally, in Section 9, we give three concrete examples: we start with the interval, where we furnish a number of technical details omitted from the exposition in Section 2, including a consideration of the relation between the eigenvalues diverging near the positive real semi-axis and the parameter α . We then use our results on the interval to deal with *d*-dimensional rectangles (hyperrectangles), see Theorem 9.3, and finally, we treat *d*-dimensional balls in Section 9.3, see in particular Theorems 9.8 and 9.9. In these examples we also pay attention to the error estimates appearing in the asymptotic expansions.

Remark 1.7. Some of our results are valid in essentially the same form if α is allowed to be variable, that is, a complex-valued function $\alpha \in L^{\infty}(\partial\Omega, \mathbb{C})$, in place of a constant $\alpha \in \mathbb{C}$. This is especially true of the basic operator-theoretic properties collected in Section 3 (see Remark 3.5), as well as our estimates on the numerical range (see Remark 6.9), since these are all based on trace-type estimates which continue to hold for $\alpha \in L^{\infty}(\partial\Omega, \mathbb{C})$. However, in most other cases it introduces significant complications and many results are unlikely to hold in the same form (as for example with the Dirichlet-to-Neumann operator, or see also Remark 4.6). Since for our main problem, namely the asymptotic behaviour of the eigenvalues for large α , it is customary and of most interested to treat α as a (real or in this case complex) parameter, we will not consider the case of variable α beyond the aforementioned remarks.

2. A motivating example: the interval

To gain insight into what to expect in general, we start by looking at the case of intervals, where everything can be computed explicitly. We start by fixing a > 0 and consider the interval $\Omega = (-a, a) \subset \mathbb{R}$ of length 2a. Here we will present a slightly abridged version; the (somewhat tedious) details of the calculations are given in Section 9.1. In one dimension, our problem becomes

$$-\Delta u = -u'' = \lambda u \qquad \text{on } (-a, a),$$

$$-u'(-a) + \alpha u(-a) = 0,$$

$$u'(a) + \alpha u(a) = 0$$
(2.1)

for given $\alpha \in \mathbb{C}$ (where the sign in front of $u'(\pm a)$ corresponds to the outer normal derivative at $\pm a$). We will study this problem with the help of the inhomogeneous Dirichlet problem

$$-u'' = \lambda u \qquad \text{on } (-a, a),$$

$$u(-a) = g_1,$$

$$u(+a) = g_2,$$

(2.2)

for given Dirichlet data $g := (g_1, g_2)^T \in \mathbb{C}^2$ and $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$. A number λ solving (2.2) for given g is an eigenvalue of the Laplacian with complex Robin boundary conditions (2.1) if and only if there is a solution u of (2.2) such that $u'(-a) = \alpha g_1$ and $-u'(a) = \alpha g_2$. Let us write $M(\lambda)$ for the mapping which takes $(g_1, g_2)^T$ to $(u'(-a), -u'(a))^T$, that is, $M(\lambda) \in \mathbb{C}^{2 \times 2}$ is the *Dirichlet-to-Neumann operator* (matrix) mapping given Dirichlet data to the associated Neumann data of the corresponding λ -harmonic function u, which we study in more detail in Section 7. Thus a Robin eigenvalue λ for given α corresponds to an eigenvalue α of the equation

$$M(\lambda)g = \alpha g = \alpha (g_1, g_2)^T \tag{2.3}$$

for given λ . In anticipation of our later strategy, to study the behaviour of the Robin eigenvalues, we will in fact study the eigenvalues α of the matrix $M(\lambda)$. To this end, starting with the general solution of (2.2) given by

$$u(x) = C_{+}\cos(\sqrt{\lambda}x) + C_{-}\sin(\sqrt{\lambda}x), \qquad (2.4)$$

whose coefficients C_+ and C_- depend on $a, \sqrt{\lambda}$, and g, it is not difficult to derive the representation

$$M(\lambda) = \sqrt{\lambda} \begin{pmatrix} -\cot 2\sqrt{\lambda}a & \csc 2\sqrt{\lambda}a \\ \csc 2\sqrt{\lambda}a & -\cot 2\sqrt{\lambda}a \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (2.5)

We see that this matrix is well defined, and has two eigenvalues, except at the singularities of cot and csc. These correspond exactly to the values $\pi^2 j^2/(4a^2)$, $j \in \mathbb{Z}$, of λ , that is, the eigenvalues of the Dirichlet Laplacian on (-a, a) together with 0, which is a double eigenvalue. From this representation we can also deduce that the eigenvalues

$$\alpha_{\pm} = \sqrt{\lambda} \left(\pm \csc(2a\sqrt{\lambda}) - \cot(2a\sqrt{\lambda}) \right)$$
(2.6)

of (2.3) depend analytically on $\lambda \neq \pi^2 j^2/(4a^2)$. Moreover, apart from the crossing at $\lambda = 0$, the two curves α_{\pm} described by (2.6) have no points of intersection; and their respective derivatives $d\alpha_{\pm}/d\lambda$ never vanish. Hence, away from this one crossing, the eigenvalues $\lambda = \lambda(\alpha)$ of (2.1) are simple and depend analytically on $\alpha \in \mathbb{C}$. A more general version of this will be discussed in Section 4. At any rate, for this reason, whenever we speak of divergent or convergent eigenvalues $\lambda(\alpha)$ as $\alpha \to \infty$ in \mathbb{C} , we have a family of (in general meromorphic, here even analytic) functions and are considering the asymptotic behaviour of each of these.

Moreover, to establish what types of behaviour of $\lambda(\alpha)$ are possible as $\alpha \to \infty$, we may equally ask what conditions on λ guarantee that the eigenvalues α of the matrix $M(\lambda)$ diverge. To this end, we classify the different situations in which this can happen as follows:

- (1) $\sqrt{\lambda}$ approaches a pole of cot or csc, which represent the Dirichlet eigenvalues. In this case, as $\alpha \to \infty$ the Robin eigenvalue λ converges to a Dirichlet eigenvalue;
- (2) λ diverges to ∞ in \mathbb{C} away from the positive real axis, where the poles of cot and csc are located. In this case, as we shall see, both eigenvalues of $M(\lambda)$ diverge as $\pm i\sqrt{\lambda}$, corresponding to two divergent Robin eigenvalues $\lambda \sim -\alpha^2$;
- (3) λ diverges to ∞ but remains within a finite distance of the real axis. While it is clear that the eigenvalues of $M(\lambda)$ must also diverge in this case, the relationship between α and λ appears to be more complicated owing to the proximity of $\sqrt{\lambda}$ to the poles of $M(\lambda)$.

Let us examine each situation a little more closely.

2.1. Convergence to the Dirichlet spectrum. Consider the behaviour of the eigenvalues $\alpha(\lambda)$ of $M(\lambda)$ as $\sqrt{\lambda}$ approaches a singularity of cot or csc, that is, λ approaches an eigenvalue of the Dirichlet Laplacian: this is the only case in which α may diverge while λ remains bounded. Inverting this statement by writing λ as a function of α leads to the following theorem, whose proof will be given in Section 9.1; see also Theorem 1.6.

Theorem 2.1. Suppose the analytic eigencurve $\lambda = \lambda(\alpha)$ remains bounded as $\alpha \to \infty$ in \mathbb{C} . Then it converges to some eigenvalue of the Dirichlet Laplacian, that is, there exists some $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ such that

$$\lambda(\alpha) \to \frac{\pi^2 j^2}{4a^2}$$

as $\alpha \to \infty$.

2.2. Divergent eigenvalues away from the positive real axis. Suppose now that $\lambda \to \infty$ in \mathbb{C} in such a way that its distance to the positive real axis diverges. For simplicity, we will actually suppose that λ diverges in a sector away from the positive real axis; more precisely, we start by dividing the complex plane in the following fashion:

Definition 2.2. (1) Let $0 < \theta < \pi/2$ be an (arbitrarily small) angle and define the open sectors

$$S_{\theta}^{+} := \{ z \in \mathbb{C} : \theta < \arg z < \pi - \theta \} \quad \text{and} \quad T_{\theta}^{+} := \{ z \in \mathbb{C} : |\arg z| < \theta \}$$
(2.7)

in the upper and right-hand half-planes, respectively (here we assume that the principal argument is always between $-\pi$ and π). We then define $S_{\theta}^{-} := -S_{\theta}^{+}$ and $T_{\theta}^{-} := -T_{\theta}^{+}$ to be the corresponding sectors reflected in the real and imaginary axes, respectively, so that the complex plane is, up to two straight lines mutually crossing in z = 0, symmetrically partitioned into four sectors; see Figure 2.1.

(2) If $\theta = \pi/2$, the sectors S_{θ}^{\pm} vanish and T_{θ}^{\pm} are defined as in (2.7). Furthermore, if $\pi/2 < \theta' < \pi$, we set define $T_{\theta'}^{+}$ by (2.7), that is, a partition of the complex plane in two sectors $T_{\theta'}^+$ and $T_{\pi-\theta'}^-$



FIGURE 2.1. The four sectors S^{\pm}_{θ} and T^{\pm}_{θ} .

We then make the following assumption.

Assumption 2.3. We suppose that λ diverges in the sector $\mathbb{C} \setminus T_{2\theta}^+$ for some small $\theta \in (0, \pi/2)$.

This ensures that λ does not approach any eigenvalue $\lambda_j \in \sigma(-\Delta_{\Omega}^D) \subset \mathbb{R}$ of the Dirichlet Laplacian; moreover, the assumption is equivalent to $\sqrt{\lambda}$ diverging to ∞ in one of the sectors S_{θ}^{\pm} .

But this implies in particular that $\operatorname{Im} \sqrt{\lambda} \to \pm \infty$, and for such $\sqrt{\lambda}$ we can determine the asymptotic behaviour of the Dirichlet-to-Neumann matrix (2.5), based on

$$\cot z = i \left(1 + \frac{2}{e^{2iz} - 1} \right) = \mp i + \mathcal{O} \left(e^{\mp 4 \operatorname{Im} z} \right)$$
(2.8)

and

$$\csc z = \frac{2\mathrm{i}}{\mathrm{e}^{\mathrm{i}z} - \mathrm{e}^{-\mathrm{i}z}} = \mathcal{O}\left(\mathrm{e}^{\pm 2\mathrm{Im}\,z}\right) \tag{2.9}$$

as Im $z \to \pm \infty$, independently of Re z. Indeed, Assumption 2.3 allows us to choose $z = a\sqrt{\lambda}$, which leads to

$$M(\lambda) = i\sqrt{\lambda} \begin{pmatrix} \pm 1 & 0\\ 0 & \pm 1 \end{pmatrix} + \mathcal{O}\left(\sqrt{\lambda}e^{\pm 2a\operatorname{Im}\sqrt{\lambda}}\right).$$
(2.10)

Recalling (2.3), in each of the cases Im $\sqrt{\lambda} \to +\infty$ and Im $\sqrt{\lambda} \to -\infty$ we obtain the respective existence of exactly one diverging eigenvalue behaving like $\alpha = \alpha(\lambda)$, whose square satisfies the behaviour

$$\alpha^2 = -\lambda + \mathcal{O}\left(\lambda \mathrm{e}^{\pm 2a\mathrm{Im}\sqrt{\lambda}}\right) \tag{2.11}$$

as Im $\sqrt{\lambda} \to \pm \infty$. Inverting the equation from $\alpha(\lambda)$ to $\lambda(\alpha)$ and noting that these eigenvalues always correspond to Re $\alpha \to -\infty$ (more precisely, we want $\alpha \to \infty$ in the left half-plane away from the imaginary axis, in order to guarantee that $-\alpha^2$ remains away from the positive real axis), we arrive at the following result.

Theorem 2.4. For the interval $\Omega = (-a, a)$, if $\alpha \to \infty$ in a sector of the form T_{φ}^{-} for any $\varphi \in (0, \pi/2)$ (see Definition 2.2), then for any $\theta \in (0, \pi - 2\varphi)$ there are exactly two divergent eigenvalues of the Robin Laplacian in the sector $\mathbb{C} \setminus T_{\theta}^+$; these satisfy the asymptotics

$$\lambda(\alpha) = -\alpha^2 + \mathcal{O}\left(\alpha^2 \mathrm{e}^{2a\operatorname{Re}\alpha}\right) \tag{2.12}$$

as $\alpha \to \infty$ in T_{φ}^{-} . If $\alpha \to \infty$ in such a way that $\operatorname{Re} \alpha$ remains bounded from below, then the Robin Laplacian has no divergent eigenvalues in $\mathbb{C} \setminus T_{\theta}^{+}$, for any $\theta > 0$.

A special case and immediate implication of the latter theorem is α diverging on any ray (half-line) in the left half-plane and thus in a sector T_{φ}^{-} for some given $\varphi \in (0, \pi/2)$: we suppose α may be written as a function $\alpha : (0, \infty) \ni t \mapsto t e^{i\vartheta} \in \mathbb{C}$ for some fixed $\pi/2 < \vartheta < 3\pi/2$, which in particular means that $\alpha(t) \in T_{\varphi}^{-}$ for all t > 0.

Corollary 2.5. For the interval $\Omega = (-a, a)$, if $\alpha(t) = te^{i\vartheta} \to \infty$ for any fixed $\pi/2 < \vartheta < 3\pi/2$, then for any $\theta \in (0, \pi - 2\vartheta)$, for sufficiently large t > 0 there are exactly two eigenvalues λ of the Robin Laplacian in the sector $\mathbb{C} \setminus T_{\theta}^+$, and these both satisfy the asymptotics

$$\lambda(\alpha(t)) = -t^2 e^{2i\vartheta} + \mathcal{O}\left(t^2 e^{2\cos(\vartheta)at}\right)$$
(2.13)

as $t \to \infty$.

For full details and a proof of the theorem we refer to Section 9.1. The eigenvalue behaviour described in Theorems 2.1 and 2.4, and our approach taken here, should be compared with the corresponding case of real α discussed in [18, Section 4.3.1].

2.3. Divergent eigenvalues near the positive real axis. The other possibility is that $\lambda \to \infty$ inside a sector of the form $T_{2\theta}^+$, equivalently, that $\sqrt{\lambda} \to \infty$ in one of the sectors T_{θ}^{\pm} . While it is clear that the corresponding eigenvalues α of $M(\lambda)$ must diverge, equivalently, that the divergent eigenvalues $\lambda(\alpha)$ in this sector correspond to divergent α , the situation is complicated by the proximity of $\sqrt{\lambda}$ to the poles of cot and csc. In such cases, we can expect $\operatorname{Im} \alpha \to \pm \infty$, consistent with the asymptotics $\lambda \sim -\alpha^2$. However, in general any particular λ -curve such that λ diverges along a path within a strip of fixed width around the positive real axis, the corresponding eigenvalues $\alpha(\lambda)$ of $M(\lambda)$ satisfy $|\operatorname{Im} \alpha(\lambda)| \to \infty$ and $\operatorname{Re} \alpha(\lambda)$ oscillates and diverges indefinitely:

Proposition 2.6. Suppose λ diverges along a path within a strip of fixed width around the positive real axis. Then the corresponding eigenvalues $\alpha(\lambda)$ of $M(\lambda)$ satisfy $|\text{Im } \alpha(\lambda)| \to \infty$ and $\text{Re } \alpha(\lambda)$ oscillates and diverges indefinitely.

For the proof, see again Section 9.1. Among other things, this intimates, when combined with the proof of Theorem 2.4, that the Robin Laplacian can only have divergent eigenvalues in the regime Re $\alpha \to -\infty$ (indeed, if Re α remains bounded from below, then the conjecture rules out divergent eigenvalues λ such that Im $\sqrt{\lambda}$ remains bounded); while by Theorem 2.4 and its proof there can be no divergent eigenvalues λ such that Im $\sqrt{\lambda} \to \pm\infty$. This observation, in particular, supports Conjecture 1.2.

A more complete description of the relationship between λ and α in this case will however be deferred to a later work.

3. The Robin Laplacian with complex parameter

In this section we will collect a number of basic properties of the Robin Laplacian. We will be using the framework of Kato [40, Chapter V and VII], and we start by recalling some definitions from there.

We assume throughout that H is a Hilbert space with inner product (\cdot, \cdot) and norm $\|\cdot\|_H$, \mathcal{A} : $D(\mathcal{A}) \subset H \to H$ is a closed, densely defined linear operator with spectrum $\sigma(\mathcal{A}) \subset \mathbb{C}$, point spectrum (set of eigenvalues) $\sigma_p(\mathcal{A})$ and resolvent set $\varrho(\mathcal{A}) = \mathbb{C} \setminus \sigma(\mathcal{A})$, and $a: D(a) \times D(a) \subset H \times H \to \mathbb{C}$ is a densely defined sesquilinear form. We call the set

$$W(\mathcal{A}) := \{ (\mathcal{A}u, u) : u \in D(\mathcal{A}) \text{ and } \|u\|_H = 1 \} \subset \mathbb{C}$$

$$(3.1)$$

the numerical range of \mathcal{A} and, likewise, the set

$$W(a) := \{a[u, u] : u \in D(a) \text{ and } \|u\|_{H} = 1\} \subset \mathbb{C}$$
(3.2)

the numerical range of a. If \mathcal{A} is the operator associated with a, that is, if \mathcal{A} is defined by

$$D(\mathcal{A}) = \{ u \in D(a) : \exists h \in H \text{ such that } a[u, v] = (h, v) \ \forall v \in D(a) \},\$$
$$\mathcal{A}u = h,$$

then it follows immediately from the definitions that $\sigma_p(\mathcal{A}) \subset W(\mathcal{A}) \subset W(a)$.

Finally, we call \mathcal{A} m-sectorial (of semi-angle θ) if there exist a vertex $\gamma \in \mathbb{R}$ and an angle $0 \le \theta < \pi/2$ such that

$$W(\mathcal{A}) \subset \{ z \in \mathbb{C} : |\arg(z - \gamma)| \le \theta \}$$
(3.3)

(where, again, the principal argument of a complex number is taken to be between $-\pi$ and π) and for all $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ with $\operatorname{Re} \lambda < \gamma$ we have that $\lambda \in \varrho(\mathcal{A})$ satisfies the resolvent norm estimate

$$\|(\mathcal{A} - \lambda I)^{-1}\|_{H \to H} \le \frac{1}{|\gamma - \operatorname{Re} \lambda|}$$

The form a is likewise called *sectorial* (of semi-angle θ) if (3.3) holds for W(a).

Now let $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$, $d \geq 1$, be a bounded domain, that is, a bounded open set with a finite number of connected components, and (if $d \geq 2$) assume that its boundary $\partial \Omega$ is locally the graph of a Lipschitz function, for short Lipschitz. For $\alpha \in \mathbb{C}$ we define the sesquilinear form $a_{\alpha} : H^1(\Omega) \times H^1(\Omega) \to \mathbb{C}$ by

$$a_{\alpha}[u,v] = \int_{\Omega} \nabla u \cdot \overline{\nabla v} \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_{\partial \Omega} \alpha u \overline{v} \, \mathrm{d}\sigma(x), \qquad (3.4)$$

where the boundary integral is to be understood in the sense of traces, as is customary; more precisely, we have written u and \overline{v} as shorthand for the traces tr $u, \operatorname{tr} v \in L^2(\partial\Omega)$ of the functions $u, v \in H^1(\Omega)$, respectively (see, e.g., [6, Section 1] and also Lemma 3.2 below). We will refer to the form a_{α} as the *Robin form* (for the parameter α) and call the operator on $L^2(\Omega)$ associated with a_{α} the *Robin Laplacian*, denoted by $-\Delta_{\Omega}^{\alpha}$. The arguments of, e.g., [9, Section 2] or [62, Section 1] for real α may be repeated verbatim here to show that this operator is given by

$$D(-\Delta_{\Omega}^{\alpha}) = \left\{ u \in H^{1}(\Omega) : \Delta u \in L^{2}(\Omega) \text{ and } \frac{\partial u}{\partial \nu} \in L^{2}(\partial\Omega) \text{ with } \frac{\partial u}{\partial \nu} + \alpha u = 0 \right\},\$$
$$-\Delta_{\Omega}^{\alpha}u = -\Delta u,$$

where $\Delta u = \sum_{i=1}^{d} \frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial x_i^2}$ is the distributional Laplacian and $\frac{\partial u}{\partial \nu}$ is the outer normal derivative of u, that is, the function $\frac{\partial u}{\partial \nu} =: h$ such that

$$\int_{\Omega} \nabla u \cdot \overline{\nabla v} + \Delta u \overline{v} \, \mathrm{d}x = \int_{\partial \Omega} h \overline{v} \, \mathrm{d}\sigma \tag{3.5}$$

for all $v \in H^1(\Omega)$. One may show that any $u \in H^1(\Omega)$ with $\Delta u \in L^2(\Omega)$ has an outer normal derivative in $L^2(\partial\Omega)$ in the sense of (3.5). For more details on this approach to the Robin Laplacian (for real α), we again refer to [9, Section 2] or [62, Section 1]. If $\alpha = 0$, then we write $-\Delta_{\Omega}^N$ in place of $-\Delta_{\Omega}^0$ for the operator associated with the form a_0 , which we call the *Neumann Laplacian*, and if a_0 is restricted to $H_0^1(\Omega) \times H_0^1(\Omega)$, then we call the associated operator the *Dirichlet Laplacian*, which we denote by $-\Delta_{\Omega}^D$:

$$D(-\Delta_{\Omega}^{D}) = \left\{ u \in H_{0}^{1}(\Omega) : \Delta u \in L^{2}(\Omega) \right\},\-\Delta_{\Omega}^{D}u = -\Delta u.$$

The following theorem is well known.

Theorem 3.1. Let $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$, $d \geq 1$, be a bounded Lipschitz domain. The operators $-\Delta_{\Omega}^D$ and $-\Delta_{\Omega}^N$ are self-adjoint and semi-bounded from below in $L^2(\Omega)$. Their spectra $\sigma(-\Delta_{\Omega}^D) \subset (0,\infty)$, $\sigma(-\Delta_{\Omega}^N) \subset [0,\infty)$ are discrete, consisting only of eigenvalues of finite multiplicity, whose algebraic and geometric multiplicities always coincide, and with $+\infty$ as their only point of accumulation.

We now turn to the Robin Laplacian. The following lemma is key to establishing its properties.

Lemma 3.2. Let $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$, $d \ge 1$, be a bounded Lipschitz domain and $\alpha \in \mathbb{C}$. The Robin form given by (3.4) is bounded in $H^1(\Omega)$ and sectorial of semi-angle θ for any $0 < \theta < \pi/2$.

Proof. By the trace theorem, a_{α} is well defined, bounded on $H^{1}(\Omega) \times H^{1}(\Omega)$ and sectorial.

The following theorem now follows from Kato's first representation theorem [40, Theorem VI.2.1], the subsequent corollary [40, Corollary VI.2.3] and [40, Theorem VII.4.2], plus the fact that the form domain $H^1(\Omega)$ is densely and compactly embedded in $L^2(\Omega)$ since Ω is a bounded Lipschitz domain.

Theorem 3.3. Let $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$, $d \geq 1$, be a bounded Lipschitz domain and $\alpha \in \mathbb{C}$. The operator $-\Delta_{\Omega}^{\alpha}$ is:

- (1) semi-bounded from below in $L^2(\Omega)$,
- (2) locally uniformly (in $\alpha \in \mathbb{C}$) *m*-sectorial of semi-angle θ for any $0 < \theta < \pi/2$,
- (3) densely defined on $L^2(\Omega)$ and $H^1(\Omega)$, and
- (4) its spectrum $\sigma(-\Delta_{\Omega}^{\alpha})$ is discrete, consisting of eigenvalues of finite algebraic multiplicity, with their only point of accumulation being $\infty \in \overline{\mathbb{C}}$.

Moreover, $-\Delta_{\Omega}^{\alpha}$ is self-adjoint if and only if $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$. Finally, for any given $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$, its eigenfunctions may be chosen to form an orthonormal basis of $L^{2}(\Omega)$.

For future reference, we state explicitly the weak form of the eigenvalue equation: λ is an eigenvalue of the operator $-\Delta_{\Omega}^{\alpha}$, with eigenfunction ψ , if and only if

$$a_{\alpha}[\psi, v] = \int_{\Omega} \nabla \psi \cdot \overline{\nabla v} \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_{\partial \Omega} \alpha \psi \, \overline{v} \, \mathrm{d}\sigma(x) = \lambda \int_{\Omega} \psi \, \overline{v} \, \mathrm{d}x \qquad \text{for all } v \in H^{1}(\Omega).$$
(3.6)

We also briefly state for the record a result on the well-posedness of the associated parabolic equation. We will not need this here, so we do not go into any details.

Theorem 3.4. Let $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$, $d \geq 1$, be a bounded Lipschitz domain and $\alpha \in \mathbb{C}$. The operator Δ_{Ω}^{α} generates a holomorphic C_0 -semigroup of operators of semi-angle θ , for any $0 < \theta < \pi/2$.

For more on holomorphic semigroups, including their definition, see [8, Chapter 3].

Proof. This follows immediately from the resolvent estimate contained in the m-sectoriality assertion of Theorem 3.3, combined with Proposition 3.7.4 and Theorem 3.7.11 of [8]. \Box

Finally, we briefly summarise what happens if α is allowed to be a function instead of a constant.

Remark 3.5. If $\alpha \in L^{\infty}(\partial\Omega, \mathbb{C})$, then the form a_{α} may be defined in the same way and maintains its properties (in particular Lemma 3.2) due to the continued validity of the trace theorem and hence the estimate

$$\left| \int_{\partial\Omega} \alpha |u|^2 \,\mathrm{d}\sigma(x) \right| \le \|\alpha\|_{L^{\infty}(\partial\Omega)} \|u\|_{L^2(\partial\Omega)}^2 \le \varepsilon \|\nabla u\|_{L^2(\Omega)}^2 + C(\varepsilon, \|\alpha\|_{L^{\infty}(\partial\Omega)}) \|u\|_{L^2(\Omega)}^2. \tag{3.7}$$

It follows that Theorem 3.3 holds with the obvious modifications that $-\Delta_{\Omega}^{\alpha}$ is self-adjoint if and only if $\alpha(x) \in \mathbb{R}$ for all $x \in \partial\Omega$, and that the local uniform sectoriality depends only on $\|\alpha\|_{L^{\infty}(\partial\Omega)}$, since for given semi-angle θ the vertex in the sectoriality estimate can be chosen in dependence only on the estimate given in (3.7). Theorem 3.4 then holds verbatim.

4. Dependence of the Robin eigenvalues and eigenfunctions on the parameter

In this section we wish to study the dependence of the eigenvalues of $-\Delta_{\Omega}^{\alpha}$, and the corresponding eigenprojections, on the parameter $\alpha \in \mathbb{C}$, for a fixed domain Ω . We do this in two parts: firstly, we apply Kato's theory of *holomorphic families of operators* to show that there is a family of eigencurves (as functions of $\alpha \in \mathbb{C}$), each of them analytic apart from at potential crossing points, which describe the totality of the spectrum for any fixed α , and that the eigenprojections as operators on $L^2(\Omega)$ likewise depend analytically on α , except at the crossing points. However, here caution is recommended: the *normalised* eigenfunctions themselves do not change analytically: see Theorem 4.4. Then, in Section 4.2, we obtain a formula for the derivative of an eigencurve with respect to α , at any point where the corresponding eigenprojection is one-dimensional (i.e., the eigenvalue is simple).

4.1. A holomorphic family of operators. As mentioned, we will start by applying Kato's theory, see [40, Chapter VII], to study the behaviour of the eigenvalues and eigenprojections of the Robin Laplacians $-\Delta_{\Omega}^{\alpha}$ in dependence on the parameter $\alpha \in \mathbb{C}$ (where, as before, $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$, $d \geq 1$, is a fixed bounded, Lipschitz domain); to emphasise this dependence and for ease of notation, in this section we will write

$$\mathcal{A}(\alpha) := -\Delta_{\Omega}^{\alpha}.\tag{4.1}$$

We first recall some more theory. For an isolated eigenvalue λ of a linear operator \mathcal{A} on a Hilbert space H, its eigenprojection Q_{λ} is defined as follows (see [40, Section III.6.5]). Take a closed curve $\Gamma_{\lambda} \subset \rho(\mathcal{A})$ enclosing λ but no other point of $\sigma(\mathcal{A})$ and define

$$Q_{\lambda} = -\frac{1}{2\pi i} \oint_{\Gamma_{\lambda}} (\mathcal{A} - zI)^{-1} dz.$$
(4.2)

Then Q_{λ} , which is independent of the choice of Γ_{λ} , is a projection onto the algebraic eigenspace of λ in H.

Theorem 4.1. Let $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$, $d \geq 1$, be a bounded, Lipschitz domain and let $\mathcal{A}(\alpha)$, $\alpha \in \mathbb{C}$, be given by (4.1).

(1) The operator family $\mathcal{A}(\alpha)$, $\alpha \in \mathbb{C}$, is holomorphic and even self-adjoint holomorphic, i.e. $\mathcal{A}(\alpha)^* = \mathcal{A}(\overline{\alpha})$.

(2) Each eigenvalue $\lambda_k(\alpha)$ can be extended to a meromorphic function with at most algebraic singularities at non-real crossing points of eigenvalues, and there are only finitely many eigenvalue curves meeting at locally finitely many crossing points. The same is true of the corresponding eigenprojections Q_{λ} and eigennilpotents $(\mathcal{A}(\alpha) - \lambda(\alpha))Q_{\lambda(\alpha)}$.

Remark 4.2. If two different eigenvalue curves $\lambda_1(\alpha)$ and $\lambda_2(\alpha)$ meet at λ for $\alpha = \alpha_0$, i.e. $\lambda = \lambda_1(\alpha_0) = \lambda_2(\alpha_0)$, the corresponding separating curves $\Gamma_{\lambda_1(\alpha)}$, $\Gamma_{\lambda_2(\alpha)}$ in (4.2) do not exist in the limit $\alpha \to \alpha_0$. However, the holomorphic continuation of the total projection $\hat{Q}_{\lambda}(\alpha) := Q_{\lambda_1(\alpha)} + Q_{\lambda_2(\alpha)}$ exists in α_0 and is equal to the eigenprojection for λ of $\mathcal{A}(\alpha_0)$. In addition, by [40, Sections VII.4.5, II.2], the weighted eigenvalue mean $\hat{\lambda}(\alpha) := \frac{1}{m}(m_1\lambda_1(\alpha) + m_2\lambda_2(\alpha))$ (with m_j denoting the respective algebraic multiplicities, which are locally constant, and $m = m_1 + m_2$ the multiplicity at α_0) is holomorphic in α_0 .

Remark 4.3. Theorem 4.1 proves in particular parts (1) and (2) of Theorem 1.1. Let us briefly explain in particular how we obtain the fact that the extensions of the eigenvalues $\lambda_k(\alpha_0)$ for given $\alpha_0 \in \mathbb{R}$ exhaust the spectrum for any $\alpha \in \mathbb{C}$. Indeed, if there were some $\alpha \in \mathbb{C}$ and an eigenvalue $\lambda(\alpha)$ which did not lie on any of the eigencurves $\lambda_k(\alpha)$, then $\lambda(\alpha)$ could itself be extended to an analytic eigenvalue curve on \mathbb{C} by Theorem 4.1(2), and in particular we would have an eigenvalue $\lambda(\alpha_0)$ not included among the the $\lambda_k(\alpha_0)$, a contradiction to the assumption that $(\lambda_k(\alpha_0))_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$ (counting multiplicities) is the totality of the spectrum at α_0 .

Proof of Theorem 4.1. (1) By [40, Theorem VII.4.2], $\mathcal{A}(\alpha)$, $\alpha \in \mathbb{C}$, is a holomorphic family of operators, and by [40, Remark VII.4.7], it is a self-adjoint holomorphic family. (2) Then it follows from [40, Theorem VII.1.8] that the eigenvalues and eigenprojections depend (locally) holomorphically on α , and hence so do the eigennilpotents. Since the operator family is self-adjoint holomorphic, there are no singularities at real crossing points of eigenvalues, see [40, Section VII.3.1]. The finiteness of the number of eigenvalue curves meeting at a crossing point, and of the local number of crossing points, follows from $\mathcal{A}(\alpha)$ having compact resolvent and from the holomorphy of the eigenvalue curves. More precisely, since the total projection (see Remark 4.2) is locally holomorphic, [40, Problem III.3.21] implies that the dimension of its range is locally constant and thus finite. This also implies that if there were infinitely many crossing points in a compact set, then finitely many eigenvalue curves meet at infinitely many points which have an accumulation point; now the identity theorem implies that the eigenvalue curves have to be identical.

It remains to prove that for any fixed $\alpha_0 \in \mathbb{C}$ each eigenvalue $\lambda_k(\alpha_0)$ can be extended to a function which is holomorphic on \mathbb{C} except at the crossing points. We fix such a $\lambda_k(\alpha_0)$ and take an arbitrary compact subset $K \subset \mathbb{C}$ that is the closure of an open, connected set. It suffices to prove that if Kcontains α_0 in its interior, then there is a bounded holomorphic (except for crossing points) eigenvalue curve $\lambda_k(\alpha)$, $\alpha \in K$, which coincides with $\lambda_k(\alpha_0)$ at $\alpha = \alpha_0$.

To this end we consider the resolvent of $\mathcal{A}(\alpha)$ for $\alpha \in K$. We set $\varrho_{\Omega}^{K} := \bigcap_{\alpha \in K} \varrho(-\Delta_{\Omega}^{\alpha})$. Note that $\varrho_{\Omega}^{K} \neq \emptyset$ since the operator family $\mathcal{A}(\alpha), \alpha \in K$, is uniformly sectorial, see Theorem 3.3(2). Fix $z \in \varrho_{\Omega}^{K}$; then the resolvent family $R_{z}(\alpha) = (\mathcal{A}(\alpha) - zI)^{-1}, \alpha \in K$, is not only compact but bounded-holomorphic [40, Theorem VII.1.3]. Thus, the point spectrum $\sigma_{p}(R_{z}(\alpha)) = \sigma(R_{z}(\alpha)) \setminus \{0\}$ consists of eigenvalues of finite algebraic multiplicity, and with 0 as their only point of accumulation. Denote the eigenvalues of $R_{z}(\alpha_{0})$ by $\mu_{j}(\alpha_{0})$, where the ordering is chosen in such a way that

$$\lambda_j(\alpha_0) = \frac{1}{\mu_j(\alpha_0)} + z$$

for all j. Now the eigenvalue $\mu_k(\alpha_0)$ may be extended to a holomorphic eigenvalue curve, first to a neighbourhood of α_0 . This curve $\mu_k(\alpha)$ cannot take on the value 0 for any $\alpha \in K$, since otherwise $R_z(\alpha)$ would not be invertible; hence its modulus has a nonzero minimum on any compact set. Together with the bounded-holomorphy of $\mathcal{A}(\alpha)$, $\alpha \in K$, we obtain that $\mu_k(\alpha)$ can be extended holomorphically to all of K except at only finitely many crossing points with other eigenvalue curves. Via the identification $\lambda_k(\alpha) = 1/\mu_k(\alpha) + z$ we obtain that $\lambda_k(\alpha)$ is well defined and holomorphic on all of K except at the crossing points. Since $\alpha_0 \in \mathbb{C}$ and k were arbitrary, this completes the proof.

Even though Theorem 4.1 establishes that the eigenprojections can be continued holomorphically (away from possible crossing points), the eigenfunctions lose this property when normalised to have $L^2(\Omega)$ -norm one:

Theorem 4.4. Let H be a separable Hilbert space and let $D \subset \mathbb{C}$ be an open, connected set. Let $A(\alpha)$ be an operator family on H such that its eigenfunctions $u(\alpha)$ depend holomorphically on $\alpha \in D$. Then the norm $||u(\alpha)||_{H}$ is non-constant on D or u does not depend on $\alpha \in D$.

Proof. Let $\alpha \in D$, assume the family of normalised eigenfunctions $u(\alpha)$ of $\mathcal{A}(\alpha)$ to be holomorphic and fix an arbitrary $\alpha_0 \in D$. Then, the function $f: D \to \mathbb{C}$ defined by $f(\alpha) = (u(\alpha_0), u(\alpha))$ satisfies

$$|f(\alpha)| \le ||u(\alpha_0)||_H ||u(\alpha)||_H = 1$$

that is, f is contractive on D. Now, since $f(\alpha_0) = 1$, the maximum principle yields that $|f| \equiv 1$ is constant and by $f(\alpha_0) = 1$ we conclude $f \equiv 1$. Furthermore, for any $\alpha \in D$ we have

$$\begin{aligned} \|u(\alpha) - u(\alpha_0)\|_H^2 &= (u(\alpha) - u(\alpha_0), u(\alpha) - u(\alpha_0)) \\ &= \|u(\alpha)\|_H^2 + \|u(\alpha_0)\|_H^2 - 2\operatorname{Re}\left(u(\alpha_0), u(\alpha)\right) = 0 \end{aligned}$$

Consequently, $u(\alpha) = u(\alpha_0)$ and the family of eigenfunctions is independent of α , a contradiction.

The question whether the eigenfunctions of $-\Delta^{\alpha}_{(-a,a)}$ are orthogonal in $L^2((-a,a))$ will be clarified in Section 5.

Remark 4.5. In the case of the domains where one can describe the eigenvalues explicitly (that is, as solutions of transcendental equations), namely intervals, balls and (hyper-) rectangles, it is possible to show that the eigennilpotents are always zero; see Remark 9.2 for the case of hyperrectangles and Remark 9.7 for the case of the ball. It thus seems reasonable to expect that the eigennilpotents are zero on any Lipschitz domain.

Remark 4.6. However, it is easy to see that there can be nontrivial eigennilpotents if α is allowed to be a function on the boundary. Take the simplest possible case of an interval $\Omega = (-a, a)$ and suppose $\alpha : \{-a, a\} \to \mathbb{C}$ is a function. Then for some values of α the eigennilpotents are non-zero: indeed, following [45, Section 3], we let $t \in \mathbb{R}$ and consider purely imaginary $\alpha_t(x)$ of the form

$$\alpha_t(x) = \begin{cases} -\mathrm{i}t & \text{for } x = -a, \\ +\mathrm{i}t & \text{for } x = +a. \end{cases}$$

Then the spectrum of the Robin Laplacian $\mathcal{A}(\alpha_t) = -\Delta_{(-a,a)}^{\alpha_t}$ reads $\sigma(\mathcal{A}(\alpha_t)) = \{t^2\} \cup \{k_j^2\}_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$, where $k_j := \frac{\pi j}{2a}$. That is, the spectrum consists of the eigenvalues of the Neumann Laplacian independently of t, plus the eigenvalue t^2 . This eigenvalue has eigenfunction $u_0(x) = e^{-itx}$, while the rest of the eigenfunctions for k_j^2 read

$$u_j(x) = \cos(k_j x) - i \left(\frac{it}{k_j}\right)^{(-1)^j} \sin(k_j x).$$

Note that each u_j , $j \ge 1$, is, like its eigenvalue, independent of t. Fix $j \in \mathbb{N}$. The eigenvalue curves t^2 and k_j^2 obviously cross at $t = k_j$, meaning that the algebraic multiplicity at this point should be two; however, the eigenfunctions u_0 and u_j converge to the same function as $t \to k_j$. It can be checked that for the function

$$g(x) = \frac{\mathrm{i}}{2}x\mathrm{e}^{-\mathrm{i}tx} - \frac{\mathrm{e}^{2\mathrm{i}ta}}{4t^2}\mathrm{e}^{\mathrm{i}tx}$$

when $t = k_j$ the corresponding eigennilpotent satisfies

$$\left(\mathcal{A}(\alpha_t) - t^2\right)g = u_0 \neq 0$$
 and $\left(\mathcal{A}(\alpha_t) - t^2\right)^2 g = 0.$

Consequently, g is a root vector and the geometric and algebraic eigenspaces do not coincide at $t = k_j$.

It would take us too far afield to explore the question of the eigennilpotents here and so we leave it as an open problem to investigate them in the case that α is independent of $x \in \partial \Omega$.

Open Problem 4.7. Given any bounded Lipschitz domain $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$, suppose that $\lambda = \lambda(\alpha)$ is a repeated eigenvalue of $\mathcal{A}(\alpha) = -\Delta_{\Omega}^{\alpha}$ for some $\alpha \in \mathbb{C}$. Is the eigennilpotent $(\mathcal{A}(\alpha) - \lambda(\alpha))Q_{\lambda(\alpha)}$ necessarily equal to zero (where $Q_{\lambda(\alpha)}$ is the eigenprojection, see (4.2))?

4.2. The derivative with respect to α . We now give a formula for the derivative of a simple eigenvalue λ with respect to $\alpha \in \mathbb{C}$ (that is, along its corresponding eigencurve), which by Theorem 4.1 always exists. For $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ the corresponding formula is reasonably well known (especially but not only in the special case $\alpha = 0$); see [18, Section 4.3.2] and the references therein.

Theorem 4.8. Let $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$, $d \geq 1$, be a bounded, Lipschitz domain, let $\alpha_0 \in \mathbb{C}$, and let $\lambda = \lambda(\alpha)$ be any meromorphic family of eigenvalues. Suppose that for all α in some neighbourhood $B_{\delta}(\alpha_0)$ of α_0 , $\lambda(\alpha)$ is a simple eigenvalue of $-\Delta_{\Omega}^{\alpha}$, with eigenfunction $\psi(\alpha)$ which is chosen to be holomorphic in α . Then in a neighbourhood of α the function

$$\alpha \mapsto \frac{\int_{\partial \Omega} \psi(\alpha)^2 \,\mathrm{d}\sigma(x)}{\int_{\Omega} \psi(\alpha)^2 \,\mathrm{d}x} \tag{4.3}$$

is meromorphic with at most removable singularities. Its holomorphic continuation is equal to $\lambda'(\alpha)$ at every point in $B_{\delta}(\alpha_0)$.

This justifies writing simply

$$\lambda'(\alpha) = \frac{\int_{\partial\Omega} \psi(\alpha)^2 \,\mathrm{d}\sigma(x)}{\int_{\Omega} \psi(\alpha)^2 \,\mathrm{d}x} \qquad \text{for all } \alpha \in B_{\delta}(\alpha_0), \tag{4.4}$$

and in particular Theorem 4.8 implies Theorem 1.1(3).

We leave it as an open problem to determine whether the mapping (4.3) can actually have (removable) singularities, or whether the denominator never vanishes.

Open Problem 4.9. Let $\lambda(\alpha)$ be any simple eigenvalue of $-\Delta_{\Omega}^{\alpha}$ for some $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ bounded and Lipschitz and $\alpha \in \mathbb{C}$, and denote by $\psi(\alpha)$ its eigenfunction, scaled arbitrarily. Does it follow that

$$\int_{\Omega} \psi(\alpha)^2 \,\mathrm{d}x \neq 0 ?$$

We first prove that under the assumptions of the theorem the derivative of the eigenfunction ψ with respect to α , which we denote by $\psi'(\alpha)$ (and which exists as an element of $L^2(\Omega)$ by another application of Theorem 4.1) is actually in $H^1(\Omega)$. Notationally, we will take $z \in \mathbb{C}$ to be small enough that $\alpha + z \in$ $B_{\delta}(\alpha_0)$, that is, $|\alpha + z - \alpha_0| < \delta$.

Lemma 4.10. Under the assumptions of Theorem 4.8, we have $\psi'(\alpha) \in H^1(\Omega)$ for all $\alpha \in B_{\delta}(\alpha_0)$.

Proof. We will show that

$$\limsup_{z \to 0} \frac{\|\nabla \psi(\alpha + z) - \nabla \psi(\alpha)\|_2^2}{|z|^2} < \infty.$$

$$(4.5)$$

Since we already know that $\nabla \psi'(\alpha)$ exists in the distributional sense (as $\psi'(\alpha) \in L^2(\Omega)$), it will then follow from (4.5) that actually $\nabla \psi'(\alpha) \in L^2(\Omega)$.

To prove (4.5), we fix $z \in \mathbb{C}$ sufficiently small (as explained above) and use the weak form of the equation for both $\lambda(\alpha + z)$ and $\lambda(\alpha)$ to obtain (with (\cdot, \cdot) the inner product on $L^2(\Omega)$)

$$\begin{split} \|\nabla(\psi(\alpha+z)-\psi(\alpha))\|_{2}^{2} &= \operatorname{Re} \int_{\Omega} (\nabla\psi(\alpha+z)-\nabla\psi(\alpha)) \cdot \overline{(\nabla\psi(\alpha+z)-\nabla\psi(\alpha))} \, \mathrm{d}x \\ &= \operatorname{Re} \left[\lambda(\alpha+z)\big(\psi(\alpha+z),\psi(\alpha+z)-\psi(\alpha)\big)\big] - \operatorname{Re} \left[(\alpha+z)\int_{\partial\Omega}\psi(\alpha+z)\overline{(\psi(\alpha+z)-\psi(\alpha))} \, \mathrm{d}\sigma(x)\right] \\ &- \operatorname{Re} \left[\lambda(\alpha)\big(\psi(\alpha),\psi(\alpha+z)-\psi(\alpha)\big)\big] + \operatorname{Re} \left[\alpha\int_{\partial\Omega}\psi(\alpha)\overline{(\psi(\alpha+z)-\psi(\alpha))} \, \mathrm{d}\sigma(x)\right] \\ &= \operatorname{Re} \left((\lambda(\alpha+z)\psi(\alpha+z)-\lambda(\alpha)\psi(\alpha)),\psi(\alpha+z)-\psi(\alpha)\right) \\ &- \operatorname{Re} \int_{\partial\Omega}((\alpha+z)\psi(\alpha+z)-\alpha\psi(\alpha))\overline{(\psi(\alpha+z)-\psi(\alpha))} \, \mathrm{d}\sigma(x). \end{split}$$

We next estimate the integrand in the boundary integral as follows:

$$\operatorname{Re}\left[\left((\alpha+z)\psi(\alpha+z)-\alpha\psi(\alpha)\right)(\psi(\alpha+z)-\psi(\alpha))\right]$$

= -Re $(\alpha+z)|\psi(\alpha+z)-\psi(\alpha)|^2$ + Re $\left[z\psi(\alpha)\overline{(\psi(\alpha+z)-\psi(\alpha))}\right]$
 \leq -Re $(\alpha+z)|\psi(\alpha+z)-\psi(\alpha)|^2$ + $\frac{1}{2}|\psi(\alpha+z)-\psi(\alpha)|^2$ + $\frac{|z|^2}{2}|\psi(\alpha)|^2$.

Applying the trace inequality in the form

$$\int_{\partial\Omega} |u|^2 \,\mathrm{d}\sigma(x) \le \varepsilon \|\nabla u\|^2 + C_\varepsilon \|u\|^2$$

for all $u \in H^1(\Omega)$, where $C_{\varepsilon} > 0$ depends only on $\varepsilon > 0$, to each of the two integrals

$$\left|-\operatorname{Re}\left(\alpha+z\right)+\frac{1}{2}\right|\int_{\partial\Omega}|\psi(\alpha+z)-\psi(\alpha)|^{2}\,\mathrm{d}\sigma(x)\quad\text{and}\quad\frac{|z|^{2}}{2}\int_{\partial\Omega}|\psi(\alpha)|^{2}\,\mathrm{d}x$$

and choosing $\varepsilon > 0$ small enough that $\eta := \varepsilon [-\operatorname{Re}(\alpha + z) + \frac{1}{2}] < 1$ leads us to

$$\begin{split} \|\nabla(\psi(\alpha+z)-\psi(\alpha))\|_{2}^{2} \\ &\leq \operatorname{Re}\left((\lambda(\alpha+z)\psi(\alpha+z)-\lambda(\alpha)\psi(\alpha)),\psi(\alpha+z)-\psi(\alpha)\right) \\ &\quad +\eta\|\nabla(\psi(\alpha+z)-\psi(\alpha))\|_{2}^{2}+C_{\varepsilon}\left(-\operatorname{Re}\left(\alpha+z\right)+\frac{1}{2}\right)\|\psi(\alpha+z)-\psi(\alpha)\|_{2}^{2} \\ &\quad +|z|^{2}\left(\frac{\varepsilon}{2}\|\nabla\psi(\alpha)\|_{2}^{2}+\frac{C_{\varepsilon}}{2}\|\psi(\alpha)\|_{2}^{2}\right). \end{split}$$

Now ε may be chosen independently of $\alpha \in B_{\delta}(\alpha_0)$; in particular, with such a choice, the coefficient of $|z|^2$ depends only on α , that is, we may write

$$C_{\alpha} := \frac{\varepsilon}{2} \|\nabla \psi(\alpha)\|_2^2 + \frac{C_{\varepsilon}}{2} \|\psi(\alpha)\|_2^2$$

for this coefficient. We now divide by $|z|^2$ and pass to the limit as $z \to 0$ to obtain

$$\limsup_{z \to 0} \frac{\|\nabla(\psi(\alpha+z) - \psi(\alpha))\|^2}{|z|^2} \le \frac{1}{1-\eta} \operatorname{Re}\left(\lambda'(\alpha)\psi(\alpha) + \lambda(\alpha)\psi'(\alpha), \psi'(\alpha)\right) + \frac{1}{1-\eta} C_{\varepsilon}\left(-\operatorname{Re}\alpha + \frac{1}{2}\right) \|\psi'(\alpha)\|^2 + C_{\alpha}.$$

Since we already know that $\psi'(\alpha) \in L^2(\Omega)$, the right-hand side of the above inequality is finite. This establishes (4.5) and hence completes the proof of the lemma.

Proof of Theorem 4.8 and hence of Theorem 1.1(3). We choose $\psi(\alpha) \in H^1(\Omega)$ as a test function in the weak form of the eigenvalue equation for $\lambda(\alpha)$:

$$\int_{\Omega} (\nabla \psi(\alpha))^2 \, \mathrm{d}x + \alpha \int_{\partial \Omega} \psi(\alpha)^2 \, \mathrm{d}\sigma(x) - \lambda(\alpha) \int_{\Omega} \psi(\alpha)^2 \, \mathrm{d}x = 0.$$

The left-hand side clearly depends holomorphically on α . Moreover, since $\psi'(\alpha) \in H^1(\Omega)$ by Lemma 4.10, we may calculate its derivative as

$$2\int_{\Omega} \nabla \psi'(\alpha) \cdot \nabla \psi(\alpha) \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_{\partial \Omega} \psi(\alpha)^2 \, \mathrm{d}\sigma(x) + 2\alpha \int_{\partial \Omega} \psi'(\alpha)\psi(\alpha) \, \mathrm{d}\sigma(x) - \lambda'(\alpha) \int_{\Omega} \psi(\alpha)^2 \, \mathrm{d}x - 2\lambda(\alpha) \int_{\Omega} \psi'(\alpha)\psi(\alpha) \, \mathrm{d}x = 0$$

But the weak form of the eigenvalue equation for $\lambda(\alpha)$ also implies that

$$2\int_{\Omega} \nabla \psi'(\alpha) \cdot \nabla \psi(\alpha) \, \mathrm{d}x + 2\alpha \int_{\partial \Omega} \psi'(\alpha) \psi(\alpha) \, \mathrm{d}\sigma(x) = 2\lambda(\alpha) \int_{\Omega} \psi'(\alpha) \psi(\alpha) \, \mathrm{d}x,$$

whence

$$\lambda'(\alpha) \int_{\Omega} \psi(\alpha)^2 \,\mathrm{d}x = \int_{\partial\Omega} \psi(\alpha)^2 \,\mathrm{d}\sigma(x). \tag{4.6}$$

This yields (4.4) in the case that $\int_{\Omega} \psi(\alpha)^2 dx \neq 0$. But since we know that $\lambda'(\alpha)$ is holomorphic in $B_{\delta}(\alpha_0)$, as are the mappings

$$\alpha \mapsto \int_{\Omega} \psi(\alpha)^2 \, \mathrm{d}x, \qquad \alpha \mapsto \int_{\partial \Omega} \psi(\alpha)^2 \, \mathrm{d}\sigma(x),$$

if the left-hand side of (4.6) vanishes at some point, then the right-hand side must vanish as well, and to the same order. It follows that any singularities of the mapping (4.3) in $B_{\delta}(\alpha_0)$ are removable. This completes the proof of the theorem.

5. Basis properties of the eigenfunctions

Given the analytic dependence of the eigenfunctions $\{e_k(\alpha)\}_{k\geq 1}$ of the Robin Laplacian on $\alpha \in \mathbb{C}$, it is a natural question to ask whether they also still have reasonable basis properties for non-real α . In this section we will explore this question and, in particular, prove parts (4) and (5) of Theorem 1.1.

We start with the negative result (5), that the eigenfunctions do not generally form an orthonormal basis.

Theorem 5.1. Let $\Omega \in \mathbb{R}^d$, $d \ge 1$, be a bounded Lipschitz domain and $\alpha \in \mathbb{C}$. Then the eigenfunctions $e_k(\alpha)$, $k \in \mathbb{N}$, of $-\Delta_{\Omega}^{\alpha}$ can be chosen to form an orthonormal basis of $L^2(\Omega)$ if and only if $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$.

Proof. For ease of notation, in this section we will write $\mathcal{A}(\alpha) := -\Delta_{\Omega}^{\alpha}$. For $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ the claim follows from the selfadjointness of $\mathcal{A}(\alpha)$.

Let $\alpha \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R}$ and assume that the eigenfunctions $\{e_k(\alpha)\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$ of $\mathcal{A}(\alpha)$ do form an orthonormal basis of $L^2(\Omega)$. To distinguish the notation from the complex conjugation \overline{z} of $z \in \mathbb{C}$ and M^* of $M \subset \mathbb{C}$, let $\operatorname{cl}(M)$ be the closure of M. Let $u \in D(\mathcal{A}(\alpha)^*) = D(\mathcal{A}(\overline{\alpha})) \subset L^2(\Omega)$ have $L^2(\Omega)$ -norm one. Then there is a unique representation of u,

$$u = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} (u, e_k(\alpha)) e_k(\alpha), \qquad 1 = ||u||_2^2 = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} |(u, e_k(\alpha))|^2,$$

which we use to calculate

$$(u, \mathcal{A}(\alpha)^* u) = (\mathcal{A}(\alpha)^* u, u)$$
$$= \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \overline{(u, e_k(\alpha))} \left((-\Delta_{\Omega}^{\alpha})^* u, e_k(\alpha) \right)$$
$$= \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \left(e_k(\alpha), u \right) \left(u, \lambda_k(\alpha) e_k(\alpha) \right) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \left| (u, e_k(\alpha)) \right|^2 \overline{\lambda_k(\alpha)}.$$
(5.1)

By the definition of the numerical range (3.2) and the identity $cl(W(a_{\alpha})) = cl(W(\mathcal{A}(\alpha)))$ [40, Corollary VI.2.3] we obtain

$$\operatorname{cl}(W(\mathcal{A}(\alpha)^*)) = \operatorname{cl}(W(a_\alpha^*)) = \operatorname{cl}(W(a_\alpha))^* = \operatorname{cl}(W(\mathcal{A}(\alpha)))^*.$$
(5.2)

Note that due to the normalisation of u the right-hand side of (5.1) can be interpreted as a convex combination of the complex conjugated elements $\lambda_k(\alpha) \in \sigma(\mathcal{A}(\alpha))$; the convex hull of the whole spectrum will be denoted by

$$\operatorname{conv}\left(\sigma(\mathcal{A}(\alpha))\right) = \operatorname{conv}\left\{\lambda_k(\alpha) : k \in \mathbb{N}\right\}.$$

Due to (5.2) and (5.1) we obtain

$$\operatorname{cl}(W(\mathcal{A}(\alpha)))^* = \operatorname{cl}(W(\mathcal{A}(\alpha)^*)) = \operatorname{cl}\left(\operatorname{conv}\left(\sigma(\mathcal{A}(\alpha))\right)^*\right)$$

and by complex conjugation of both sides we arrive at

$$cl(W(a_{\alpha})) = cl(W(\mathcal{A}(\alpha))) = cl(conv(\sigma(\mathcal{A}(\alpha)))).$$
(5.3)

This equation leads us to a contradiction as follows. Since $\mathcal{A}(\alpha)$ is sectorial and its resolvent is compact, for any sufficiently large r > 0 the *truncated* convex hull

$$P_r(\alpha) := \operatorname{conv} \left\{ \lambda_k(\alpha) : k \in \mathbb{N}, \ |\lambda_k(\alpha)| \le r \right\} \subset \mathbb{C}$$

is a polygon which contains at most finitely many eigenvalues of $\mathcal{A}(\alpha)$. To show that $P_r(\alpha)$ is contained in the upper half-plane it is sufficient to prove $\text{Im }\lambda_k(\alpha) > 0$ for all $k \in \mathbb{N}$: due to

$$\sigma(A(\alpha)) \subset W(a_{\alpha}) \subset \{z \in \mathbb{C} : \operatorname{Im} z \ge 0\}$$

it is clear that Im $\lambda_k(\alpha) \ge 0$ for all $k \in \mathbb{N}$. Now assume that there exists an eigenvalue $\lambda \in P_r(\alpha) \cap \mathbb{R}$, that is, we find a corresponding (normalised) eigenfunction $u \in D(\mathcal{A}(\alpha))$ such that

$$\lambda = (\mathcal{A}(\alpha)u, u) = \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u|^2 dx + \alpha \int_{\partial \Omega} |u|^2 d\sigma(x) \in \mathbb{R}$$

This holds if and only if $u|_{\partial\Omega} = 0$, that is, u is an eigenfunction of the Dirichlet Laplacian $\mathcal{A}^D := -\Delta_{\Omega}^D$. Furthermore, $u \in D(\mathcal{A}(\alpha))$ yields

$$0 = \partial_{\nu} u + \alpha u = \partial_{\nu} u$$

on $\partial\Omega$ and u is additionally a Neumann eigenfunction, a contradiction. In other words, we have shown that

$$cl\left(conv(\sigma(\mathcal{A}(\alpha)))\right) \cap \mathbb{R} = \emptyset.$$
(5.4)

Since the principal eigenvalue $\lambda_1 = \min \sigma(\mathcal{A}^D)$ can be represented by the variational max-min characterisation, there exists a normalised minimising function (the associated eigenfunction) $u_1 \in H_0^1(\Omega)$ such that $\lambda_1 = \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u_1|^2 dx$. Recall that the domains of the Dirichlet Laplacian and the Robin form satisfy

$$D(\mathcal{A}^D) \subset H^1_0(\Omega) \subset H^1(\Omega) = D(a_\alpha),$$

see Section 3. Consequently, $\lambda_1 \in cl(W(a_\alpha))$, a contradiction to (5.3) and (5.4). Hence the eigenfunctions $\{e_k(\alpha)\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$ of $\mathcal{A}(\alpha)$ do not form an orthonormal basis of $L^2(\Omega)$.

One may show by explicit calculation that, even on the interval $\Omega = (-a, a)$, consistent with Theorem 5.1, for given $\alpha \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R}$ the eigenfunctions of the Robin Laplacian $-\Delta_{\Omega}^{\alpha}$ belonging to different eigenspaces are not in general orthogonal to each other. Hence, for our positive result, we necessarily need to introduce "weaker" notions of basis. Here we will consider three: Bari, Riesz and Abel bases. The definitions of the first two of these, namely Definitions 5.3 and 5.4, are taken from [38, 3.6.16-19]. For what follows we assume $(H, \|\cdot\|_H)$ to be a separable complex Hilbert space.

Definition 5.2. A set $\mathcal{B} = \{e_k\}_{k=1}^{\infty} \subset H$ is called a *basis* of H if for each $h \in H$ there exists a unique, convergent series representation $h = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} h_k e_k$ with coefficients $h_k = h_k(h) \in \mathbb{C}$.

Definition 5.3. Let $\mathcal{B} = \{e_k\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$ be a basis of H. Then \mathcal{B} is called a *Riesz basis* if there are constants $0 < m \leq M$ such that

$$m \| (h_k)_k \|_{\ell^2} \le \| h \|_H \le M \| (h_k)_k \|_{\ell^2}$$

holds for any $h = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} h_k e_k \in H$.

Definition 5.4. A set $\mathcal{B} = \{e_k\}_{k=1}^{\infty} \subset H$ is called a *Bari basis* of H if there exists an orthonormal basis $\mathcal{B}' = \{e'_k\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$ of H such that \mathcal{B} is quadratically near \mathcal{B}' , that is

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \|e_k - e'_k\|_H^2 < \infty.$$

An Abel basis, as first introduced in [51] and also defined for example in [67, Section 1.2.13], is always defined with respect to the eigenvectors and generalised eigenvectors (for short, generalised eigenvectors) of a densely defined sectorial operator A. The intuitive idea is that the formal series expansion

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} h_k e_k$$

of an element $h \in H$ in the generalised eigenvectors e_k of A may not converge, but if the Fourier coefficients h_k can be multiplied by a weight $e^{-\lambda_k^{\gamma}t}$ (where λ_k is the eigenvalue corresponding to e_k), such that

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} h_k \mathrm{e}^{-\lambda_k^{\gamma} t} e_k$$

converges for each fixed t > 0, and this series then converges to h as $t \to 0$, then $\{e_k\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$ is an Abel basis of order $\gamma \ge 0$. (Note that an Abel basis will not generally be a basis in the sense of Definition 5.2, since the unweighted Fourier series expansion is explicitly not required to converge.) We will follow the definition given in [67].

Definition 5.5. Suppose $A : H \supset D(A) \to H$ is a densely defined operator with purely discrete spectrum, such that all but finitely many of its eigenvalues lie in the sector $T_{\theta}^+ = \{z \in \mathbb{C} : |\arg z| < \theta\}$ for some $\theta \in (0, \pi)$. Then we say that the generalised eigenvectors of A form an *Abel basis of* H *of order* $\gamma \ge 0$ if $\gamma \theta < \pi/2$ and there exists an enumeration of the eigenvalues $\{\lambda_k\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$ (with $\{e_k\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$ the corresponding enumeration of the generalised eigenvectors) such that for this fixed enumeration, for each $h \in H$, there exists a sequence of coefficients $h_k \in \mathbb{C}$ for which the series

$$h(t) := \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} h_k \mathrm{e}^{-\lambda_k^{\gamma} t} e_k \tag{5.5}$$

is convergent for all t > 0, and $h(t) \to h$ in H as $t \to 0^+$.

For the eigenvalues λ which do not lie in T_{θ}^+ , the weight $e^{-\lambda_k^{\gamma}t}$ in (5.5) is to be interpreted as 1, while if some λ is a repeated eigenvalue and $\{e_j, \ldots, e_{j+\ell}\}$ is a basis of its eigenspace, then the corresponding terms in the series (5.5) are to be interpreted in terms of the eigenprojection, that is, $\sum_{k=j}^{j+\ell} h_k e^{-\lambda^{\gamma} t} e_k$ is to be replaced by

$$\frac{1}{2\pi \mathrm{i}} \oint_{\Gamma} \mathrm{e}^{-\lambda^{\gamma} t} (A - zI)^{-1} h \, \mathrm{d}z,$$

where Γ is any closed path in \mathbb{C} separating λ from the rest of the spectrum.

The definition can be extended to allow $\gamma \theta < \pi$ in place of $\gamma \theta < \pi/2$; we refer, again, to [67, Section 1.2.13].

One may derive from the definitions that an orthonormal basis is always a Bari basis, a Bari basis is always a Riesz basis, and a Riesz basis, if it consists of the generalised eigenfunctions of a suitable operator, is always an Abel basis of order zero. The latter, in turn, is an Abel basis of any positive order $\gamma > 0$, provided only that the sectoriality estimate $\gamma \theta < \pi$ still holds.

Our goal is to show that the eigenfunctions of $-\Delta_{\Omega}^{\alpha}$ form (at least) an Abel basis of $L^{2}(\Omega)$, for any $\alpha \in \mathbb{C}$. This is based on a theorem of Agranovich (the main theorem of [3]), which we recall here for ease of reference.

Theorem 5.6. Suppose H and V are separable complex Hilbert spaces such that $V \hookrightarrow H$ is compact, and suppose that $a: V \times V \to \mathbb{C}$ is a bounded, coercive sesquilinear form. Denote by $b := \operatorname{Re} a = (a + \overline{a})/2$ and $c := \operatorname{iIm} a = a - b$ the real and imaginary forms, respectively, which add to give a. Denote by A and B the operators on H associated with a and b, respectively. Suppose that

(i) there exist $0 \le q \le 1$ and m > 0 such that

$$c[u,u]| \le m \|B^{1/2}u\|_{H}^{2q} \|u\|_{H}^{2-2q}$$
(5.6)

for all $u \in V$, and

(ii) there exists p > 0 such that the sequence of eigenvalues $\lambda_k(B)$, $k \ge 1$, of B (bounded from below by assumption), repeated according to their multiplicities, has the asymptotic behaviour

$$\limsup_{k \to \infty} \frac{\lambda_k(B)}{k^p} > 0.$$
(5.7)

Then A has discrete spectrum, the invariant subspaces of A are all finite dimensional, and the corresponding eigenfunctions and generalised eigenfunctions of A constitute

- (1) a Bari basis of H if p(1-q) > 1, or
- (2) a Riesz basis of H if p(1-q) = 1, or
- (3) an Abel basis of H, of order $1/p + (q-1) + \delta$ for any (sufficiently small) $\delta > 0$, if p(1-q) < 1.

Theorem 5.6 was already used for a similar purpose in [37, Section 5] to prove a corresponding onedimensional result; more precisely, for the Laplacian on a compact metric graph, equipped with complex δ conditions at one or more of the vertices (corresponding to a complex Robin condition), one can apply (2) to obtain a Riesz basis. With this background, we can now state our main positive result, which corresponds to Theorem 1.1(4).

Theorem 5.7. Let $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$, $d \geq 1$, be a bounded Lipschitz domain and $\alpha \in \mathbb{C}$.

- (1) If d = 1, then there is a Riesz basis of $L^2(\Omega)$ consisting of the eigenfunctions and generalised eigenfunctions of $-\Delta_{\Omega}^{\alpha}$;
- (2) If $d \ge 2$, then there is an Abel basis of $L^2(\Omega)$ of order $(d-1)/2 + \delta$ for any (sufficiently small) $\delta > 0$, consisting of the eigenfunctions and generalised eigenfunctions of $-\Delta_{\Omega}^{\alpha}$.

We leave it as an open problem to determine whether in fact the eigenfunctions of $-\Delta_{\Omega}^{\alpha}$ still form a Riesz basis of $L^2(\Omega)$ if $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ is a bounded Lipschitz domain in dimension $d \geq 2$, as they do when d = 1, and when Ω is rectangular (see Remark 9.2); and we recall Open Problem 4.7, to establish that the eigennilpotents are always trivial, that is, that all generalised eigenfunctions are in fact eigenfunctions.

Open Problem 5.8. Let $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$, $d \geq 2$, be bounded and Lipschitz and let $\alpha \in \mathbb{C}$. Do the eigenfunctions of $-\Delta_{\Omega}^{\alpha}$ form a Riesz basis of $L^2(\Omega)$?

Proof of Theorem 5.7. We only need to apply Theorem 5.6, as was done in [37, Section 5] for d = 1, and in fact we refer there for the proof in this case.

So suppose that $d \ge 2$. Obviously, we choose $H = L^2(\Omega)$ and $V = H^1(\Omega)$. Given $\alpha \in \mathbb{C}$, which will be fixed throughout, we suppose $\omega \ge 0$ to be such that $a_\alpha[u, u] + \omega(u, u)$ is coercive $H^1(\Omega)$, which we may always do by the trace inequality, cf. Lemma 3.2 (here and throughout (\cdot, \cdot) is the inner product on $L^2(\Omega)$). We then choose

$$a[u,v] := a_{\alpha}[u,v] + \omega(u,v),$$

so that $b = a_{\text{Re}\,\alpha} + \omega(\cdot, \cdot)$, $A = -\Delta_{\Omega}^{\alpha} + \omega I$, and $B = -\Delta_{\Omega}^{\text{Re}\,\alpha} + \omega I$, and to apply Theorem 5.6 we only need to check the conditions (i) and (ii). We will show that (i) holds for q = 1/2 and (ii) holds for any $p \leq d/2$, leading in particular to the order of the Abel basis claimed in the theorem.

For (i), first note that for any operator B satisfying the assumptions of the theorem, we have that

$$(B^{1/2}u, B^{1/2}u) = (Bu, u) = b[u, u]$$

for all $u \in D(B)$, and in particular $||B^{1/2}u||_2 = b[u, u]^{1/2}$ for all $u \in V$.

Up to a possibly different constant, the form $a_{\text{Re}\,\alpha} + \omega(\cdot, \cdot)$ defines an equivalent norm on $H^1(\Omega)$. Thus, in our setting, and with q = 1/2, (5.6) reduces to the question of the existence of a constant m > 0 such that, for all $u \in H^1(\Omega)$

$$|\operatorname{Im} \alpha| \int_{\Omega} |u|^2 \, \mathrm{d}\sigma \le m \|u\|_{H^1(\Omega)} \|u\|_2.$$

But this, in turn, follows immediately from the trace inequality (6.15) of Remark 6.7, to be proved below.

For (ii), note that the constant ω has no effect on the asymptotic behaviour of the eigenvalues; thus we may assume without loss of generality that $\omega = 0$. We are thus interested in the smallest p > 0 such that

$$\limsup_{k \to \infty} \frac{\lambda_k (-\Delta_{\Omega}^{\operatorname{Re} \alpha})}{k^p} > 0$$

But by the Weyl asymptotics for the Robin Laplacian, valid for any $\operatorname{Re} \alpha \in \mathbb{R}$, in fact

$$\lambda_k(-\Delta_{\Omega}^{\operatorname{Re}\alpha}) = C_d(|\Omega|)k^{d/2} + o(k^{d/2})$$

as $k \to \infty$ for a constant $C_d(|\Omega|) > 0$ (see, for example, [39, 65]), leading to $p \le d/2$.

6. On the numerical range

In this section we will give bounds on the numerical range of the form a_{α} associated with the operator $-\Delta_{\Omega}^{\alpha}$ on a general Lipschitz domain $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$, which we recall is given by

$$W(a_{\alpha}) = \left\{ \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_{\partial \Omega} \alpha |u|^2 \, \mathrm{d}\sigma : u \in H^1(\Omega) \text{ with } \|u\|_2 = 1 \right\} \subset \mathbb{C}.$$

Since here $\sigma(-\Delta_{\Omega}^{\alpha}) = \sigma_p(-\Delta_{\Omega}^{\alpha}) \subset W(-\Delta_{\Omega}^{\alpha}) \subset W(a_{\alpha})$, in addition to giving an independent proof of the sectoriality of the form and the operator claimed in Section 3, these bounds will more importantly give an estimate on the rate at which any eigenvalues can diverge in the regime Re $\alpha < 0$, as well as the size of the imaginary part of the eigenvalues: in particular, the following theorem contains Theorem 1.3. We obtain somewhat different results, and require a different method of proof, in the case where $\partial\Omega$ is sufficiently smooth (C^2) on the one hand, and Lipschitz on the other.

Theorem 6.1. Suppose $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$, $d \geq 2$, is a bounded Lipschitz domain. Then there exist constants $C_1 \geq 2$ and $C_2 > 0$ depending only on Ω such that for $\alpha \in \mathbb{C}$ the set $W(a_\alpha)$ is contained in

$$\Lambda_{\Omega,\alpha} = \left\{ t + \alpha \cdot s \in \mathbb{C} : t \ge 0, \, s \in [0, C_1 \sqrt{t} + C_2] \right\}$$

In particular, we have the estimate

$$\operatorname{Re} \lambda \ge -\frac{C_1^2}{4} |\operatorname{Re} \alpha|^2 - C_2 |\operatorname{Re} \alpha| \tag{6.1}$$

for all $\lambda \in \sigma(-\Delta_{\Omega}^{\alpha})$. If Ω has C^2 boundary, then we may choose $C_1 = 2$.

The regions $\Lambda_{\Omega,\alpha}$ for different values of α are depicted in Figures 6.1 and 6.2. The constants C_1, C_2 depend on the geometry of $\partial\Omega$, and with our method of proof it should be possible to give an estimate on them, at least in principle. See Remark 6.8 for a discussion of the meaning of C_2 in the case of smooth domains, where we obtain an expression for C_2 related to the curvature of $\partial\Omega$. It does not seem clear that we should expect $C_1 = 2$ in Theorem 6.1 for domains of class C^1 , not just C^2 ; cf. Remark 6.2(1).

Since these bounds are new even in the case of real negative α (see also Corollary 1.4), we wish to discuss how they fit in with known results before we turn to the proofs.



FIGURE 6.1. The set $\Lambda_{\Omega,\alpha}$, which contains the numerical range $W(a_{\alpha})$, for a representative choice of $\operatorname{Re} \alpha > 0$ and $\operatorname{Im} \alpha > 0$, corresponding to the region between the curve $\partial \Lambda_{\Omega,\alpha}$ and the real axis. The region is composed of the union of segments of the form $\{t + \alpha \cdot s \in \mathbb{C} : s \in [0, C_1\sqrt{t} + C_2]\}$, each of slope $\operatorname{Im} \alpha/\operatorname{Re} \alpha$, for different values of $t \geq 0$; the dotted lines show these segments for selected values of $t_1, \ldots, t_4 > 0$. Their endpoints form a parabolic section of $\partial \Lambda_{\Omega,\alpha}$ open to the right.



FIGURE 6.2. The set $\Lambda_{\Omega,\alpha}$ for $\operatorname{Re} \alpha < 0$ and two different choices of $\operatorname{Im} \alpha > 0$ (whose upper boundaries correspond to the solid and dashed curves, respectively). As $\operatorname{Im} \alpha \to 0$, the region collapses to the part of the real axis from $-\frac{C_1^2}{4}|\operatorname{Re} \alpha|^2 - C_2|\operatorname{Re} \alpha|$ to $+\infty$.

Remark 6.2. (1) We recall the bound

$$\lambda_1(\alpha) < -|\alpha|^2 \tag{6.2}$$

on the principal Robin eigenvalue $\lambda_1(\alpha) = \lambda_1(-\Delta_{\Omega}^{\alpha})$ of any bounded Lipschitz domain $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ for $\alpha < 0$, which may be obtained by a simple variational argument (see [34, Theorem 2.3] or [18, Proposition 4.12]). Together with this bound, Corollary 1.4 gives a new, simpler, proof of the asymptotic behaviour $\lambda_1(\alpha) = -|\alpha|^2 + \mathcal{O}(\alpha)$ as $\alpha \to -\infty$, if Ω is C^2 . The only other proof that $\lambda_1(\alpha) = -|\alpha|^2 + o(\alpha^2)$ on C^2 – actually C^1 – domains, which is completely different and involves a blow-up argument, is the principal result of [52]; all other proofs (which give more terms in the expansion) require more boundary regularity. Indeed, if Ω is C^3 , then, as $\alpha \to -\infty$,

$$\lambda_1(\alpha) = -|\alpha|^2 - (d-1)\bar{\kappa}_{\max}|\alpha| + \mathcal{O}(\alpha^{2/3}), \tag{6.3}$$

where $\bar{\kappa}_{\text{max}}$ denotes the maximal mean curvature of $\partial\Omega$; see [18, Section 4.4.2.1] for a discussion and references. It is interesting to note that in the case of smooth Ω the constant C_2 appearing in Theorem 6.1 is likewise related to the curvature of $\partial\Omega$ (see Remark 6.8 for more details); the presence of the curvature suggests that the "smooth" version of Theorem 6.1 (i.e., with $C_1 = 2$) does not hold under significantly weaker regularity assumptions than C^2 . We leave it as an open problem to determine whether a better bound than ours is possible for C^1 domains (see Open Problem 6.3 below). (2) We recall that for domains Ω with piecewise smooth boundary and a finite number of "model corners", the asymptotic behaviour of the principal eigenvalue becomes

$$\lambda_1(\alpha) = -C|\alpha|^2 + o(\alpha^2) \tag{6.4}$$

as $\alpha \to -\infty$, for a constant $C \ge 1$ depending on the opening angle(s) of the "most acute" corner(s) of Ω (we refer to [18, pp. 94–95] for details and references); it is an open problem to show that (6.4) also holds on general Lipschitz domains [18, Open Problem 4.17]. The lower bound of Theorem 6.1 in the form of Corollary 1.4, together with (6.2), at least implies a two-sided asymptotic bound of this form.

Open Problem 6.3. Let $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ be bounded and of class C^1 and suppose that $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$. Is it true that

$$\lambda_k(\alpha) = -|\alpha|^2 + \mathcal{O}(\alpha)$$

as $\alpha \to -\infty$, for each $k \in \mathbb{N}$?

Remark 6.4. We note in passing that the bound of Theorem 6.1 on the numerical range (and the spectrum) of $-\Delta_{\Omega}^{\alpha}$ implies that, for any Lipschitz domain $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ and any $\alpha \in \mathbb{C}$, the operator Δ_{Ω}^{α} generates a *cosine function*, that is, the corresponding wave equation is well posed (see [8, Section 3.14] for more details on cosine functions of operators); in fact, it is known that an operator is the generator of a cosine function if and only if its numerical range and spectrum are contained in a parabolic region such as $-\Lambda_{\Omega,\alpha}$; see [8, Theorem 3.17.4]. Here, we see that $-\Lambda_{\Omega,\alpha}$ is contained in the parabolic region described in that theorem for sufficiently large $\omega > 0$, how large depending on α , C_1 and C_2 .

The proof of Theorem 6.1 is based on the following trace-type inequality.

Lemma 6.5. Let $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$, $d \geq 2$, be a bounded Lipschitz domain. Then there exist constants $C_1 \geq 2$ and $C_2 > 0$, both depending only on Ω , such that

$$\int_{\partial\Omega} |u|^2 \,\mathrm{d}\sigma \le C_1 \|\nabla u\|_2 + C_2 \tag{6.5}$$

for all $u \in H^1(\Omega)$ with $||u||_2 = 1$. If Ω has C^2 boundary, then we may choose $C_1 = 2$.

The constants C_1 and C_2 will be the same as the ones appearing in the statements of Theorems 6.1 and 1.3. While we doubt that the lemma is new in the case of Lipschitz domains, we are unaware of any reference; moreover, to the best of our knowledge its application in the context of Robin eigenvalue asymptotics is new. But we consider the real novelty, and difficulty, to consist in obtaining the best possible constant $C_1 = 2$ in the case of C^2 domains, which leads to sharp eigenvalue bounds in this case. The proofs for the cases of C^2 and Lipschitz boundaries are, correspondingly, completely different. For the smooth case, which we treat first, we first need a technical lemma involving the geometry of Ω near its boundary, where we will heavily rely on the assumption that $\partial\Omega$ is C^2 . We first introduce some notation: for a bounded domain $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$, we set $d_\Omega : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$,

$$d_{\Omega}(x) := \begin{cases} \operatorname{dist}(x, \partial \Omega) = \inf_{z \in \partial \Omega} |x - z| & \text{if } x \in \overline{\Omega} \\ -\operatorname{dist}(x, \partial \Omega) & \text{if } x \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \overline{\Omega} \end{cases}$$
(6.6)

to be the signed distance function to $\partial\Omega$, $d_{\Omega} \in C(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Given any $\varepsilon > 0$ and $t \in [0, \varepsilon]$, we also set

$$\Omega_{\varepsilon} := \{ x \in \mathbb{R}^d : d_{\Omega}(x) < \varepsilon \}$$
(6.7)

to be the (open) "strip" around $\partial\Omega$ of width 2ε , where we also write

$$\Omega_{\varepsilon}^{+} := \Omega_{\varepsilon} \cap \Omega = \{ x \in \Omega : d_{\Omega}(x) < \varepsilon \}$$

$$\Omega_{\varepsilon}^{-} := \Omega_{\varepsilon} \cap \mathbb{R}^{d} \setminus \Omega = \{ x \in \mathbb{R}^{d} \setminus \Omega : d_{\Omega}(x) < \varepsilon \}$$

(6.8)

and finally

$$S_t := \{ x \in \Omega : d_\Omega(x) = t \}$$

$$(6.9)$$

to be the level surfaces of d_{Ω} in Ω_{ε} ,

$$\Omega_{\varepsilon} = \bigcup_{t \in (-\varepsilon,\varepsilon)} S_t.$$

Lemma 6.6. Suppose $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ is a bounded domain of class C^2 . Then there exists $\varepsilon > 0$ such that

- (1) $d_{\Omega}|_{\overline{\Omega}_{\varepsilon}} \in C^2(\overline{\Omega}_{\varepsilon});$
- (2) for each $x \in \overline{\Omega}_{\varepsilon}$ there exists a unique minimiser $z \in \partial \Omega$ such that $d_{\Omega}(x) = |x z|$;

(3) for each $x \in \overline{\Omega}_{\varepsilon} \setminus \partial \Omega$,

$$\nabla d_{\Omega}(x) = \frac{x-z}{|x-z|}$$

with z as in (2). In particular, $|\nabla d_{\Omega}(x)| = 1$ for all $x \in \overline{\Omega}_{\varepsilon}$;

(4) for each $t \in [-\varepsilon, \varepsilon]$, S_t is a compact manifold of class C^1 ; and

(5) for each $f \in C^1(\overline{\Omega}_{\varepsilon})$ the function

$$t\mapsto \int_{S_t} f\,\mathrm{d}\sigma$$

is differentiable at every $t \in (-\varepsilon, \varepsilon)$, and its derivative, given by

$$\int_{S_t} \partial_t f + f \Delta d_\Omega \, \mathrm{d}\sigma,\tag{6.10}$$

is in $C([-\varepsilon,\varepsilon])$. In particular, for any $f \in C^1(\overline{\Omega_{\varepsilon}^+})$ and any $\varepsilon_1 \in [0,\varepsilon)$,

$$\int_{S_{\varepsilon_1}} f \,\mathrm{d}\sigma - \int_{\partial\Omega} f \,\mathrm{d}\sigma = \int_{\Omega_{\varepsilon_1}^+} \partial_t f + f \Delta d_\Omega \,\mathrm{d}x. \tag{6.11}$$

Proof. (1) is contained in [33, Appendix, Lemma 1] (since $\partial\Omega$ is assumed to be C^2), see also [10, Lemma 2.4.2]; (2) follows (possibly for a different ε) from [28, Lemma 4.11] (which requires that $\partial\Omega$ be $C^{1,1}$) together with a simple covering argument using the fact that $\partial\Omega$ is compact (in the language of [28], (2) means that reach $(\partial\Omega) > 0$). (3) then follows from [28, Theorem 4.8], where we note that $\nabla d_{\Omega} \in C^1(\overline{\Omega}_{\varepsilon})$ and $|\nabla d_{\Omega}| = 1$ in $\overline{\Omega}_{\varepsilon} \setminus \partial\Omega$ implies that $|\nabla d_{\Omega}| = 1$ everywhere in $\overline{\Omega}_{\varepsilon}$; and (4) follows from (1) using the Implicit Function Theorem and the fact that ∇d_{Ω} never vanishes on $\overline{\Omega}_{\varepsilon}$ by (3), together with a covering argument since S_t is clearly compact.

For (5), fix $f \in C^1(\overline{\Omega}_{\varepsilon})$ and for brevity write

$$F(t) := \int_{S_t} f \, \mathrm{d}\sigma.$$

We first claim that (6.10) is the distributional derivative of F. Indeed, for any test function $\varphi \in C_c^{\infty}(-\varepsilon,\varepsilon)$, we have

$$\int_{-\varepsilon}^{\varepsilon} F(t)\varphi(t) \, \mathrm{d}t = \int_{-\varepsilon}^{\varepsilon} \int_{S_t} f\varphi(t) \, \mathrm{d}\sigma \, \mathrm{d}t = \int_{\Omega_{\varepsilon}} f\varphi \circ d_{\Omega} \, \mathrm{d}x$$

by the coarea formula in the form of [26, Section 3.4.3], using the fact that the S_t are the level surfaces of d_{Ω} and $|\nabla d_{\Omega}| = 1$ everywhere by (3). In particular,

$$\int_{-\varepsilon}^{\varepsilon} F(t)\varphi'(t) dt = \int_{\Omega_{\varepsilon}} f\varphi' \circ d_{\Omega} dx = \int_{\Omega_{\varepsilon}} f\nabla d_{\Omega} \cdot \nabla(\varphi \circ d_{\Omega}) dx$$
$$= -\int_{\Omega_{\varepsilon}} \varphi \circ d_{\Omega} \operatorname{div}(f\nabla d_{\Omega}) dx = -\int_{-\varepsilon}^{\varepsilon} \varphi(t) \int_{S_{t}} \operatorname{div}(f\nabla d_{\Omega}) dx dt,$$

where for the second last equality we have used the divergence theorem (integration by parts) and the compact support of φ , and the last equality follows from another application of the coarea formula. The claim now follows from the short calculation

$$\operatorname{div}(f\nabla d_{\Omega}) = \nabla f \cdot \nabla d_{\Omega} + f\Delta d_{\Omega} = \partial_t f + f\Delta d_{\Omega},$$

valid pointwise in $\overline{\Omega}_{\varepsilon}$ since d_{Ω} is C^2 by (1), and using the fact that ∇d_{Ω} points in the direction of t by (3). We next note that the integrand in (6.10) is in $C(\overline{\Omega}_{\varepsilon})$ and hence a short argument using the compactness of S_t and the uniform continuity of the integrand shows that the integral in (6.10) is in fact in $C([-\varepsilon, \varepsilon])$; in particular, it is the pointwise derivative of F at every point in $(-\varepsilon, \varepsilon)$.

Finally, for (6.11), by what we have just shown we may apply the Fundamental Theorem of Calculus in the form of [63, Theorem 7.21] to the function F on the interval $[0, \varepsilon_1]$ (for any $\varepsilon_1 < \varepsilon$) to obtain

$$F(\varepsilon_1) - F(0) = \int_0^{\varepsilon_1} \int_{S_t} \partial_t f + f \Delta d_\Omega \, \mathrm{d}\sigma.$$

A final application of the coarea formula to the integral on the right-hand side, together with the definition of F, yields (6.11).

Proof of Lemma 6.5. The case of C^2 boundary. We keep the notation from (6.6), (6.7), (6.8) and (6.9) and note that it suffices to prove (6.5) for all $u \in C^1(\overline{\Omega})$, by density of the latter set in $H^1(\Omega)$ for bounded Ω of class C^2 (cf. [33, Section 7.6]) and the trace theorem. We let $\varepsilon > 0$ be as in Lemma 6.6 (in particular, by making ε a little smaller if necessary we assume that (6.11) holds with ε in place of ε_1) and choose a cut-off function $\varphi \in C^1(\overline{\Omega})$ such that $0 \leq \varphi \leq 1$ in $\overline{\Omega}$, $\varphi = 0$ outside Ω_{ε} , $\varphi|_{S_t}$ is constant for all $t \in [0, \varepsilon]$, and $\varphi|_{\partial\Omega} = 1$. (The existence of such a function is guaranteed by the regularity statements in Lemma 6.6: indeed, if we let $\psi \in C^{\infty}([0, \infty))$ be any smooth function satisfying $\psi(0) = 1$ and $\psi(t) = 0$ for all $t \geq \varepsilon$, then we may take $\varphi = \psi \circ d_{\Omega}$.)

Now fix $u \in C^1(\overline{\Omega})$ such that $||u||_2 = 1$. Then $f := |u|^2 \varphi \in C^1(\overline{\Omega})$ and we apply the formula (6.11) to f, and use the fact that $\varphi = 1$ on $\partial\Omega$ and $\varphi = 0$ on S_{ε} , to obtain

$$\begin{split} -\int_{\partial\Omega} |u|^2 \,\mathrm{d}\sigma &= \int_{\Omega_{\varepsilon}^+} \partial_t (|u|^2 \varphi) + |u|^2 \varphi \Delta d_\Omega \,\mathrm{d}x \\ &= \int_{\Omega_{\varepsilon}} 2\varphi \mathrm{Re} \left(\overline{u} \partial_t u \right) + |u|^2 \partial_t \varphi + |u|^2 \varphi \Delta d_\Omega \,\mathrm{d}x. \end{split}$$

Using the fact that $\varphi = 0$ on $\Omega \setminus \Omega_{\varepsilon}^+$, we may therefore estimate

$$\int_{\partial\Omega} |u|^2 \,\mathrm{d}\sigma \le 2\|\varphi\|_{\infty} \|u\|_2 \|\nabla u\|_2 + \|\nabla\varphi\|_{\infty} \|u\|_2^2 + \max_{x\in\overline{\Omega}_{\varepsilon}} |\Delta d_{\Omega}| \|\varphi\|_{\infty} \|u\|_2^2$$
$$= 2\|\nabla u\|_2 + \|\nabla\varphi\|_{\infty} + \max_{x\in\overline{\Omega}_{\varepsilon}^+} |\Delta d_{\Omega}(x)|$$

using the normalisation $||u||_2 = 1$ as well as $||\varphi||_{\infty} = 1$ (where all norms are over Ω). This proves (6.5) with

$$C_2 := \|\nabla\varphi\|_{\infty} + \max_{x \in \overline{\Omega_{\varepsilon}^+}} |\Delta d_{\Omega}(x)|.$$
(6.12)

The case of Lipschitz boundary. Since in the case of general Lipschitz domains the corresponding parametrisation of Ω_{ε} does not enjoy the same regularity properties, we give a different, local argument. Fix $z \in \partial\Omega$ and a neighbourhood \mathcal{U}_z of z such that within \mathcal{U}_z , $\partial\Omega$ is given by the graph of a Lipschitz function $g: \mathbb{R}^{d-1} \to \mathbb{R}$ such that $\Omega \cap \mathcal{U}_z$ lies in the region $\{(x_1, \ldots, x_d) : x_d < g(x_1, \ldots, x_{d-1})\}$ (where we use the notation $(x_1, \ldots, x_d) \in \mathbb{R}^d \simeq \mathbb{R}^{d-1} \times \mathbb{R}$). Then in this coordinate system, the normal vector to $\partial\Omega$ given by $\nu = (\nu_1, \ldots, \nu_d) : \partial\Omega \to \mathbb{R}^d$, which is an L^{∞} -function since $\partial\Omega$ is Lipschitz, satisfies

$$\operatorname{ess\,inf}\{\nu_d(y): y \in \partial\Omega \cap \mathcal{U}_z\} > 0. \tag{6.13}$$

Now fix a test function $\varphi \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ such that $0 \leq \varphi \leq 1$, $\varphi|_{\partial\Omega \cap \mathcal{U}_z} = 1$ and $\varphi(y) = 0$ for all $y \in \partial\Omega$ with $\nu_d(y) \leq 0$. (By shrinking the neighbourhood \mathcal{U}_z if necessary, we can always guarantee the existence of such a φ .)

Then for a given function $u \in H^1(\Omega)$ with $||u||_2 = 1$, we have

$$\operatorname{ess\,inf}_{y\in\partial\Omega\cap\mathcal{U}_z}\nu_d(y)\int_{\partial\Omega\cap\mathcal{U}_z}|u|^2\,\mathrm{d}\sigma\leq\int_{\partial\Omega}\varphi|u|^2\nu_d\,\mathrm{d}\sigma=\int_\Omega\frac{\partial}{\partial x_d}(\varphi|u|^2)\,\mathrm{d}x$$

by the divergence theorem applied to the function $F = (0, ..., 0, \varphi |u|^2) \in W^{1,1}(\Omega)$ and the Lipschitz domain Ω (see [56, Théorème 3.1.1]). The latter integral may be estimated by

$$\int_{\Omega} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_d} (\varphi |u|^2) \,\mathrm{d}x \le \|\nabla \varphi\|_{\infty} \|u\|_2^2 + 2\|\varphi\|_{\infty} \|\nabla u\|_2 \|u\|_2; \tag{6.14}$$

using the normalisations $||u||_2 = 1$, $||\varphi||_{\infty} = 1$, this estimate may be expressed as

$$\int_{\partial\Omega\cap\mathcal{U}_z} |u|^2 \,\mathrm{d}\sigma \le C_{1,z} \|\nabla u\|_2 + C_{2,z}$$

for suitable constants $C_{1,z}, C_{2,z} > 0$ depending on z. Since $\partial \Omega$ is compact, a simple covering argument now yields (6.5). Note that for every $z \in \partial \Omega$ we have $C_{1,z} = 2/\operatorname{ess\,inf}_{y \in \partial \Omega \cap \mathcal{U}_z} \nu_d(y) \ge 2$ since $|\nu| = 1$; hence also $C_1 \ge 2$.

Remark 6.7. For Lipschitz Ω , the above proof also yields the slightly different trace inequality

$$\int_{\partial\Omega} |u|^2 \,\mathrm{d}\sigma \le C(\Omega) \|u\|_{H^1} \|u\|_2 \tag{6.15}$$

for all $u \in H^1(\Omega)$, needed in the proof of Theorem 5.7. Indeed, by (6.14), we have

$$\underset{y \in \partial \Omega \cap \mathcal{U}_z}{\operatorname{ess inf}} \nu_d(y) \int_{\partial \Omega \cap \mathcal{U}_z} |u|^2 \, \mathrm{d}\sigma \leq \int_{\Omega} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_d} (\varphi |u|^2) \, \mathrm{d}x \leq \|\nabla \varphi\|_{\infty} \|u\|_2^2 + 2\|\varphi\|_{\infty} \|\nabla u\|_2 \|u\|_2 \\ \leq (\|\nabla \varphi\|_{\infty} + 2\|\varphi\|_{\infty}) \, \|u\|_{H^1} \|u\|_2,$$

leading to

$$\int_{\partial\Omega\cap\mathcal{U}_z} |u|^2 \,\mathrm{d}\sigma \le C_z \|u\|_{H^1} \|u\|_2$$

for all $u \in H^1(\Omega)$, for a constant $C_z > 0$ depending only on $z \in \partial \Omega$. A covering argument as in the above lemma then yields (6.15).

Proof of Theorem 6.1. Let $C_1 \ge 2$, $C_2 > 0$ be the constants from Lemma 6.5 (in particular, we assume $C_1 = 2$ if Ω is C^2). Fix $u \in H^1(\Omega)$ with $||u||_2 = 1$ and set

$$\lambda := \|\nabla u\|_2^2 + \int_{\partial\Omega} \alpha |u|^2 \, \mathrm{d}\sigma \in W(a_\alpha).$$

For $t := \|\nabla u\|_2^2 \ge 0$ and $s := \int_{\partial \Omega} |u|^2 \, \mathrm{d}\sigma \ge 0$, we have

$$\operatorname{Re} \lambda = t + \operatorname{Re} \alpha \cdot s, \qquad \operatorname{Im} \lambda = \operatorname{Im} \alpha \cdot s;$$

moreover, by Lemma 6.5, we obtain that $s \leq C_1 \sqrt{t} + C_2$; thus $\lambda \in \Lambda_{\Omega,\alpha}$.

To see that every $\lambda \in W(a_{\alpha})$, and hence every $\lambda \in \sigma(-\Delta_{\Omega}^{\alpha})$, satisfies the estimate (6.1), we first remark that if $\operatorname{Re} \alpha \geq 0$, then clearly $\Lambda_{\Omega,\alpha} \subset \{z \in \mathbb{C} : \operatorname{Re} z \geq 0\}$. Hence we may assume without loss of generality that $\operatorname{Re} \alpha < 0$. Then by Lemma 6.5 and the inequality

$$2\|\nabla u\|_{2} \leq \frac{C_{1}}{2}|\operatorname{Re} \alpha| + \frac{2}{C_{1}|\operatorname{Re} \alpha|}\|\nabla u\|_{2}^{2}$$

we have

$$\operatorname{Re} \lambda = \|\nabla u\|_{2}^{2} + \operatorname{Re} \alpha \int_{\partial \Omega} |u|^{2} \, \mathrm{d}\sigma \geq \|\nabla u\|_{2}^{2} - |\operatorname{Re} \alpha| \left[\frac{C_{1}}{2} \left(\frac{C_{1}}{2} |\operatorname{Re} \alpha| + \frac{2}{C_{1} |\operatorname{Re} \alpha|} \|\nabla u\|_{2}^{2} \right) + C_{2} \right]$$
$$= -\left(\frac{C_{1}}{2} \right)^{2} |\operatorname{Re} \alpha|^{2} - C_{2} |\operatorname{Re} \alpha|.$$

Remark 6.8. Suppose that $\partial\Omega$ is C^2 . We recall that the constant $C_2 = C_2(\Omega)$ appearing in Theorem 6.1 and Lemma 6.5, as noted in (6.12), may in this case be taken as

$$C_2 = \|\nabla\varphi\|_{\infty} + \max_{x \in \overline{\Omega_{\varepsilon}^+}} |\Delta d_{\Omega}(x)|,$$

where $\varepsilon > 0$ is as in Lemma 6.6 and φ is chosen to have support in $\overline{\Omega_{\varepsilon}^+}$. Let us be a bit more specific. We may take $\|\nabla \varphi\|_{\infty}$ to be $1/\varepsilon$, corresponding to a linear function of $t \in [0, \varepsilon]$ extended by 0 at $t = \varepsilon$ (which can be approximated arbitrarily well in the ∞ -norm by C^1 functions), while for $x \in \overline{\Omega_{\varepsilon}^+}$, it is known that the Hessian of the signed distance function is equal to the Weingarten map of the (unique) surface S_t passing through x, at x. In particular,

$$\left|\Delta d_{\Omega}(x)\right| = \left|\sum_{j=1}^{d-1} \kappa_{j}^{S_{t}}(x)\right| = (d-1) \left|\bar{\kappa}^{S_{t}}(x)\right|$$

where $\kappa_1^{S_t}(\cdot), \ldots, \kappa_d^{S_t}(\cdot)$ are the principal curvatures at a given point of S_t and $\bar{\kappa}^{S_t}$ is its mean curvature [10, Lemma 2.4.2 and Remark 2.4.4]. This means that the essentially optimal form of the constant C_2 coming from our proof – to be compared with the coefficient of α in (6.3) – is

$$C_2 = \varepsilon^{-1} + (d-1) \max_{t \in [0,\varepsilon]} \max_{x \in S_t} |\bar{\kappa}^{S_t}(x)|,$$
(6.16)

where $\varepsilon > 0$ is any constant for which Lemma 6.6(2) holds; in the language of [28], we may take any $\varepsilon \in (0, \operatorname{reach}(\partial\Omega)]$. As a simple example, in the case of a ball *B* of radius R > 0, since $\kappa_j^{S_t} \equiv 1/(R-t)$ for all *j* and we may take any $\varepsilon < R$, we thus end up with

$$\operatorname{Re} \lambda \ge -|\operatorname{Re} \alpha|^2 - \min_{r \in (0,R)} \left[\frac{1}{R-r} + \frac{d-1}{r} \right] |\operatorname{Re} \alpha| = -|\operatorname{Re} \alpha|^2 - \frac{d+2\sqrt{d-1}}{R} |\operatorname{Re} \alpha|, \tag{6.17}$$

which may be compared with the known bound and asymptotics for real negative α

$$-|\alpha|^2 - \frac{d-1}{R}|\alpha| > \lambda_1(-\Delta_B^{\alpha}) = -|\alpha|^2 - \frac{d-1}{R}|\alpha| + o(\alpha)$$

where the inequality is valid for all $\alpha < 0$ and the asymptotic expansion is for $\alpha \to -\infty$, see [5, Theorem 2 and eq. (1.2)].

Remark 6.9. If we allow variable $\alpha \in L^{\infty}(\partial\Omega, \mathbb{C})$, then it is clear that similar results hold since the key trace estimate, Lemma 6.5, does not depend on α , although the region $\Lambda_{\Omega,\alpha}$ can no longer be described explicitly in general. However, (6.1) has a direct equivalent: if we set

$$\|\operatorname{Re} \alpha\|_\infty := \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{x\in\partial\Omega} |\operatorname{Re} \alpha(x)|, \qquad \|\operatorname{Im} \alpha\|_\infty := \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{x\in\partial\Omega} |\operatorname{Im} \alpha(x)|,$$

then, mimicking the arguments of the proof of Theorem 6.1 we obtain the estimate

$$\operatorname{Re} \lambda \ge -\frac{C_1^2}{4} \|\operatorname{Re} \alpha\|_{\infty}^2 - C_2 \|\operatorname{Re} \alpha\|_{\infty}$$
(6.18)

for all $\lambda \in \sigma(-\Delta_{\Omega}^{\alpha})$, or more generally all $\lambda \in W(a_{\alpha})$, where $C_1 \geq 2$, $C_2 > 0$, and $C_1 = 2$ if $\partial\Omega$ is C^2 ; even in the case of real-valued α , this may be viewed as a partial generalisation of [52, Remark 1.1], which establishes the asymptotics for real-valued variable α of the form $\alpha = tb(x), t \to -\infty$, for a fixed function $b \in C(\partial\Omega)$. Moreover, we can still obtain parabolic estimates on the numerical range of the type necessary to ensure that Δ_{Ω}^{α} generates a cosine function (cf. Remark 6.4). For simplicity assume that $\operatorname{Re} \alpha(x) \geq 0$ almost everywhere (whence also $\operatorname{Re} \lambda \geq 0$ for any $\lambda \in W(a_{\alpha})$); then, with C_1, C_2 as above,

$$|\operatorname{Im} \lambda| = \left| \int_{\partial\Omega} \operatorname{Im} \alpha \, |u|^2 \, \mathrm{d}\sigma(x) \right| \le \|\operatorname{Im} \alpha\|_{\infty} (C_1 \|\nabla u\|_2 + C_2) \le \|\operatorname{Im} \alpha\|_{\infty} (C_1 \sqrt{\operatorname{Re} \lambda} + C_2), \tag{6.19}$$

independently of $\operatorname{Re} \alpha \geq 0$.

7. The Dirichlet-to-Neumann operator

From now on, we will be interested in the asymptotic behaviour of the eigenvalues of $-\Delta_{\Omega}^{\alpha}$ as $\alpha \to \infty$ in \mathbb{C} . To this end, we will exploit the duality between the Robin eigenvalue problem (1.1) and the eigenvalue problem

$$M(\lambda)g = \alpha g \tag{7.1}$$

of the Dirichlet-to-Neumann operator $M(\lambda)$ acting on $\partial\Omega$, defined for λ in the resolvent set of the Dirichlet Laplacian. For more information on this operator, we refer to, e.g., [9, 6, 11, 13, 23, 32, 53]; the relationship between this operator and the Robin Laplacian (at least for real α) is explored in [9, Section 2] and [6, Section 8], for example, and for complex α see for example [32, Section 3].

In order to define $M(\lambda)$, we first need to recall a solubility result for the inhomogeneous Dirichlet problem. Here and in what follows we fix a bounded Lipschitz domain $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$, $d \geq 2$, write tr $u = u|_{\partial\Omega}$ for the trace of a function $u \in H^1(\Omega)$ (though, as we have done previously, if there is no ambiguity we will tend to omit the "tr" notation), and recall that every $g \in H^{1/2}(\partial\Omega)$ is the trace of a function $u \in H^1(\Omega)$.

Lemma 7.1. Let $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$, $d \geq 2$, be a bounded Lipschitz domain and let $\lambda \in \varrho(-\Delta_{\Omega}^D) \subset \mathbb{C}$. For each $g \in H^{1/2}(\partial\Omega)$, the Dirichlet boundary value problem

$$\begin{aligned} -\Delta u &= \lambda u & \quad in \ \Omega, \\ u &= g & \quad on \ \partial \Omega, \end{aligned} \tag{7.2}$$

interpreted in the usual weak sense, has a unique solution $u_{\lambda} \in H^1(\Omega)$, that is, u_{λ} solves

$$\int_{\Omega} \nabla u \cdot \overline{\nabla v} \, \mathrm{d}x = \lambda \int_{\Omega} u \overline{v} \, \mathrm{d}x \tag{7.3}$$

for all $v \in H_0^1(\Omega)$, and tr u = g. Moreover, for such λ , if

$$H^{1}(\lambda) := \{ u \in H^{1}(\Omega) : -\Delta u = \lambda u \text{ in the sense of } (7.3) \},$$

$$(7.4)$$

then we have the direct sum decomposition $H^1(\Omega) = H^1_0(\Omega) \oplus H^1(\lambda)$.

Proof. For $\lambda \in \mathbb{R} \cap \varrho(-\Delta_{\Omega}^{D})$, this follows immediately from [9, Lemma 2.2], together with the fact that $H^{1/2}(\partial\Omega) = \operatorname{tr} H^{1}(\Omega)$; for general $\lambda \in \varrho(-\Delta_{\Omega}^{D})$ the same proof works verbatim.

We denote by $P(\lambda): H^{1/2}(\partial\Omega) \to H^1(\Omega)$ the Poisson operator given by

$$g \mapsto u_{\lambda},$$
 (7.5)

where u_{λ} solves (7.2), which is well defined for any $\lambda \in \varrho(-\Delta_{\Omega}^{D})$; indeed, one may show that $P(\lambda)$ is a bijection from $H^{1/2}(\partial\Omega)$ onto $H^{1}(\lambda)$ as defined in (7.4) and in fact a right inverse of the trace operator. We can now define the Dirichlet-to-Neumann operator. For $\lambda \in \varrho(-\Delta_{\Omega}^{D})$, we first define a sesquilinear form $q_{\lambda} : H^{1/2}(\partial\Omega) \times H^{1/2}(\partial\Omega) \to \mathbb{C}$ by

$$q_{\lambda}[g,h] = \int_{\Omega} \nabla P(\lambda)g \cdot \overline{\nabla P(\lambda)h} - \lambda P(\lambda)g \overline{P(\lambda)h} \,\mathrm{d}x.$$
(7.6)

The (negative) Dirichlet-to-Neumann operator $M(\lambda) : D(M(\lambda)) \subset L^2(\partial\Omega) \to L^2(\partial\Omega)$ is then the operator in $L^2(\partial\Omega)$ associated with $-q_{\lambda}$, which a short calculation shows to be given by

$$D(M(\lambda)) = \left\{ g \in H^{1/2}(\partial\Omega) : \frac{\partial}{\partial\nu} P(\lambda)g \in L^2(\partial\Omega) \right\},$$

$$M(\lambda) = -\frac{\partial}{\partial\nu} P(\lambda),$$
(7.7)

where the normal derivative $\frac{\partial}{\partial \nu} P(\lambda)g$ was defined in (3.5). In words, the Dirichlet-to-Neumann operator maps given *Dirichlet data* $g = \operatorname{tr} u$ to the *Neumann data* $-\frac{\partial u}{\partial \nu}$ of the same solution $u = P(\lambda)g$ of $-\Delta u = \lambda u$.

Lemma 7.2. Let $\lambda \in \varrho(-\Delta_{\Omega}^{D})$. The operator $-M(\lambda)$ is closed, densely defined and m-sectorial, and has compact resolvent in $L^{2}(\partial\Omega)$. In particular, its spectrum consists of eigenvalues of finite algebraic multiplicity.

Proof. Everything except the sectoriality follows immediately since $H^{1/2}(\partial\Omega)$ is densely and compactly embedded in $L^2(\partial\Omega)$, and q_{λ} is closed on $H^{1/2}(\partial\Omega)$. For the sectoriality of the operator, it suffices to show that q_{λ} is sectorial, that is, that there exist constants $\omega, \mu \in \mathbb{R}$ such that

$$\operatorname{Re} q_{\lambda}[g,g] + \omega \|g\|_{L^{2}(\partial\Omega)}^{2} \ge \mu \|g\|_{H^{1/2}(\partial\Omega)}^{2}$$

$$(7.8)$$

for all $g \in H^{1/2}(\partial\Omega)$; to prove (7.8), by the fact that the trace map is bounded from $H^1(\Omega)$ to $H^{1/2}(\partial\Omega)$ it certainly suffices to show that for any $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ there exists $\omega \ge 0$ such that

$$\int_{\Omega} |\nabla u|^2 - \operatorname{Re} \lambda |u|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x + \omega \int_{\partial \Omega} |u|^2 \, \mathrm{d}\sigma,$$

 $u \in H^1(\Omega)$, defines an equivalent norm on $H^1(\Omega)$. But this, in turn, follows immediately from Maz'ya's inequality in the form of [6, eq. (4)]. We conclude that q_{λ} and $M(\lambda)$ are sectorial. (See also [7, Corollary 2.2 and Section 4.4] for a slightly different but equivalent approach in the case of real λ , which can however be carried over verbatim to complex λ .)

Remark 7.3. (1) It may be shown that $D(M(\lambda)) = H^1(\partial\Omega)$ for any $\lambda \in \varrho(-\Delta_{\Omega}^D)$, use [55, Theorem 4.25] with s = 1/2; however, we will not need this.

(2) It is also possible to define the Dirichlet-to-Neumann operator for $\lambda \in \sigma(-\Delta_{\Omega}^{D})$, either as a multivalued operator, or by factoring out the eigenfunctions of the eigenvalue λ of the Dirichlet Laplacian from $H^{1}(\Omega)$. The conclusion of Lemma 7.2 continues to hold with appropriate modifications; all the details may be found in [9].

(3) In dimension d = 1, i.e. for a bounded, non-degenerate interval, the Dirichlet-to-Neumann operator can be represented by the 2 × 2-matrix given by (2.5). Obviously, Lemma 7.2 continues to hold in this case.

Lemma 7.4. The Dirichlet-to-Neumann operator $M(\lambda)$ is meromorphic with respect to the spectral parameter $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$. Its singularities are poles of finite order and coincide with the eigenvalues of the corresponding Dirichlet Laplacian, i.e., the set of singularities of $\lambda \mapsto M(\lambda)$ is $\sigma(-\Delta_{\Omega}^{D})$. For $\lambda \in \varrho(-\Delta_{\Omega}^{D})$, $M(\lambda)$, is a self-adjoint holomorphic operator family and the corresponding quadratic forms are holomorphic of type (a).

Proof. Suppose $\lambda \in \varrho(-\Delta_{\Omega}^{D})$. Then the Poisson operator $P(\lambda)$ given by (7.5) and its adjoint $P^{*}(\lambda)$: $H_{0}^{-1}(\Omega) \to H^{-1/2}(\partial\Omega)$ are well defined. We now invoke a perturbation formula for $M(\lambda)$ in terms of the fixed operator M(0) (see [13, Lemma 2.4 for $\mu = 0$]):

$$M(\lambda) = M(0) + \lambda P(0)^* \left(I + \lambda (-\Delta_{\Omega}^D - \lambda I)^{-1} \right) P(0).$$

$$(7.9)$$

This expression depends polynomially on λ and on the resolvent of the Dirichlet Laplacian which is known to be a meromorphic function with poles of finite order, as follows from Theorem 3.1. This proves that $M(\lambda)$, $\lambda \in \varrho(-\Delta_{\Omega}^{D})$, is a holomorphic operator family. It is self-adjoint holomorphic, i.e. $M(\overline{\lambda}) = (M(\lambda))^*$, by (7.9) and using that M(0) is self-adjoint and that $\varrho(-\Delta_{\Omega}^{D})$ is symmetric about the real axis. The corresponding quadratic forms q_{λ} are holomorphic of type (a) (see [40, Section VII.4.2]), where the sectoriality was proved in Lemma 7.2.

Remark 7.5. One can show by exactly the same argument as in the proof of Theorem 4.1 that the corresponding eigenprojections can be chosen to depend holomorphically on $\lambda \in \varrho(-\Delta_{\Omega}^{D})$.

We can now state the following duality result linking the eigenvalues of the operators $M(\lambda)$ and $-\Delta_{\Omega}^{\alpha}$. While this is standard, and in the case of real α and λ well known (see [9, Theorem 3.1]), for completeness' sake we give a proof. In fact, the connection between elliptic differential operators and operators of Dirichlet-to-Neumann type, or so-called Titchmarsh–Weyl *M*-functions, is also known in the non-selfadjoint case (see [16, Theorem 4.10]) but here we give a direct proof including the eigenfunctions.

Theorem 7.6. Let $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$, $d \geq 2$, be a bounded Lipschitz domain. For any $\alpha \in \mathbb{C}$ and any $\lambda \in \varrho(-\Delta_{\Omega}^D)$, we have that $\lambda \in \sigma(-\Delta_{\Omega}^{\alpha})$ if and only if $\alpha \in \sigma(M(\lambda))$. Moreover, u is an eigenfunction of $-\Delta_{\Omega}^{\alpha}$ corresponding to λ if and only if tr u is an eigenfunction of $M(\lambda)$ corresponding to α .

Proof. Note first that the spectra of $M(\lambda)$ and $-\Delta_{\Omega}^{\alpha}$ consist only of eigenvalues of finite multiplicity. Now $\lambda \in \sigma(-\Delta_{\Omega}^{\alpha})$ for given $\alpha \in \mathbb{C}$ with eigenfunction $u \in H^1(\Omega)$ if and only if

$$a_{\alpha}[u,v] = \int_{\Omega} \nabla u \cdot \overline{\nabla v} \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_{\partial \Omega} \alpha u \overline{v} \, \mathrm{d}\sigma = \lambda \int_{\Omega} u \overline{v} \, \mathrm{d}x \tag{7.10}$$

for all $v \in H^1(\Omega)$, while $\alpha \in \sigma(M(\lambda))$ for given $\lambda \in \varrho(-\Delta_{\Omega}^D)$ with eigenfunction $g \in H^{1/2}(\partial\Omega)$ if and only if

$$q_{\lambda}[g,h] = \int_{\Omega} \nabla P(\lambda)g \cdot \overline{\nabla P(\lambda)h} - \lambda P(\lambda)g \overline{P(\lambda)h} \, \mathrm{d}x = -\alpha \int_{\partial\Omega} g\overline{h} \, \mathrm{d}\sigma$$

for all $h \in H^{1/2}(\partial\Omega)$. Using the fact that $P(\lambda)g$ satisfies (7.3) together with the direct sum decomposition of Lemma 7.1, it follows that the eigenfunction g satisfies

$$\int_{\Omega} \nabla P(\lambda) g \cdot \overline{\nabla v} - \lambda P(\lambda) g \,\overline{v} \, \mathrm{d}x = -\alpha \int_{\partial \Omega} g \,\overline{\mathrm{tr} \, v} \, \mathrm{d}\sigma \tag{7.11}$$

for all $v \in H^1(\Omega)$. Comparing (7.10) and (7.11) leads immediately to the statement $\lambda \in \sigma(-\Delta_{\Omega}^{\alpha})$ if and only if $\alpha \in \sigma(M(\lambda))$ (as long as $\lambda \in \varrho(-\Delta_{\Omega}^{D})$), with $g = \operatorname{tr} u$, or, equivalently, $u = P(\lambda)g$.

Remark 7.7. A corresponding statement holds for any generalised eigenfunctions, as shown very recently in [12]. Indeed, suppose $\{u_0, u_1, \ldots, u_m\}$ and $\{\varphi_0, \varphi_1, \ldots, \varphi_n\}$ are Jordan chains of the operators $-\Delta_{\Omega}^{\alpha}$ and $M(\lambda)$, respectively, that is, the function u_0 is an eigenfunction of $-\Delta_{\Omega}^{\alpha}$ corresponding to an eigenvalue λ and u_1, \ldots, u_m are generalised eigenfunctions for λ , and that the same holds for $\varphi_0, \varphi_1, \ldots, \varphi_n$ and $M(\lambda)$ with respect to the eigenvalue α . Then we have n = m and the Jordan chains are characterised by tr $u_k = \varphi_k$ for $k = 0, \ldots, n$ [12, Theorem 4.1]. (Note that this theorem is proved for more general Schrödinger operators with complex Robin boundary conditions.)

Proof of Theorem 1.5. By Lemma 7.4 the Dirichlet-to-Neumann operator $M(\lambda)$ is a meromorphic operator family whose set of singularities consists of poles of finite order and coincides with the spectrum $\sigma(-\Delta_{\Omega}^{D})$ of the corresponding Dirichlet Laplacian. Now let $(\alpha_{k})_{k}$ be any complex sequence with $\alpha_{k} \to \infty$ as $k \to \infty$. Assume that the eigenvalues $\lambda_{k} := \lambda(\alpha_{k})$ on a common analytic branch remain bounded as $k \to \infty$; without loss of generality we may suppose that $\lambda_{k} \to \lambda_{0} \in \mathbb{C}$ as $k \to \infty$. Then by Theorem 7.6, for each k we may write $\alpha_{k} = \alpha(\lambda_{k})$ for the Dirichlet-to-Neumann eigenvalues, which likewise belong to a common analytic branch. For this branch we have $\alpha_{k} \to \infty$ as $\lambda_{k} \to \lambda_{0}$. By definition, this means that λ_{0} must be a singularity of the operator family $M(\lambda)$. The only possibility is that $\lambda_{0} \in \sigma(-\Delta_{\Omega}^{D})$.

8. The points of accumulation of the Robin eigenvalues

In this section we study the question of which values $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ can be reached as points of accumulation of the eigenvalues of $-\Delta_{\Omega}^{\alpha}$ as $\alpha \to \infty$, also in dependence on how $\alpha \to \infty$ in \mathbb{C} ; our principal aim is to prove Theorem 1.6. As mentioned in the introduction, the Dirichlet-to-Neumann operator will be used in the proof, more precisely of part (2). For (1), we will draw on some ideas similar to the ones of [19] for the case of real negative $\alpha \to -\infty$; in particular, the following lemma, which we will use repeatedly, recalls [19, Lemma 2.1]. Throughout this section we suppose $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ to be a fixed bounded Lipschitz domain; and for $A \subseteq \mathbb{C}$ the set of points of accumulation of A is denoted by $\operatorname{acc}(A)$.

Lemma 8.1. Let $(\alpha_k)_{k \in \mathbb{N}} \subset \mathbb{C}$ be any divergent sequence in \mathbb{C} and for each $k \in \mathbb{N}$ select a Robin eigenvalue $\lambda_k := \lambda(\alpha_k) \in \sigma(-\Delta_{\Omega}^{\alpha_k})$ (we do not require the λ_k to belong to the same analytic eigenvalue curve). Suppose that:

- (i) the sequence $(\lambda_k)_{k \in \mathbb{N}}$ is bounded, and
- (ii) for each $k \in \mathbb{N}$ there exists an associated eigenfunction ψ_k with $L^2(\Omega)$ -norm 1, such that the sequence $\{\|\psi_k\|_{H^1(\Omega)}\}_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$ of $H^1(\Omega)$ -norms is bounded.

Then

$$\operatorname{acc}\{\lambda_k : k \in \mathbb{N}\} \subseteq \sigma(-\Delta_{\Omega}^D).$$

Moreover, if up to a subsequence $\lambda_k \to \lambda \in \sigma(-\Delta_{\Omega}^D)$, then up to a further subsequence the ψ_k converge weakly in $H^1(\Omega)$ to a Dirichlet eigenfunction associated with λ .

Proof. Let λ be any point of accumulation; without loss of generality we suppose that $\lim_{k \to \infty} \lambda_k = \lambda$. We first claim that

$$\int_{\partial\Omega} |\psi_k|^2 \,\mathrm{d}\sigma \to 0;$$

in fact, this follows since

$$\int_{\partial\Omega} |\psi_k|^2 \,\mathrm{d}\sigma = \frac{1}{\alpha_k} \left[\lambda_k - \int_{\Omega} |\nabla \psi_k|^2 \,\mathrm{d}x \right]$$

for $\alpha_k \neq 0$, and by assumption the λ_k and $\int_{\Omega} |\nabla \psi_k|^2 dx$ are bounded. Next, since the ψ_k are bounded in $H^1(\Omega)$, up to a subsequence there exists $\psi \in H^1(\Omega)$ such that $\psi_k \rightharpoonup \psi$ weakly in $H^1(\Omega)$. The convergence is strong in $L^2(\Omega)$ by compactness of the embedding $H^1(\Omega) \hookrightarrow L^2(\Omega)$, while the traces converge in $L^2(\partial\Omega)$ by compactness of the trace mapping. In particular, ψ has zero trace, so $\psi \in H^1_0(\Omega)$. Finally, using the eigenvalue equation for λ_k and the weak H^1 -convergence of the ψ_k , for all $\varphi \in H^1_0(\Omega)$ (whose traces vanish) we have

$$\int_{\Omega} \nabla \psi \cdot \overline{\nabla \varphi} \, \mathrm{d}x = \lim_{k \to \infty} \int_{\Omega} \nabla \psi_k \cdot \overline{\nabla \varphi} \, \mathrm{d}x = \lim_{k \to \infty} \lambda_k \int_{\Omega} \psi_k \overline{\varphi} \, \mathrm{d}x = \lambda \int_{\Omega} \psi \overline{\varphi} \, \mathrm{d}x.$$

Since $\psi \in H_0^1(\Omega)$, this says exactly that λ is an eigenvalue, and ψ a corresponding eigenfunction, of the Dirichlet Laplacian.

We can now give the proof of Theorem 1.6(1); we will in fact prove the following slightly more precise version, which also allows us to conclude convergence of the eigenfunctions. As before, we do not require our eigenvalues to belong to the same analytic curve. Finally, we recall that the sector T_{θ}^{-} was introduced in Definition 2.2.

Theorem 8.2. Let $(\alpha_k)_{k \in \mathbb{N}}$ be any divergent sequence in the sector $\mathbb{C} \setminus T_{\theta}^-$ for some $\theta > 0$, and for each $k \in \mathbb{N}$ let $\lambda_k := \lambda(\alpha_k) \in \sigma(-\Delta_{\Omega}^{\alpha_k})$ be any corresponding eigenvalue. Then

$$\operatorname{acc}\{\lambda_k : k \in \mathbb{N}\} \subseteq \sigma(-\Delta_{\Omega}^D).$$

Moreover, if up to a subsequence $\lambda_k \to \lambda \in \sigma(-\Delta_{\Omega}^D)$, then there exist eigenfunctions for λ_k which, possibly up to a further subsequence, converge weakly to a Dirichlet eigenfunction for λ .

Proof of Theorem 8.2 and hence of Theorem 1.6(1). It suffices to show that under the stated assumptions if the λ_k (or any subsequence thereof) are bounded, then they always admit eigenfunctions ψ_k which are bounded in $H^1(\Omega)$ under the normalisation $\|\psi_k\|_2 = 1$, since we may then directly apply Lemma 8.1 in order to obtain the conclusion of the theorem. To this end, first assume without loss of generality that the sequence λ_k actually converges to some $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$; we distinguish between two possibilities, which together completely cover the sector $\mathbb{C} \setminus T_{\theta}^-$: (i) Re $\alpha_k \geq 0$ for all $k \in \mathbb{N}$; (ii) $\left| \frac{\operatorname{Re} \alpha_k}{\operatorname{Im} \alpha_k} \right|$ remains bounded.

In case (i), we suppose that, for each λ_k , ψ_k is any associated eigenfunction such that $\|\psi_k\|_2 = 1$ and simply observe that

$$\int_{\Omega} |\nabla \psi_k|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x + \operatorname{Re} \alpha_k \int_{\partial \Omega} |\psi_k|^2 \, \mathrm{d}\sigma = \operatorname{Re} \lambda_k \to \operatorname{Re} \lambda.$$

Since $\operatorname{Re} \alpha_k \geq 0$, this is only possible if the sequence $(\|\nabla \psi_k\|_{2}^2)_{k \in \mathbb{N}}$ remains bounded, which in turn means that the ψ_k form a bounded sequence in $H^1(\Omega)$.

For (ii), we let the ψ_k be as before but now consider the imaginary parts: we have that

$$\operatorname{Im} \alpha_k \int_{\partial \Omega} |\psi_k|^2 \, \mathrm{d}\sigma = \operatorname{Im} \lambda_k \to \operatorname{Im} \lambda_k$$

by assumption on the α_k , this means that

$$\operatorname{Re} \alpha_k \int_{\partial \Omega} |\psi_k|^2 \, \mathrm{d}\sigma \quad \text{and hence also} \quad \alpha_k \int_{\partial \Omega} |\psi_k|^2 \, \mathrm{d}\sigma$$

must in particular remain bounded as $k \to \infty$. Since λ_k was also assumed bounded, we conclude that

$$\int_{\Omega} |\nabla \psi_k|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x = \lambda_k - \alpha_k \int_{\partial \Omega} |\psi_k|^2 \, \mathrm{d}\sigma$$

likewise remains bounded (recall that $\|\psi_k\|_2 = 1$), meaning that the ψ_k are bounded in $H^1(\Omega)$.

We next turn to the proof of Theorem 1.6(2). This is in fact an immediate application of the fact that the Dirichlet-to-Neumann operator is unbounded.

Proof of Theorem 1.6(2). First suppose that $\lambda \notin \sigma(-\Delta_{\Omega}^{D})$ and let $M(\lambda)$ be the Dirichlet-to-Neumann operator introduced in Section 7 (see (7.7)). Then by Lemma 7.2, $M(\lambda)$ admits a sequence of eigenvalues $\alpha_k \in \mathbb{C}$ such that $|\alpha_k| \to \infty$. By Theorem 7.6, for each such $\alpha_k \in \mathbb{C}$, we have that $\lambda \in \sigma(-\Delta_{\Omega}^{\alpha_k})$.

For $\lambda \in \sigma(-\Delta_{\Omega}^{D})$ the argument is the same except that $M(\lambda)$ becomes a multivalued operator; see Remark 7.3(2).

Remark 8.3. We draw explicit attention to the marked contrast between parts (1) and (2) of Theorem 1.6: on the one hand, for α diverging away from the negative real semiaxis (more precisely outside the sector T_{θ}^{-} for arbitrarily small $\theta > 0$), all eigenvalues either diverge absolutely or converge to points in the Dirichlet spectrum. Moreover, this is not just true of the individual analytic curves of eigenvalues but for any arbitrary sequence of eigenvalues in this region.

On the other hand, for any $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ we can find an infinite sequence of parameters α_k , which must end up "close" to the negative real semi-axis, for which λ is a Robin eigenvalue (this is where the sufficiently large eigenvalues of the Dirichlet-to-Neumann operator $M(\lambda)$ are to be found, for any λ). Thus the whole of \mathbb{C} can be obtained as points of accumulation if we place no restriction on α . The reason why this is not inconsistent with Theorem 1.5 is that there we are interested in the behaviour of the analytic curves of eigenvalues (rather than sequences of α_k which may be drawn from different analytic curves).

9. HIGHER-DIMENSIONAL EXAMPLES: THE HYPERRECTANGLE AND THE BALL

9.1. The interval revisited. We first return to the one-dimensional case sketched in Section 2. We start by giving the remaining details, in particular the proofs of Theorems 2.1 and 2.4. We will later use results to discuss the eigenvalue asymptotics for higher dimensional rectangles, in Section 9.2.

9.1.1. On the Dirichlet-to-Neumann matrix. The general solution u of the Dirichlet problem on the open interval $\Omega = (-a, a)$ for a > 0 (2.2) with Dirichlet data $g = (g_1, g_2)^T \in \mathbb{C}^2$ is given by

$$u(x) = C_{+}\cos(\sqrt{\lambda}x) + C_{-}\sin(\sqrt{\lambda}x).$$
(9.1)

The coefficients C_+ and C_- are given by

$$C_{+} := \frac{g_{2} + g_{1}}{2\cos(\sqrt{\lambda}a)}$$
 and $C_{-} := \frac{g_{2} - g_{1}}{2\sin(\sqrt{\lambda}a)},$ (9.2)

where $C_{+} = 0$ if u is odd and $C_{-} = 0$ if u is even. The normal derivatives of u read

$$-u'(-a) = \sqrt{\lambda} \left(-\frac{g_2 + g_1}{2} \tan \sqrt{\lambda}a - \frac{g_2 - g_1}{2} \cot \sqrt{\lambda}a \right),$$

and similarly

$$u'(+a) = \sqrt{\lambda} \left(-\frac{g_2 + g_1}{2} \tan \sqrt{\lambda}a + \frac{g_2 - g_1}{2} \cot \sqrt{\lambda}a \right)$$

meaning that the $\mathbb{C}^{2\times 2}$ -valued Dirichlet-to-Neumann operator is given by

$$M(\lambda) = \frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{2} \begin{pmatrix} \tan\sqrt{\lambda}a - \cot\sqrt{\lambda}a & \tan\sqrt{\lambda}a + \cot\sqrt{\lambda}a \\ \tan\sqrt{\lambda}a + \cot\sqrt{\lambda}a & \tan\sqrt{\lambda}a - \cot\sqrt{\lambda}a \end{pmatrix}.$$
(9.3)

The expression (2.5) for $M(\lambda)$ used in Section 2 then follows from the identities

$$\tan z - \cot z = -2 \cot 2z$$
 and $\tan z + \cot z = 2 \csc 2z$

for $z \neq 0$.

9.1.2. The convergent eigenvalues. We begin with the easy case of the eigenvalues which remain bounded as $\alpha \to \infty$.

Proof of Theorem 2.1. The poles of cot and csc are of order one, and thus so are the poles of the meromorphic Dirichlet-to-Neumann operator $M(\lambda)$ given by (2.5). If $\lambda(\alpha)$ remains bounded as $\alpha \to \infty$ in \mathbb{C} , the only possibility for this behaviour is that $\sqrt{\lambda}$ approaches one of said poles, namely $\sqrt{\lambda} \to \pi j/(2a)$ for any $j \in \mathbb{Z}$, that is $\lambda \to \pi^2 j^2/(4a^2)$ as $\alpha \to \infty$.

Remark 9.1. In principle, one could derive additional terms in the asymptotic expansion of $\lambda(\alpha)$ as $\alpha \to \infty$, in powers of α^{-1} ; let us sketch briefly how one might get further information. The poles being the eigenvalues of the Dirichlet Laplacian allows us to obtain a partial fraction decomposition $M(\lambda) = A_j/(\sqrt{\lambda} - \sqrt{\lambda_j}) + G_j(\sqrt{\lambda})$ for a matrix-valued function G_j which is holomorphic (thus bounded) in a neighbourhood of $\sqrt{\lambda_j}$, and matrices A_j . Calculating the residues $\pm \pi j/(2a^2)$ of the on- and off-diagonal components of $M(\lambda)$, we can write down A_j explicitly, which, together with the bounded G_j terms, may yield a more detailed statement.

9.1.3. Divergence away from the positive real axis. We next consider the case of the eigenvalues λ diverging to ∞ away from the positive real axis, that is, for which $\text{Im }\sqrt{\lambda} \to \pm \infty$. We recall from Section 2 that then the matrix $M(\lambda)$ has two divergent eigenvalues α whose squares both behave like

$$\alpha^2 = -\lambda + \mathcal{O}_{\pm} \left(\lambda \mathrm{e}^{\pm 2a \mathrm{Im} \sqrt{\lambda}} \right). \tag{9.4}$$

This equation implies the anticipated asymptotic behaviour $\lambda \sim -\alpha^2$, however, we are also interested in the asymptotic remainder term. Consequently, our next goal is to invert this equation from $\alpha(\lambda)$ to obtain the asymptotic equation for $\lambda(\alpha)$ and thus the proof of Theorem 2.4.

We will restrict ourselves to the case $\operatorname{Im} \sqrt{\lambda} \to +\infty$. We first sketch the idea behind our inversion, namely an application of Rouché's theorem, because we will also use this again in Section 9.3 when considering the ball. Let $\tau \geq 0$ and let $h : \mathbb{C} \to \mathbb{C}$ be a continuous function such that $h(z) \to 0$ as $\operatorname{Im} z \to +\infty$. Suppose that $\alpha = \alpha(\lambda)$, as a holomorphic function of λ , satisfies the asymptotics

$$\alpha(\lambda) = i\sqrt{\lambda} + \tau + g(\sqrt{\lambda}) \tag{9.5}$$

as Im $\sqrt{\lambda} \to +\infty$ for a certain error term $g(\sqrt{\lambda})$ which is $\mathcal{O}(h(\sqrt{\lambda}))$; for the choice of h see (2.10) for the interval and (9.27) for the ball. For given λ and hence $\alpha = \alpha(\lambda)$, we define a new holomorphic function f_{α} by $f_{\alpha}(z) := iz + \tau - \alpha$, whose only zero is given by $z_{\alpha} := i(\tau - \alpha)$. Then (9.5) becomes

$$f_{\alpha}(z) + g(z) = 0$$

if and only if $z = \sqrt{\lambda(\alpha)}$. Let $B^{\alpha} := B_{r_{\alpha}}(z_{\alpha})$ be a ball with centre z_{α} and some given radius $r_{\alpha} > 0$. Then, by Rouché's theorem, if α is sufficiently large and $|g| < |f_{\alpha}|$ on ∂B^{α} , both f_{α} and $f_{\alpha} + g$ have exactly one zero in B^{α} .

This technique proves not only the existence of an eigenvalue of the Robin Laplacian that satisfies said asymptotics, but gives an error term in the asymptotic expansion of $\lambda(\alpha)$ as follows. By construction, for each $z \in \partial B^{\alpha}$ we have $|f_{\alpha}(z)| = r_{\alpha}$. Moreover, $g = \mathcal{O}(h)$ as $\text{Im } z \to +\infty$ implies the existence of some constant $\delta > 0$, such that

$$|g(z)| \le \delta |h(z)| \tag{9.6}$$

on ∂B^{α} for all sufficiently large α . For all such α we want r_{α} to satisfy

$$\delta |h(z)| < r_{\alpha}, \quad z \in \partial B^{\alpha}. \tag{9.7}$$

To ensure this inequality, the decay of h is crucial: if it is too slow, then the method fails. This will be clarified in the following proof.

Proof of Theorem 2.4. The eigenvalues α_{\pm} of the Dirichlet-to-Neumann matrix (2.5) read

$$\alpha_{\pm} = \sqrt{\lambda} \left(\pm \csc(2a\sqrt{\lambda}) - \cot(2a\sqrt{\lambda}) \right). \tag{9.8}$$

As $\alpha \to \infty$ in \mathbb{C} we have either $|\sqrt{\lambda}| \to \infty$ or $\sqrt{\lambda}$ is forced to approach a zero of $\sin(2a \cdot)$, which corresponds to a Dirichlet eigenvalue. The second case, in particular, requires λ to remain bounded and

thus is covered by Theorem 2.1 (alternatively, one could adapt the proof of Theorem 1.6 to dimension d = 1). We divide the proof into four steps:

Step 1: We assume that for some given $\theta \in (0, \pi)$ some Robin eigenvalue λ diverges to ∞ away from the real axis, inside the sector S^+_{θ} which, in particular, yields $\operatorname{Im} \sqrt{\lambda} \to +\infty$. In Section 2.2 we saw that for this behaviour of $\sqrt{\lambda}$ we obtain

$$\alpha = +i\sqrt{\lambda} + \mathcal{O}\left(\sqrt{\lambda}e^{-2a\operatorname{Im}\sqrt{\lambda}}\right)$$

as Im $\sqrt{\lambda} \to \infty$; for more details see (2.8)-(2.11). (The other case Im $\sqrt{\lambda} \to -\infty$ will be discussed in Step 3.)

Step 2: It remains to invert this asymptotical behaviour by means of the Rouché inversion technique sketched above and to show, based on the assumed asymptotic behaviour of α , the existence of exactly two (see Step 3 and 4) divergent eigenvalues λ which obey (2.12) away from the real axis. Here we deal with the inversion; as mentioned before, we will only consider the case Im $\sqrt{\lambda} \to +\infty$ in detail. So let $\tau = 0$, that is $f_{\alpha}(z_{\alpha}) = 0$ for $z_{\alpha} = -i\alpha$. Here we take $h(z) := ze^{-2a\operatorname{Im} z}$, which satisfies $h(z) \to 0$ as Im $z \to +\infty$. By construction, every point $z \in \partial B^{\alpha}$ is represented by

$$z = z_{\alpha} + r_{\alpha} e^{i\varphi} = -i\alpha + r_{\alpha} e^{i\varphi} \tag{9.9}$$

for some $\varphi \in [0, 2\pi)$. Our goal is to estimate h as in (9.7): a short calculation using (9.9) gives

$$|h(z)| = |ze^{-2a\operatorname{Im} z}| = |(-i\alpha + r_{\alpha}e^{i\varphi})\exp\left[-2a\operatorname{Im}\left(-i\alpha + r_{\alpha}e^{i\varphi}\right)\right]|$$

$$\leq (|\alpha| + r_{\alpha})\exp\left(2ar_{\alpha}\right)\exp\left(2a\operatorname{Re}\left(\alpha\right)\right).$$

We now choose r_{α} to ensure (9.7) on ∂B^{α} . To this end, it suffices to find $r_{\alpha} > 0$ such that

$$\delta\left(\left|\alpha\right| + r_{\alpha}\right) e^{2a\operatorname{Re}\alpha} < r_{\alpha}e^{-2ar_{\alpha}} \tag{9.10}$$

for sufficiently large α . To show this, we make the Ansatz

$$r_{\alpha} = C |\alpha| \mathrm{e}^{2a \operatorname{Re} \alpha} \tag{9.11}$$

for a suitable constant C > 0 (in fact we may take any $C > \delta$). Then, for such an r_{α} , (9.10) is equivalent to

$$\delta |\alpha| \mathrm{e}^{2a \mathrm{Re}\,\alpha} \left(1 + C \mathrm{e}^{2a \mathrm{Re}\,\alpha} \right) \mathrm{e}^{2Ca |\alpha| \mathrm{e}^{2a \mathrm{Re}\,\alpha}} < C |\alpha| \mathrm{e}^{2a \mathrm{Re}\,\alpha},$$

that is,

$$\delta \left(1 + C \mathrm{e}^{2a \mathrm{Re}\,\alpha}\right) \mathrm{e}^{2Ca|\alpha|\mathrm{e}^{2a \mathrm{Re}\,\alpha}} < C. \tag{9.12}$$

Since $Ce^{2a\operatorname{Re}\alpha} \to 0$ and $e^{2Ca|\alpha|e^{2a\operatorname{Re}\alpha}} \to 1$ as $\operatorname{Re}\alpha \to -\infty$, the left-hand side of (9.12) converges to δ and hence (9.10) is satisfied whenever $\operatorname{Re}\alpha$ is sufficiently large negative, how large depending only on a, δ and C. In particular, for the Ansatz (9.11), the inequality (9.10) is then valid.

We arrive at

$$\sqrt{\lambda}(\alpha) = -\mathrm{i}\alpha + \mathcal{O}\left(\alpha \mathrm{e}^{2a\mathrm{Re}\,\alpha}\right)$$

as $\operatorname{Re} \alpha \to -\infty$, and thus

 $\lambda(\alpha) = -\alpha^2 + \mathcal{O}\left(\alpha^2 \mathrm{e}^{2a\operatorname{Re}\alpha}\right).$

Step 3: We remark briefly on the adaptation of the above proof to the assumption $\text{Im } \sqrt{\lambda} \to -\infty$: one now chooses $f_{\alpha}(z) = -iz - \alpha$ which vanishes only for $z_{\alpha} = +i\alpha$. Similar calculations as above lead to

$$\sqrt{\lambda(\alpha)} = +i\alpha + \mathcal{O}\left(\alpha e^{2a\operatorname{Re}\alpha}\right) \tag{9.13}$$

as $\operatorname{Re} \alpha \to -\infty$.

Step 4 – Conclusion: We obtain that in both cases $\operatorname{Im} \sqrt{\lambda} \to \pm \infty$ the real part $\operatorname{Re} \alpha$ is always negative and divergent, that is, each divergent $\sqrt{\lambda}$ within a sector of the form S_{θ}^+ or S_{θ}^- (note that $\sqrt{\lambda} \in S_{\theta}^+$) iff $-\sqrt{\lambda} \in S_{\theta}^-$) corresponds to $\sqrt{\lambda} \sim i\alpha$ and $\sqrt{\lambda} \sim -i\alpha$, respectively. We conclude that, under the assumption that α diverges in a sector T_{φ}^- with $\varphi \in (0, \pi/2)$, then there are exactly two divergent eigenvalues $\lambda \in \mathbb{C} \setminus T_{2\theta}^+$, and these both satisfy $\lambda \sim -\alpha^2$ as $\operatorname{Re} \alpha \to -\infty$. Moreover, this implies that if $\operatorname{Re} \alpha$ remains bounded from below, then there are no divergent eigenvalues $\lambda \to \infty$ in $\mathbb{C} \setminus T_{\theta}^+$ for any $0 < \theta < \pi/2$. 9.1.4. Divergence near the positive real axis. Finally, we return to the case where λ diverges near the positive real axis, say, in such a way that $\operatorname{Im} \lambda \neq 0$ (and hence $\operatorname{Im} \sqrt{\lambda}$) remains bounded. In this case the asymptotics of the Dirichlet-to-Neumann matrix is less obvious: each of its entries is meromorphic with poles on the real axis and those on the off-diagonal do not vanish asymptotically if $\operatorname{Im} \sqrt{\lambda}$ remains bounded. Since poles and zeros of the Dirichlet-to-Neumann operator $M(\lambda)$ correspond to Dirichlet and Neumann eigenvalues, respectively, which are discrete points on the real axis, the chosen path will pass arbitrarily closely to every single one of them. The question arises which associated paths of α in the complex plane correspond to such λ paths.



FIGURE 9.1. On the left a path in the λ -plane from one pole λ_1 of the Dirichlet-to-Neumann operator to the next one λ_2 while passing a zero (the second Neumann eigenvalue μ_2). On the right-hand side the real curve $\lambda(\alpha) \in \mathbb{R}$ increasing from λ_1 to λ_2 as $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ tends from $-\infty$ to $+\infty$ [18, Section 4.3].

It would appear that any such λ path requires Re α to be unbounded from below, cf. Figure 9.1. The explicit form of $M(\lambda)$ (2.5) allows us to calculate its two eigenvalues α_{\pm} explicitly, that is, for $z = 2\sqrt{\lambda a}$,

$$\alpha_{\pm} = \sqrt{\lambda} \left(-\cot z \pm \csc z \right) = -i\sqrt{\lambda} \left(\frac{e^{2iz} + 1}{e^{2iz} - 1} \mp \frac{2e^{iz}}{e^{2iz} - 1} \right) = \pm i\sqrt{\lambda} \frac{e^{iz} \mp 1}{e^{iz} \pm 1}.$$
(9.14)

From this equation it follows that $\alpha \sim \pm i\sqrt{\lambda}$ as $\operatorname{Im}\sqrt{\lambda} \to \infty$ in \mathbb{C} which is the same result as calculated in (2.10). However, consider $\sqrt{\lambda} = \sqrt{\lambda}(\tau)$ following some (continuous) path described by $\sqrt{\lambda} = x(\tau) + iy(\tau)$ for an unbounded function $x : [0, 1) \to \mathbb{R}$ which diverges as $\tau \to 1$ and some bounded $y : [0, 1) \to \mathbb{R}$. Firstly note that, since the imaginary part y of $\sqrt{\lambda}$ remains bounded, for each such path and each sector T_{θ}^{\pm} there exists some $\tau_{\theta} \in [0, 1)$ such that $\sqrt{\lambda} \in T_{\theta}^{\pm}$ for all $\tau_{\theta} < \tau < 1$; up to a possibly different $\theta > 0$ so too does λ . Secondly, the boundedness of $\operatorname{Im}\lambda$ implies $y = \mathcal{O}(1/x)$. Without loss of generality, we consider α_+ ; from

$$\alpha_{+} = (ix - y) \frac{e^{2iax} - e^{2ay}}{e^{2iax} + e^{2ay}}$$

by a somewhat tideous calculation we arrive at

$$\operatorname{Re} \alpha_{+} = \frac{1}{2} \frac{y \left(1 - e^{4ay}\right)}{\cosh(2ay) - \cos(2ax)} - \frac{x \sin(2ax)}{\cosh(2ay) - \cos(2ax)}.$$

Both denominators are bounded (and they can only vanish if y = 0) and so is the numerator of the first quotient. The second numerator, however, diverges (indefinitely) as $x = \operatorname{Re} \sqrt{\lambda} \to \infty$.

This proves Proposition 2.6.

9.2. Hyperrectangles. Based on our understanding of the interval we can easily obtain results for *d*-dimensional *hyperrectangles*, sometimes called cuboids or rectangular parallelepipeds. Fix the dimension $d \ge 2$, choose intervals $(-a_j, a_j)$ for $a_1, \ldots, a_d > 0$, and set

$$Q := (-a_1, a_1) \times \cdots \times (-a_d, a_d).$$

Denote the one-dimensional Robin Laplacian on the edge $e_j := (-a_j, a_j)$ for $j = 1, \ldots, d$ by \mathcal{A}_j ; then there exists a sequence of eigenvalues $\{\lambda_k(\alpha)\}_{k\geq 1} \subseteq \sigma(-\Delta_Q^{\alpha}) \subset \mathbb{C}$ of the Robin Laplacian $-\Delta_Q^{\alpha}$ on Qsuch that each eigenvalue is given by a sum of eigenvalues of the constituent operators \mathcal{A}_j , that is

$$\lambda_k(\alpha) = \sum_{j=1}^d \lambda^{(j)}(\alpha), \tag{9.15}$$

where $\lambda^{(j)} \in \sigma(\mathcal{A}_j)$; indeed, each sum $\lambda^{(1)} + \cdots + \lambda^{(d)}$ equals an eigenvalue of $-\Delta_Q^{\alpha}$.

Remark 9.2. By Theorem 5.7 (2) we know that in d = 1 dimension and for each $\alpha \in \mathbb{C}$ there exists a Riesz basis of $L^2((-a,a))$ consisting of the eigenfunctions of $-\Delta^{\alpha}_{(-a,a)}$. Now let $d \ge 2$; for the d-dimensional hyperrectangle $Q \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ it follows by separation of variables and using orthogonality of the coordinate axes that there exists a Riesz basis of $L^2(Q)$ consisting of products of the one-dimensional eigenfunctions of the operators $-\Delta_{(-a_i,a_i)}^{\alpha}$ for $j = 1, \ldots, d$, which correspond to the eigenvalues of the form (9.15). Now the basis property (in particular the linear independence) implies that all eigenvalues of $-\Delta_Q^{\alpha}$ are of the form in (9.15).

Theorems 2.1 and 2.4 state that, if $\alpha \to \infty$ in a sector of the form T_{φ}^{-} for some $0 < \varphi < \pi/2$, on each e_j there are two eigenvalues of \mathcal{A}_j , call them $\lambda_1^{(j)}, \lambda_2^{(j)}$, which diverge like $-\alpha^2$. Consequently, since a single diverging eigenvalue of \mathcal{A}_j can be added to d-1 non-divergent eigenvalues

on the remaining edges, and for each divergent one we have infinitely many choices, there are infinitely many divergent eigenvalues of $-\Delta_Q^{\alpha}$ which behave like $-2\alpha^2$. In the next step we choose two divergent eigenvalues $\lambda^{(1)}$ of \mathcal{A}_1 and $\lambda^{(2)}$ of \mathcal{A}_2 and d-2 non-divergent eigenvalues of $\mathcal{A}_3, \ldots, \mathcal{A}_d$. Adding everything up we obtain infinitely many eigenvalues of $-\Delta_Q^{\alpha}$ behaving like $-2\alpha^2$. We proceed successively up to step (d-1) to obtain infinitely many eigenvalues that behave like $-(d-1)\alpha^2$. However, the last step works differently: since there are two divergent eigenvalues for each \mathcal{A}_j , we obtain not infinitely many but 2^d possibilities for an eigenvalue of $-\Delta_Q^{\alpha}$ to satisfy the asymptotics $-d\alpha^2$. This results in the following theorem.

Theorem 9.3. Let $Q \subset \mathbb{R}^d$, $d \geq 2$, be a hyperrectangle and suppose that $\alpha \to \infty$ in a sector of the form T_{φ}^{-} for some $\varphi \in (0, \pi/2)$ (see Definition 2.2). Then for each $j = 1, \ldots, d-1$ there are infinitely many divergent eigenvalues $\lambda(\alpha)$ of $-\Delta_Q^{\alpha}$ such that the leading term asymptotics reads $\lambda(\alpha) \sim -j\alpha^2$ and 2^d eigenvalues which behave like $\lambda(\alpha) \sim -d\alpha^2$.

Remark 9.4. As already mentioned in Section 1 there are several results on the eigenvalue asymptotics for domains with less regularity and real parameter α . However, there are no results for general Lipschitz domains but only for those having a finite number of "model corners". Just like in the case of real α [18] we expect that the asymptotics is mainly driven by the "most acute" corner(s) of the domain – the sharper the corner(s), the larger the (negative) leading coefficient of the asymptotics.

9.3. *d*-dimensional balls. We next consider the model case of higher dimensional balls

$$\Omega = B = B_1(0) \subset \mathbb{R}^d$$

in dimension $d \geq 2$. We will use the notation $\partial B = \mathbb{S}^{d-1}$ interchangeably.

9.3.1. On spherical harmonics. We briefly recall a few properties of the eigenvalues and eigenfunctions of the Laplace-Beltrami operator on \mathbb{S}^{d-1} , which will be useful in the sequel. Details can be found in [25, Section 2.2].

Definition 9.5. For $l \in \mathbb{N}_0$ let $\mathcal{P}_l^{\mathbb{C}}(d)$ denote the space of all homogeneous polynomials of degree l in dvariables with complex coefficients and define

- $\begin{aligned} (1) \quad \mathcal{P}_l^{\mathbb{C}}(\mathbb{S}^{d-1}) &:= \left\{ P|_{\mathbb{S}^{d-1}} : P \in \mathcal{P}_l^{\mathbb{C}}(d) \right\}, \\ (2) \quad \mathcal{H}_l^{\mathbb{C}}(d) &:= \left\{ P \in \mathcal{P}_l^{\mathbb{C}}(d) : \Delta P = 0 \right\}, \\ (3) \quad \mathcal{H}_l^{\mathbb{C}}(\mathbb{S}^{d-1}) &:= \left\{ P|_{\mathbb{S}^{d-1}} : P \in H_l^{\mathbb{C}}(d) \right\}. \end{aligned}$

Theorem 9.6. Let E_l be the complex eigenspaces of the Laplace-Beltrami operator Δ_{ω} on \mathbb{S}^{d-1} . Then we have $E_l = \mathcal{H}_l^{\mathbb{C}}(\mathbb{S}^{d-1}),$

$$M_l^d := \dim E_l = \dim \mathcal{H}_l^{\mathbb{C}}(\mathbb{S}^{d-1}) = \binom{d+l-1}{l-1} - \binom{d+l-3}{l-1},$$

and

$$L^2_{\mathbb{C}}(\mathbb{S}^{d-1}) = \bigoplus_{l=0}^{\infty} E_l.$$

The E_l are eigenspaces of the Laplace-Beltrami operator and one can calculate that the corresponding eigenvalues $-\mu_l^2$ in $-\Delta_{\omega} Y_{l,j} = \mu_k^2 Y_{l,j}$ are given by $-\mu_l^2 = -l(d+l-2)$.

9.3.2. The Dirichlet Laplacian and Dirichlet-to-Neumann operator on balls. Let u solve the Dirichlet eigenvalue problem

$$-\Delta u = \lambda u \qquad \text{on } B,$$
$$u = g \qquad \text{on } \partial B,$$

for given $g \in L^2(\partial B)$. Then we can write $u \in L^2(B)$ and $g \in L^2(\partial B)$ in their unique series representations

$$u(r,\omega) = \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} \sum_{j=0}^{M_l^a} u_{l,j}(r) Y_{l,j}(\omega), \qquad g(\omega) = \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} \sum_{j=0}^{M_l^a} g_{l,j} Y_{l,j}(\omega)$$
(9.16)

depending on the radius $0 \leq r \leq 1$, the angles $\omega \in \mathbb{S}^{d-1}$, and the spherical harmonics $Y_{l,j} \in \mathcal{H}_l^{\mathbb{C}}(\mathbb{S}^{d-1})$. Let Δ_{ω} be the Laplace-Beltrami operator on $\mathbb{S}^{d-1} \subset \mathbb{R}^d$. If we rewrite the Laplace operator in polar coordinates and take the boundary conditions $u_{l,j}(1) = g_{l,j}$ and $u_{l,j}(0) = \delta_{0l}u_{0,j}$ for $j = 0, \ldots, M_l^d$ and some bounded sequence $(u_{0,j})_{j\geq 0}$ into account, the corresponding Bessel differential equation is solved by

$$u_{l,j}(r) = \frac{g_{l,j}}{J_{\frac{d}{2}+l-1}(\lambda)} r^{1-\frac{l}{2}} J_{\frac{d}{2}+l-1}(\lambda r).$$
(9.17)

Using the identity

$$J'_{m}(\sqrt{\lambda}) = \frac{m}{\lambda} J_{m}(\sqrt{\lambda}) - J_{m+1}(\sqrt{\lambda})$$
(9.18)

for all $m \in \mathbb{C}$, see [66, Chap. XVII, 17.21 (B)], by taking the normal derivative ∂_r of (9.17) we obtain that for any given $l \in \mathbb{N}_0$ the Dirichlet-to-Neumann operator maps the Dirichlet data $g_{l,j}$ onto

$$\sqrt{\lambda} \frac{J_{\frac{d}{2}+l}(\sqrt{\lambda})}{J_{\frac{d}{2}+l-1}(\sqrt{\lambda})} - l \tag{9.19}$$

and we define $M^{(l)}(\lambda)$ by (9.19). This part $M^{(l)}(\lambda)$ of the Dirichlet-to-Neumann operator on ∂B in the subspace $\mathcal{H}_l^{\mathbb{C}}$, identified in the canonical way with $\mathbb{C}^{M_l^d}$ via the eigenfunctions of $\Delta_{\omega}|_{\mathcal{H}_l^{\mathbb{C}}}$, is representable by a $M_l^d \times M_l^d$ diagonal matrix each of whose diagonal entries is equal to (9.19). The Dirichlet-to-Neumann operator $M(\lambda)$ is then obtained by summing over all subspaces $\mathcal{H}_l^{\mathbb{C}}$, that is, it may be represented as a diagonal matrix. In particular, for each l, there are exactly M_l^d eigenvalues α of the Dirichlet-to-Neumann operator $M(\lambda)$ equal to $M^{(l)}(\lambda)$, and for our purposes it suffices to consider the $M^{(l)}(\lambda)$ individually.

Remark 9.7. Since each $M^{(l)}(\lambda)$ is diagonal and the Jordan chains of the Robin Laplacian and the corresponding Dirichlet-to-Neumann operator are of the same length, see Remark 7.7, root vectors and eigenfunctions coincide and the eigennilpotents are always zero.

Observe that the zeros of the denominator in (9.19) are simple and so are the poles of the whole operator. The numerator does not cancel any of the poles, which follows from (9.18).

If we assume that $J_m(\sqrt{\lambda_0}) = 0 = J_{m+1}(\sqrt{\lambda_0})$ for some $m \in \mathbb{C}$ and some $\lambda_0 \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \{0\}$ (we only need $m \in \frac{1}{2}\mathbb{N}_0$), then this implies $J'_m(\sqrt{\lambda_0}) = 0$ and J_m has a zero of order 2, a contradiction.

It follows that $M^{(l)}$ is a meromorphic function having only simple, real poles and an essential singularity in $\pm \infty$. We have that

$$M^{(l)}(\lambda)g = \alpha g \qquad \Rightarrow \qquad |\alpha| = \left|\sqrt{\lambda} \frac{J_{\frac{d}{2}+l}(\sqrt{\lambda})}{J_{\frac{d}{2}+l-1}(\sqrt{\lambda})} - l\right| < \infty$$

implies that for $|\alpha| \to \infty$ the right-hand side is forced to diverge as well. Using (9.19), we are led via an explicit formula to the same dichotomy we saw in the general case in Theorem 1.6. Namely, there are two possibilities: either λ converges to the Dirichlet spectrum or diverges absolutely. In the latter case, as with the interval, we may further distinguish between eigenvalues λ diverging away from the positive real axis or in the vicinity of it. This leads to the following three cases.

- (1) $\sqrt{\lambda}$ approaches a pole of $M^{(l)}(\lambda)$, i.e. a zero of $J_{\frac{d}{2}+l-1}$, meaning the eigenvalue λ converges to some element of the Dirichlet spectrum;
- (2) $\lambda \to \infty$ in a sector of the form $\mathbb{C} \setminus T_{2\theta}^+$ for some small $\theta > 0$ (see Definition 2.2, that is, Assumption 2.3 holds. In this case, $\sqrt{\lambda}$ remains in S_{θ}^{\pm} and the quotient of the Bessel functions in the expression for $M^{(l)}$ remains bounded, see (9.23));

(3) the more complicated case of divergence, where $\lambda \to \infty$ in a sector $T_{2\theta}^+$.

We analyse the three cases separately.

9.3.3. The convergent eigenvalues. We start with the convergent eigenvalues; we are interested in establishing the rate of convergence. As we intimated for the interval, we may consider the residues of the Dirichlet-to-Neumann operator, which also in the case of balls can be reduced to a scalar problem. For $m \in \mathbb{R}$ and $p \in \mathbb{N}_0$, we denote the *p*th zero of the Bessel function J_m of order *m* by $j_{m,p} \in \mathbb{R}$.

Theorem 9.8. Fix $l, p \in \mathbb{N}_0$. The eigenvalues $\lambda = \lambda(\alpha)$ converging to the Dirichlet spectrum satisfy

$$\lambda(\alpha) = j_{\frac{d}{2}-l+1,p}^2 - \frac{2j_{\frac{d}{2}-l+1,p}^2}{\alpha} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{\alpha^2}\right)$$
(9.20)

as $|\alpha| \to \infty$.

Proof. The statement is proved by a simple calculation. Indeed, setting $m_l := \frac{d}{2} - l + 1$ and using (9.18), one may show that

$$\operatorname{Res}_{j_{m_{l},p}}\left(M^{(l)}\right) = \lim_{\sqrt{\lambda} \to j_{m_{l},p}} \left(\sqrt{\lambda} - j_{m_{l},p}\right) \left(\sqrt{\lambda} \frac{J_{m_{l}+1}(\sqrt{\lambda})}{J_{m_{l}}(\sqrt{\lambda})} - l\right)$$
$$= j_{m_{l},p} J_{m_{l}+1}(j_{m_{l},p}) \lim_{\sqrt{\lambda} \to j_{m_{l},p}} \left(\frac{J_{m_{l}}(\sqrt{\lambda}) - J_{m_{l}}(j_{m_{l},p})}{\sqrt{\lambda} - j_{m_{l},p}}\right)^{-1}$$
$$= j_{m_{l},p} J_{m_{l}+1}(j_{m_{l},p}) \left(J'_{m_{l}}(j_{m_{l},p})\right)^{-1}$$
$$= j_{m_{l},p} J_{m_{l}+1}(j_{m_{l},p}) \left(\frac{m_{l}}{j_{m_{l},p}} J_{m_{l}}(j_{m_{l},p}) - J_{m_{l}+1}(j_{m_{l},p})\right)^{-1}$$
$$= -j_{m_{l},p}$$

for the pth pole. From

$$(\sqrt{\lambda} - j_{m_l,p})\alpha = (\sqrt{\lambda} - j_{m_l,p})M^{(l)}(\lambda) = \operatorname{Res}_{j_{m_l,p}}\left(M^{(l)}\right) + \mathcal{O}(\sqrt{\lambda} - j_{m_l,p})$$
$$= -j_{m_l,p} + \mathcal{O}(\sqrt{\lambda} - j_{m_l,p})$$

as $\sqrt{\lambda} \to j_{m_l,p}$, it follows that

$$\sqrt{\lambda(\alpha)} = j_{m_l,p} - \frac{j_{m_l,p}}{\alpha} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{\alpha^2}\right)$$

and hence for the eigenvalue λ

$$\lambda(\alpha) = j_{m_l,p}^2 - 2\frac{j_{m_l,p}^2}{\alpha} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{\alpha^2}\right).$$

9.3.4. Divergence away from the positive real axis. We next study those divergent eigenvalues λ which remain away from the positive real axis, that is, we now take Assumption 2.3. (Here, unlike for the interval, the assumption of divergence in a sector, that is, that Im $\sqrt{\lambda}$ grows sufficiently rapidly compared with Re $\sqrt{\lambda}$, will turn out to be important.) We first need an asymptotic expansion of $M^{(l)}$ for large λ , which in turn requires knowledge of the asymptotics of the Bessel functions appearing in (9.19). To this end, let $H_m^{(1)}, H_m^{(2)}$ be the Hankel functions of the first and second kind, that is,

$$2J_m(\sqrt{\lambda}) = H_m^{(1)}(\sqrt{\lambda}) + H_m^{(2)}(\sqrt{\lambda}),$$

and set

$$\begin{split} P(m,\sqrt{\lambda}) &= \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} (-1)^l \frac{\Gamma(m+2l+1/2)}{(2l)!\Gamma(m-2l+1/2)(2\sqrt{\lambda})^{2l}} \\ &= 1 - \frac{(4m^2-1)(4m^2-9)}{2!(8\sqrt{\lambda})^2} \\ &+ \frac{(4m^2-1)(4m^2-9)(4m^2-25)(4m^2-49)}{4!(8\sqrt{\lambda})^4} - \dots, \end{split}$$
$$Q(m,\sqrt{\lambda}) &= \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} (-1)^l \frac{\Gamma(m+(2l+1)+1/2)}{(2l+1)!\Gamma(m-(2l+1)+1/2)(2\sqrt{\lambda})^{2l+1}} \\ &= \frac{4m^2-1}{8\sqrt{\lambda}} - \frac{(4m^2-1)(4m^2-9)(4m^2-25)}{3!(8\sqrt{\lambda})^3} + \dots. \end{split}$$

It is known that (see [1, 9.2, p. 364])

$$H_m^{(1)}(\sqrt{\lambda}) = \sqrt{\frac{2}{\pi\sqrt{\lambda}}} \left(P(m,\sqrt{\lambda}) + iQ(m,\sqrt{\lambda}) \right) e^{i\sqrt{\lambda} - \frac{i\pi}{4}(2m+1)} \qquad (-\pi < \arg\sqrt{\lambda} < 2\pi),$$

$$H_m^{(2)}(\sqrt{\lambda}) = \sqrt{\frac{2}{\pi\sqrt{\lambda}}} \left(P(m,\sqrt{\lambda}) - iQ(m,\sqrt{\lambda}) \right) e^{-i\sqrt{\lambda} + \frac{i\pi}{4}(2m+1)} \qquad (-2\pi < \arg\sqrt{\lambda} < \pi).$$
(9.21)

Let $Q_l(m, \sqrt{\lambda}), P_l(m, \sqrt{\lambda})$ be the sums up to the *l*th summand. To obtain the order $1/\sqrt{\lambda}$, we only have to consider the first terms in the expansions of *P* and *Q* to obtain

$$J_{m}(\sqrt{\lambda}) = \frac{1}{2} \left(H_{m}^{(1)}(\sqrt{\lambda}) + H_{m}^{(2)}(\sqrt{\lambda}) \right)$$

$$\sim \frac{1}{2} \sqrt{\frac{2}{\pi\sqrt{\lambda}}} \left[\left(P_{0}(m,\sqrt{\lambda}) + iQ_{0}(m,\sqrt{\lambda}) \right) e^{i\sqrt{\lambda} - \frac{i\pi}{4}(2m+1)} + \left(P_{0}(m,\sqrt{\lambda}) - iQ_{0}(m,\sqrt{\lambda}) \right) e^{-i\sqrt{\lambda} + \frac{i\pi}{4}(2m+1)} \right]$$

$$= \sqrt{\frac{1}{2\pi\sqrt{\lambda}}} \left[\left(1 + i\frac{4m^{2} - 1}{8\sqrt{\lambda}} \right) e^{i\sqrt{\lambda} - \frac{i\pi}{4}(2m+1)} + \left(1 - i\frac{4m^{2} - 1}{8\sqrt{\lambda}} \right) e^{-i\sqrt{\lambda} + \frac{i\pi}{4}(2m+1)} \right].$$

$$(9.22)$$

$$(9.23)$$

The non-polynomial terms $e^{i\sqrt{\lambda}}$ and $e^{-i\sqrt{\lambda}}$ of $H_m^{(1)}(\sqrt{\lambda})$ and $H_m^{(2)}(\sqrt{\lambda})$ yield exponential decrease and increase in S_{θ}^+ and S_{θ}^- , respectively. In a neighbourhood of the real axis, however, the remainder terms of the increasing expansion dominate the leading terms of the decreasing expansion on the other side of the real axis. This is why we want to add up both terms to obtain [1, 9.2.1, p. 364], i.e.

$$J_m(\sqrt{\lambda}) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi\sqrt{\lambda}}} \left(2\cos\left(\sqrt{\lambda} - \frac{\mathrm{i}\pi}{4}[2m+1]\right) + \mathrm{e}^{|\mathrm{Im}\sqrt{\lambda}|}\mathcal{O}\left(|\sqrt{\lambda}|^{-1}\right) \right)$$
(9.24)

as $\sqrt{\lambda} \to \infty$ outside T_{θ}^- (in particular in T_{θ}^+). This expansion outside T_{θ}^+ (in particular in T_{θ}^-) is obtained by point reflection of $J_m(\sqrt{\lambda})$ in zero.

Considering the two cases where $\sqrt{\lambda} \to \infty$ in S_{θ}^{-} and S_{θ}^{+} , separately, we arrive at

$$J_m(\sqrt{\lambda}) = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi\sqrt{\lambda}}} \left(1 - i\frac{4m^2 - 1}{8\sqrt{\lambda}}\right) e^{-i\sqrt{\lambda}} e^{\frac{i\pi}{4}(1+2m)} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{\lambda}\right) \\ \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi\sqrt{\lambda}}} \left(1 + i\frac{4m^2 - 1}{8\sqrt{\lambda}}\right) e^{+i\sqrt{\lambda}} e^{-\frac{i\pi}{4}(1+2m)} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{\lambda}\right) \end{cases}$$
(9.25)

as $\sqrt{\lambda} \to \infty$ in S_{θ}^{-} and S_{θ}^{+} , respectively. Using (9.25) and recalling the relation $m = \frac{d}{2} + l - 1$, we may obtain after an elementary calculation that

$$\frac{J_{m+1}(\sqrt{\lambda})}{J_m(\sqrt{\lambda})} = \pm i + \frac{d-1}{2\sqrt{\lambda}} + \frac{l}{\sqrt{\lambda}} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{\lambda}\right)$$
(9.26)

in S^{\pm}_{θ} . Recalling (9.19), this means that for each $l \in \mathbb{N}_0$ we obtain an $\alpha = \alpha(\lambda)$ with the behaviour

$$\alpha = M^{(l)}(\sqrt{\lambda}) = \mp i\sqrt{\lambda} + \frac{d-1}{2} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{\lambda}}\right)$$
(9.27)

as $\sqrt{\lambda} \to \infty$ in $S^\pm_\theta,$ respectively. This leads to the following theorem.

Theorem 9.9. Let $\Omega = B_1(0) \subseteq \mathbb{R}^d$, $d \geq 2$, and let $\alpha \to \infty$ in a sector of the form T_{φ}^- for any $0 < \varphi < \pi/2$. Then there are infinitely many Robin eigenvalues $\lambda(\alpha)$ such that

$$\lambda(\alpha) = -\alpha^2 + \alpha(d-1) + \mathcal{O}(1) \tag{9.28}$$

as $\alpha \to \infty$ in T_{φ}^{-} .

Proof. We invert (9.27) to obtain (9.28) using Rouché's theorem, as explained in Section 9.1. First, let $\tau = (d-1)/2$ and let $\alpha \in \mathbb{C}$ be large in some non-trivial sector T_{φ}^{-} for any large $0 < \varphi < \pi/2$. Following the approach of the aforementioned section 9.1 and restricting ourselved to the *positive* case of $\operatorname{Im} \sqrt{\lambda} \to +\infty$, we have

$$f_{\alpha}(z) := \frac{d-1}{2} + iz - \alpha$$
 and $g(\sqrt{\lambda}) = \mathcal{O}\left(h(\sqrt{\lambda})\right)$ (9.29)

for the error term $h(\sqrt{\lambda}) = 1/\sqrt{\lambda} \to 0$ as $\operatorname{Im} \sqrt{\lambda} \to +\infty$. Then the unique zero z_{α} of f_{α} reads $z_{\alpha} = i\left(\frac{d-1}{2} - \alpha\right)$. Let $r_{\alpha} > 0$ be the radius of the Ball $B^{\alpha} = B_{r_{\alpha}}(z_{\alpha})$. Then for $z \in B^{\alpha}$ and sufficiently large α we can estimate

$$h(z)| \le \frac{c}{\left|z_{\alpha} + e^{i\varphi}\frac{p}{|\alpha|}\right|} = \frac{c}{\left|i\frac{d-1}{2} - i\alpha + e^{i\varphi}\frac{p}{|\alpha|}\right|} < \frac{c'}{|\alpha|}$$

for some constants c, c' > 0. We make the Ansatz $|f_{\alpha}(z)| = r_{\alpha} = C/|\alpha|$ for a suitable constant C > 0. Consequently, since (9.6) holds for some $\delta > 0$ for sufficiently large α , a similar calculation as in the proof of Theorem 2.4 yields $|g(z)| < |f_{\alpha}(z)|$ on $\partial B_{\frac{C}{|\alpha|}}(z_{\alpha})$. We end up with the existence of exactly one eigenvalue λ which behaves like $\sqrt{\lambda(\alpha)} = -i\alpha + \frac{d-1}{2} + \mathcal{O}(1/|\alpha|)$, that is, together with the case $\operatorname{Im} \sqrt{\lambda} \to -\infty$, there are exactly two eigenvalues which behave like

$$\lambda(\alpha) = -\alpha^2 + (d-1)\alpha + \mathcal{O}(1)$$

as $\operatorname{Re} \alpha \to -\infty$.

Remark 9.10. For any divergent eigenvalue curve $\lambda(\alpha)$ on the ball, there is a complete asymptotic expansion in powers of α , and the above method might be used to obtain arbitrarily many terms of it. Indeed, the asymptotics of the Bessel functions (or more precisely the Hankel functions) provides us with everything needed to determine the asymptotics of the Dirichlet-to-Neumann operators $M^{(l)}(\lambda)$, and thus of α as Im $\sqrt{\lambda} \to \pm \infty$: taking more terms in (9.22) results in more terms in (9.25) and so too in (9.27), which can then again be inverted.

9.3.5. Divergence near the positive real axis. We reconsider the asymptotics in (9.24) and observe the oscillating nature of the cosine part as $\operatorname{Re}\sqrt{\lambda}$ increases – the summand $\frac{\mathrm{i}\pi}{4}[2m+1]$ appearing in the argument is simply a phase shift. Suppose that $\operatorname{Im}\sqrt{\lambda}$ remains bounded as $\sqrt{\lambda} \to \infty$ in T_{θ}^+ , i.e. we explicitly do not apply Assumption 2.3. Then it appears that $J_m(\sqrt{\lambda})$ is dominated by $\lambda^{1/4} \cos(\sqrt{\lambda})$. However, the cosine has zeros on the real axis and thus, in a neighbourhood of said zeros, we need to consider further terms in the asymptotic expansion (9.26). This then leads to more complicated behaviour which might be adressed in a later work.

References

- Milton Abramowitz and Irene A. Stegun, Handbook of mathematical functions with formulas, graphs, and mathematical tables, National Bureau of Standards Applied Mathematics Series, vol. 55, U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, D.C., 1964. MR 0167642
- [2] G. A. Afrouzi and K. J. Brown, On principal eigenvalues for boundary value problems with indefinite weight and Robin boundary conditions, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 127 (1999), no. 1, 125–130. MR 1469392
- M. S. Agranovich, On series in root vectors of operators defined by forms with a selfadjoint principal part, Funktsional. Anal. i Prilozhen. 28 (1994), no. 3, 1–21, 95. MR 1308388
- [4] H.-D. Alber and A. G. Ramm, Asymptotics of the solution to Robin problem, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 349 (2009), no. 1, 156–164. MR 2455738
- [5] Pedro R. S. Antunes, Pedro Freitas, and David Krejčiřík, Bounds and extremal domains for Robin eigenvalues with negative boundary parameter, Adv. Calc. Var. 10 (2017), no. 4, 357–379. MR 3707083

- [6] W. Arendt and A. F. M. ter Elst, The Dirichlet-to-Neumann operator on rough domains, J. Differential Equations 251 (2011), no. 8, 2100–2124. MR 2823661
- [7] _____, Sectorial forms and degenerate differential operators, J. Operator Theory 67 (2012), no. 1, 33–72. MR 2881534
- [8] Wolfgang Arendt, Charles J. K. Batty, Matthias Hieber, and Frank Neubrander, Vector-valued Laplace transforms and Cauchy problems, second ed., Monographs in Mathematics, vol. 96, Birkhäuser/Springer Basel AG, Basel, 2011. MR 2798103
- [9] Wolfgang Arendt and Rafe Mazzeo, Friedlander's eigenvalue inequalities and the Dirichlet-to-Neumann semigroup, Commun. Pure Appl. Anal. 11 (2012), no. 6, 2201–2212. MR 2912743
- [10] Alexander A. Balinsky, W. Desmond Evans, and Roger T. Lewis, The analysis and geometry of Hardy's inequality, Universitext, Springer, Cham, 2015. MR 3408787
- [11] J. Behrndt and A. F. M. ter Elst, Dirichlet-to-Neumann maps on bounded Lipschitz domains, J. Differential Equations 259 (2015), no. 11, 5903–5926. MR 3397313
- [12] _____, Jordan chains of elliptic partial differential operators and Dirichlet-to-Neumann maps, J. Spectr. Theory (2021), available online.
- [13] Jussi Behrndt and Jonathan Rohleder, An inverse problem of Calderón type with partial data, Comm. Partial Differential Equations 37 (2012), no. 6, 1141–1159. MR 2924468
- [14] Denis Borisov and David Krejčiřík, *PT-symmetric waveguides*, Integral Equations Operator Theory 62 (2008), no. 4, 489–515. MR 2470121
- [15] _____, The effective Hamiltonian for thin layers with non-Hermitian Robin-type boundary conditions, Asymptot. Anal. 76 (2012), no. 1, 49–59. MR 2918878
- [16] Malcolm Brown, Marco Marletta, Serguei Naboko, and Ian Wood, Boundary triplets and M-functions for nonselfadjoint operators, with applications to elliptic PDEs and block operator matrices, J. Lond. Math. Soc. (2) 77 (2008), no. 3, 700–718. MR 2418300
- [17] Vincent Bruneau and Nicolas Popoff, On the negative spectrum of the Robin Laplacian in corner domains, Anal. PDE 9 (2016), no. 5, 1259–1283. MR 3531372
- [18] Dorin Bucur, Pedro Freitas, and James Kennedy, The Robin problem, Shape optimization and spectral theory, De Gruyter Open, Warsaw, 2017, pp. 78–119. MR 3681148
- [19] Fioralba Cakoni, Nicolas Chaulet, and Houssem Haddar, On the asymptotics of a Robin eigenvalue problem, C. R. Math. Acad. Sci. Paris 351 (2013), no. 13-14, 517–521. MR 3095098
- [20] Fioralba Cakoni, David Colton, and Peter Monk, The direct and inverse scattering problems for partially coated obstacles, Inverse Problems 17 (2001), no. 6, 1997–2015. MR 1872933
- [21] S. N. Chandler-Wilde, The impedance boundary value problem for the Helmholtz equation in a half-plane, Math. Methods Appl. Sci. 20 (1997), no. 10, 813–840. MR 1459395
- [22] L. Cossetti and D. Krejčiřík, Absence of eigenvalues of non-self-adjoint Robin Laplacians on the half-space, Proc. Lond. Math. Soc. (3) 121 (2020), no. 3, 584–616. MR 4100118
- [23] Daniel Daners, Non-positivity of the semigroup generated by the Dirichlet-to-Neumann operator, Positivity 18 (2014), no. 2, 235-256. MR 3215178
- [24] Daniel Daners and James B. Kennedy, On the asymptotic behaviour of the eigenvalues of a Robin problem, Differential Integral Equations 23 (2010), no. 7-8, 659–669. MR 2654263
- [25] Charles F. Dunkl and Yuan Xu, Orthogonal polynomials of several variables, Encyclopedia of Mathematics and its Applications, vol. 81, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2001. MR 1827871
- [26] Lawrence C. Evans and Ronald F. Gariepy, Measure theory and fine properties of functions, Studies in Advanced Mathematics, CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, 1992. MR 1158660
- [27] Pavel Exner, Alexander Minakov, and Leonid Parnovski, Asymptotic eigenvalue estimates for a Robin problem with a large parameter, Port. Math. 71 (2014), no. 2, 141–156. MR 3229039
- [28] Herbert Federer, Curvature measures, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 93 (1959), 418–491. MR 0110078
- [29] Alexey Filinovskiy, On the eigenvalues of a Robin problem with a large parameter, Math. Bohem. 139 (2014), no. 2, 341–352. MR 3238844
- [30] Alexey V. Filinovskiy, On the asymptotic behavior of eigenvalues and eigenfunctions of the Robin problem with large parameter, Math. Model. Anal. 22 (2017), no. 1, 37–51. MR 3596060
- [31] Pedro Freitas and David Krejcirik, The first Robin eigenvalue with negative boundary parameter, Adv. Math. 280 (2015), 322–339. MR 3350222
- [32] Fritz Gesztesy and Marius Mitrea, Generalized Robin boundary conditions, Robin-to-Dirichlet maps, and Krein-type resolvent formulas for Schrödinger operators on bounded Lipschitz domains, Perspectives in partial differential equations, harmonic analysis and applications, Proc. Sympos. Pure Math., vol. 79, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2008, pp. 105–173. MR 2500491
- [33] David Gilbarg and Neil S. Trudinger, Elliptic partial differential equations of second order, Springer-Verlag, Berlin-New York, 1977, Grundlehren der Mathematischen Wissenschaften, Vol. 224. MR 0473443
- [34] Tiziana Giorgi and Robert Smits, Eigenvalue estimates and critical temperature in zero fields for enhanced surface superconductivity, Z. Angew. Math. Phys. 58 (2007), no. 2, 224–245. MR 2305713
- [35] _____, Bounds and monotonicity for the generalized Robin problem, Z. Angew. Math. Phys. 59 (2008), no. 4, 600–618. MR 2417381
- [36] Bernard Helffer and Ayman Kachmar, Eigenvalues for the Robin Laplacian in domains with variable curvature, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 369 (2017), no. 5, 3253–3287. MR 3605971
- [37] Amru Hussein, David Krejčiřík, and Petr Siegl, Non-self-adjoint graphs, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 367 (2015), no. 4, 2921–2957. MR 3301887
- [38] Vasile Ion Istrăţescu, Inner product structures, Mathematics and its Applications, vol. 25, D. Reidel Publishing Co., Dordrecht, 1987, Theory and applications. MR 903846

- [39] V. Ja. Ivriĭ, The second term of the spectral asymptotics for a Laplace-Beltrami operator on manifolds with boundary, Funktsional. Anal. i Prilozhen. 14 (1980), no. 2, 25–34. MR 575202
- [40] Tosio Kato, Perturbation theory for linear operators, second ed., Springer-Verlag, Berlin-New York, 1976, Grundlehren der Mathematischen Wissenschaften, Band 132. MR 0407617
- [41] Magda Khalile, Spectral asymptotics for Robin Laplacians on polygonal domains, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 461 (2018), no. 2, 1498–1543. MR 3765502
- [42] Magda Khalile, Thomas Ourmières-Bonafos, and Konstantin Pankrashkin, Effective operators for Robin eigenvalues in domains with corners, Ann. Inst. Fourier (Grenoble) 70 (2020), no. 5, 2215–2301. MR 4245611
- [43] Magda Khalile and Konstantin Pankrashkin, Eigenvalues of Robin Laplacians in infinite sectors, Math. Nachr. 291 (2018), no. 5-6, 928–965. MR 3795565
- [44] Hynek Kovařík and Konstantin Pankrashkin, On the p-Laplacian with Robin boundary conditions and boundary trace theorems, Calc. Var. Partial Differential Equations 56 (2017), no. 2, Art. 49, 29. MR 3626320
- [45] D. Krejčiřík, H. Bíla, and M. Znojil, Closed formula for the metric in the Hilbert space of a *PT*-symmetric model, J. Phys. A **39** (2006), no. 32, 10143–10153. MR 2252706
- [46] D. Krejčiřík, N. Raymond, J. Royer, and P. Siegl, Reduction of dimension as a consequence of norm-resolvent convergence and applications, Mathematika 64 (2018), no. 2, 406–429. MR 3798605
- [47] A. A. Lacey, J. R. Ockendon, and J. Sabina, Multidimensional reaction diffusion equations with nonlinear boundary conditions, SIAM J. Appl. Math. 58 (1998), no. 5, 1622–1647. MR 1637882
- [48] E. Lakshtanov and B. Vainberg, Resonance regimes of scattering by small bodies with impedance boundary conditions, J. Phys. A 43 (2010), no. 41, 415205, 16. MR 2726693
- [49] S. Langdon and S. N. Chandler-Wilde, A wavenumber independent boundary element method for an acoustic scattering problem, SIAM J. Numer. Anal. 43 (2006), no. 6, 2450–2477. MR 2206443
- [50] Michael Levitin and Leonid Parnovski, On the principal eigenvalue of a Robin problem with a large parameter, Math. Nachr. 281 (2008), no. 2, 272–281. MR 2387365
- [51] V. B. Lidskiĭ, Summability of series in terms of the principal vectors of non-selfadjoint operators, Trudy Moskov. Mat. Obšč. 11 (1962), 3–35. MR 0144213
- [52] Yuan Lou and Meijun Zhu, A singularly perturbed linear eigenvalue problem in C¹ domains, Pacific J. Math. 214 (2004), no. 2, 323–334. MR 2042936
- [53] M. Marletta, Eigenvalue problems on exterior domains and Dirichlet to Neumann maps, J. Comput. Appl. Math. 171 (2004), no. 1-2, 367–391. MR 2077213
- [54] Brian J. McCartin, Laplacian eigenstructure of the equilateral triangle, Hikari Ltd., Ruse, 2011. MR 2918422
- [55] William McLean, Strongly elliptic systems and boundary integral equations, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2000. MR 1742312
- [56] Jindřich Nečas, Les méthodes directes en théorie des équations elliptiques, Masson et Cie, Paris, 1967.
- [57] Radek Novák, Bound states in waveguides with complex Robin boundary conditions, Asymptot. Anal. 96 (2016), no. 3-4, 251–281. MR 3466467
- [58] Oleg Olendski, Resonant alteration of propagation in guiding structures with complex Robin parameter and its magnetic-field-induced restoration, Ann. Physics 326 (2011), 1479–1500.
- [59] _____, Guiding structures with multiply connected cross sections: Evolution of propagation in external fields at complex R obin parameters, Ann. Physics **327** (2012), 1365–1390.
- [60] Lassi Päivärinta and Miren Zubeldia, The inverse Robin boundary value problem in a half-space, Appl. Anal. 94 (2015), no. 12, 2565–2587. MR 3401083
- [61] Konstantin Pankrashkin and Nicolas Popoff, Mean curvature bounds and eigenvalues of Robin Laplacians, Calc. Var. Partial Differential Equations 54 (2015), no. 2, 1947–1961. MR 3396438
- [62] Jonathan Rohleder, Titchmarsh-weyl theory and inverse problems for elliptic differential operators, 1 ed., Monographic Series TU Graz: Computation in Engineering and Science, vol. 19, Verlag der Technischen Universität Graz, 2013.
- [63] Walter Rudin, Real and complex analysis, third ed., McGraw-Hill Book Co., New York, 1987. MR 924157
- [64] A. V. Shanin, Excitation of a wave field in a triangular domain with impedance boundary conditions, Zap. Nauchn. Sem. S.-Peterburg. Otdel. Mat. Inst. Steklov. (POMI) 250 (1998), no. Mat. Vopr. Teor. Rasprostr. Voln. 27, 300–318, 340. MR 1701873
- [65] D. G. Vasil'ev and Yu. G. Safarov, The asymptotic distribution of eigenvalues of differential operators, Spectral theory of operators (Novgorod, 1989), Amer. Math. Soc. Transl. Ser. 2, vol. 150, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1992, pp. 55–110. MR 1157649
- [66] E. T. Whittaker and G. N. Watson, A course of modern analysis, Cambridge Mathematical Library, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1996, Reprint of the fourth (1927) edition. MR 1424469
- [67] Sasun Yakubov and Yakov Yakubov, Differential-operator equations, Chapman & Hall/CRC Monographs and Surveys in Pure and Applied Mathematics, vol. 103, Chapman & Hall/CRC, Boca Raton, FL, 2000, Ordinary and partial differential equations. MR 1739280

SABINE BÖGLI, DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICAL SCIENCES, DURHAM UNIVERSITY, UPPER MOUNTJOY CAMPUS, STOCK-TON ROAD, DURHAM DH1 3LE, UNITED KINGDOM

Email address: sabine.boegli@durham.ac.uk

JAMES B. KENNEDY, GRUPO DE FÍSICA MATEMÁTICA, FACULDADE DE CIÊNCIAS, UNIVERSIDADE DE LISBOA, CAMPO GRANDE, EDIFÍCIO C6, P-1749-016 LISBOA, PORTUGAL

Email address: jbkennedy@fc.ul.pt

38

Robin Lang, Institut für Analysis, Dynamik und Modellierung, Universität Stuttgart, Pfaffenwaldring 57, D-70569 Stuttgart, Germany

 $Email \ address: \ {\tt robin.lang@mathematik.uni-stuttgart.de}$